College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
Meeting of the Council
Agenda
Date:

November 24, 2020 – 9:00 AM – 1:00 PM

Location:

Videoconference – MS Teams

Item Item
No.
1. Call to Order

Item Lead
Westfall-Connor

Approx.
Time
10 min

2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest

Westfall-Connor

3. Approval of the Agenda of November 24, 2020

Westfall-Connor

4. Council Meeting Evaluation of September 21-22, 2020

Westfall-Connor

10 min

5. Consent Agenda
5.1 Minutes of September 21, 2020
5.2 Minutes of September 22, 2020
5.3 Actions Arising from the Minutes of
September 21 and 22, 2020
5.4 2020 – Q3 Registrar’s and Administration Report
5.5 2020 – Q3 Committee Reports

Westfall-Connor

10 min

Molnar/Wilcox

20 min

A consent agenda is a bundle of items that is voted on, without
discussion, as a package. It differentiates between routine
matters not needing explanation and more complex issues
needing examination. The Chair will ask if anyone wishes to
remove an item from the consent agenda. Any Council member
may request an item be removed so it can be discussed. To test
whether an item should be included in the consent agenda, ask:
• Is this item self-explanatory and uncontroversial? Or
does it contain an issue that warrants Council
discussion?
• Is this item for information only? Or is it needed for
another meeting agenda issue?

6. Quarterly Reporting
6.1 2020 – Q3 Year-to-Date Financial Report
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6.2
6.3

2020 – Q3 Workplan Report
2020 – Q3 Discipline Committee Report

Flitton
Hargreaves

10 min
10 min

Hargreaves
Westfall-Connor

30 min
30 min

White

30 min

Westfall-Connor

30 min

Westfall-Connor

2 min

Break – 15 min

7. Items for Decision
7.1 Adopting a Tariff Rate for Discipline Hearings
7.2 Proposed Amendments to the Governance
Handbook
7.3 Complementary Modalities and Modalities
Considered Outside Scope Policies
8. Items for Discussion
9. Items for Information
9.1 Council Conference Reports
9.2 Canadian Massage Therapy Council for
Accreditation (CMTCA) 2019 Annual Report and
Financial Statements
9.3 Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) Update
10. In Camera Session
Council will go in camera in accordance with the RHPA, Schedule 2,
Section 7(2)(b) to discuss financial or personal or other matters
that may be disclosed of such a nature that the harm created by
the disclosure would outweigh the desirability of adhering to the
principle that meetings be open to the public.

11. New Business
12. Adjournment
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AgendaItem4..0
ForDiscussion

Council
Meeting
Evaluation

September 21-22, 2020

The information package was
received with sufficient time to allow
me to prepare for the meeting

The materials were relevant to the
agenda.

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020

The materials were sufficient to assist
me in forming an opinion on decisions
before Council
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Agenda items were appropriate for
Council discussion and consistent with
Council roles and responsibilities.

Time was used effectively, and
discussions were focused

Great job staying on track and within our scope
Very much so
President does well with time management
A great job keeping things moving and focused even
though there are always a few times where the
discussion needs to be pulled back on track

Council avoided getting into
administrative/management details

Still a few times where member want to tell
the CEO how to do things
Happens sometimes but it doesn’t really
interrupt us, and the President gets us back
on track

A few tangential moments but nothing problematic

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020
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There was a positive climate
of trust and respect

I was encouraged to discuss and
share my opinion openly

I appreciate the CEO’s leadership style – a good
foundation of trust and respect between her and
Council

It can be hard in a virtual setting but perhaps a bit
more emphasis on encouraging all of us to
discuss and share?

Disagreements were handled
openly, honestly, and directly

No disagreements and different viewpoints are
handled with dignity

I always feel welcome to express my opinion

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020
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Where appropriate, next
steps and action items were
clearly identified

Members appeared prepared for
the meeting

More difficult to tell in a virtual setting but important
to note that not speaking up on an issue doesn’t
mean the member was not prepared

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020

I was satisfied with my opportunity to
participate in discussions and debate

Overall good for a virtual format
Appreciate that it’s a balancing act between those
who tend to speak up often, and other who take a
different approach
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I was satisfied with the manner in which
other members contributed to
discussions and debate

If one of us gets off track, the President does a great job to
refocus

The President was effective in allowing all
sides to be heard while bringing matters
to decision

Kim's diplomacy, patience and ability to keep us all on
track is remarkable.

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020
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Continuous Improvement
Council has three Continuous Improvement priorities for 2020:
• Policy Governance: strengthening our knowledge,
demonstrating our understanding, and supporting each
other to be effective
• Knowledge and Preparedness: developing the
knowledge we need to be effective governors, and filling
gaps in our knowledge outside of Council and Committee
meetings
• Efficient and effective use of our time: focusing on
discussion at the level of Policy Governance, not
revisiting discussions and decisions that have already
taken place, and proactively filling knowledge gaps in
advance of meetings

These priorities are coming to the fore at each meeting
I feel we are mindful of these priorities
Yes!
Yes, and our focus improves with each meeting

Are you seeing these Priorities in action? Are you finding
opportunities to think about these Priorities as you prepare for
and participate in Council and Committee activities?

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020

7

Anything else about
the meeting you
would like to
comment on or
share?

A productive and informative meeting. Great open and honest
discussions
Wonderful meeting. Great presentations and thank you for the
clarity
I look forward to an in-person meeting in the new year!!

We need to remember to keep discussions online. Not in the chat
function or texting
I appreciate the many steps taken by CMTO to set high
standards for the profession – points to a bright future

Council Meeting Evaluation: September 21-22, 2020
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Agenda Item 5.1
Consent Agenda

Council Meeting Minutes
Date:

September 21, 2020

Location:

Videoconference – Microsoft (MS) TEAMS

Present:

K. Westfall-Connor, RMT, President
L. White, Public Member, Vice President
S. Adderley, RMT
S. Biber, RMT
A. Cantalini, RMT
C. Gross, Public Member
L. Hargreaves, RMT
N. Jeftic, RMT
M. Kesler, Public Member
S. Mall, Public Member*
J. Mathers, Public Member
D. Mattina, Public Member
D. Oehring, RMT
L. Tucker, RMT
C. Watt, Public Member

Regrets:

I. Vining, RMT

Administration: C. Flitton, Registrar and CEO
E. Waters, Deputy Registrar*
A. Brennand, Director, Policy and Communications*
V. Browne, Director, Registration Services*
N. Garnette, Director, Professional Conduct*
V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice*
K. Molnar, Director, Corporate Services*
N. Wilcox, Manager, Finance *
L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant*
Recorder:

L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant

*attended a portion of the meeting only
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1. Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 9:00 AM.
2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
No conflicts of interest were declared.
3. Approval of the Agenda of September 21, 2020
Agenda Item 7.1 “2021 Budget Development Process” will be
deferred to the meeting on September 22, 2020.
2020 September 21 – MOTION 1: J. Mathers/D. Oehring
THAT the Agenda of September 21, 2020 be adopted
as amended.
CARRIED
4. Council Meeting Evaluations
4.1 Meeting Evaluation of May 11-12, 2020
K. Westfall-Connor, Chair, addressed the comment raised in
the May Meeting Evaluation related to speaking over others.
She acknowledged that Council are adapting well to the new
virtual platform and reminded members to use the “raise
hand” feature available with MS Teams.
While quiet agreement on matters is acceptable, K. WestfallConnor encouraged all members to contribute to Council
discussions if they had any thoughts or comments. S. Mall
suggested Council members elaborate on comments in
meeting evaluations to provide clarity and inform
opportunities for improvement.
4.2 Meeting Evaluation of July 27, 2020
K. Westfall-Connor addressed the comment raised in the July
Council Meeting Evaluation related to meeting preparation.
She reminded Council members that if they miss a meeting
they should connect with their mentors or herself prior to the
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next meeting for a briefing.
5. Consent Agenda
2020 September 21 - MOTION 2: S. Biber/C. Watt
THAT the consent agenda be approved as presented.
CARRIED
6. Quarterly Reporting
6.1 2020 – Q2 Year-to-Date Financial Report
K. Westfall-Connor, on behalf of both the Executive
Committee and Council, took a moment to thank staff for their
hard work, analysis and detailed presentations in relation to
the Q2 Financial Report. N. Wilcox, Manager, Finance, spoke
to those items that exceeded the established thresholds of
variances greater than $50,000 and 10% during his
presentation of the 2020 – Q2 Financial Report.
He advised Council that the unfavourable variances in the
Registration and Exam Fees revenue is primarily due to the
impact of COVID-19 on the 2020 initial registration rates and
that, although there are expenses related to examination
development, there will be no Objectively Structured Clinical
Evaluations (OSCE) scheduled for the remainder of 2020. He
emphasized that the overall forecasted deficit is an estimate
that includes significant assumptions regarding expected
complaints and discipline activity between now and December
31, 2020. Variance analysis are included in the report.
2020 September 21 – Motion 3: S. Mall/C. Gross
THAT Council approve the unaudited 2020 - Q2 YTD
Statement of Operations and Statement of Financial
Position.
CARRIED
7. Items for Discussion
7.1

2021 Budget Development Process
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This item was deferred to September 22, 2020.
8. In Camera Session
Everyone with the exception of C. Flitton and Council left the
meeting.
2020 September 21 – MOTION 4: S. Mall/L Hargreaves
THAT Council move to an in-camera session at 10:05 AM
in accordance with the RHPA, Schedule 2, Section 7(2)(b)
which permits exclusion of the public if financial or
personal or other matters may be disclosed of such a
nature that the harm created by the disclosure would
outweigh the desirability of adhering to the principle
that meetings be open to the public.
CARRIED
2020 September 21 – MOTION 5: C. Gross/L. Hargreaves
THAT Council move out of the in-camera session at
12:23 PM in accordance with the RHPA, Schedule 2,
Section 7(2)(b).
CARRIED
9. New Business
There was no new business.
10. Adjournment
2020 September 21 – MOTION 6: J. Mathers/S. Biber
THAT the September 21, 2020 Council meeting be
adjourned.
CARRIED
The meeting was adjourned at 12:24 PM.
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___________________
K. Westfall-Connor, RMT
President

________________________
C. Flitton
Registrar & CEO

Reviewed
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Agenda Item 5.2
Consent Agenda

Council Meeting Minutes
Date:

September 22, 2020

Location:

Videoconference – Microsoft (MS) TEAMS

Present:

K. Westfall-Connor, RMT, President
L. White, Public Member, Vice President
S. Adderley, RMT
S. Biber, RMT
A. Cantalini, RMT
C. Gross, Public Member
L. Hargreaves, RMT
N. Jeftic, RMT
M. Kesler, Public Member
S. Mall, Public Member*
J. Mathers, Public Member
D. Mattina, Public Member
D. Oehring, RMT
L. Tucker, RMT
I. Vining, RMT
C. Watt, Public Member

Administration: C. Flitton, Registrar and CEO
E. Waters, Deputy Registrar
A. Brennand, Director, Policy and Communications
V. Browne, Director, Registration Services
N. Garnette, Director, Professional Conduct
V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice
K. Molnar, Director, Corporate Services
N. Wilcox, Manager, Finance *
L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant
Guests:

D. Parker-Taillon, Consultant*
D. Burnett, Consultant*

Recorder:

L. Webber, Senior Executive Assistant

*attended a portion of the meeting only
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1. Call to Order
The meeting was called to order at 9:02 AM.
2. Declaration of Conflicts of Interest
J. Mathers and M. Kesler declared a conflict of interest with
Agenda Item 4.6 “Ratification of Appointments of Council
Members to Committees”.
3. Approval of the Agenda of September 22, 2020
Agenda Item 6.1 “2021 Budget Development Process” will be
added to the agenda under Items for Discussion and Item 7.5
“Impact of COVID-19 on Timelines Related to Legislative
Requirements” will be added to the agenda under Items for
Information.
2020 September 22 – MOTION 1: J. Mathers/L. White
THAT the Agenda of September 22, 2020 be adopted
as amended.
CARRIED
4. Items for Decision
4.1 Standards of Practice Revision Project
V. McCoy, Director, Professional Practice, gave an overview of
work completed to-date and introduced D. Parker-Taillon and
D. Burnett, Consultants for the Standards of Practice Revision
Project, who provided Council with a project update including
key activities, timelines and next steps.
Council was advised that the draft Standards of Practice will
be circulated to stakeholders for consultation. Subsequent to
the consultation, the Quality Assurance Committee will review
comments and feedback provided throughout the process and
finalize the new Standards of Practice for Council approval in
February 2021.
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2020 September 22 – MOTION 2: L. White/S. Biber
THAT Council approve the draft Standards of Practice
for consultation with the profession and other
stakeholders.
CARRIED
Action: Release the draft Standards of Practice for
consultation with the profession and stakeholders.

Staff

Action: Bring back final draft of the Standards of Practice for
approval in February

Staff

4.2 2021 Draft Workplan
C. Flitton, Registrar, presented the 2021 draft Workplan and
the Continuous Quality Improvement Initiatives.
She advised Council that with development of the 2021
budget, there may be some further changes that will be
presented at a future Council meeting once the budget is
approved for 2021.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 3: S. Biber/M. Kesler
THAT the 2021 Draft Workplan be approved in
principle as presented.
CARRIED
Action: Add the 2021 draft Workplan for approval to a future
Council meeting agenda.

Staff

4.3 Proposed Amendments to By-Law No. 7 – Fees for
Registration, Examinations and Other Activities of the College
K. Westfall-Connor, President, advised Council that since
CMTO will no longer be collecting examination fees, reference
to these fees in By-Law No. 7 should be removed.
In addition, she advised that as we are removing fees as
opposed to charging a fee, this amendment does not have to
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be circulated to registrants prior to approval by Council.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 4: S. Adderley/C. Watt
THAT the proposed changes to By-Law No. 7, effective
December 31, 2020, removing reference to
examination fees, be approved by Council.
CARRIED
4.4 2021 Examination Content Outlines
K. Westfall-Connor introduced A. Cantalini, Chair, Registration
Committee. A. Cantalini reported to Council that each year,
the content outlines for both examinations are reviewed to
ensure the content is standardized, fair, valid, reliable and
defensible. She advised that there were no changes to the
Multiple-Choice Question (MCQ) exam however the
distribution of content areas for the Objectively Structured
Clinical Evaluation (OSCE) exam has been updated due to
examination updates that removed reference to CMTO’s
Technique Standards thereby creating a more balanced
distribution across the content areas which will have a positive
impact on examination validity.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 5: S. Biber/L. Hargreaves
THAT Council approve the 2021 Certification
Examination content outlines effective January 1,
2021.
CARRIED
4.5 First Aid and CPR Requirements
L. White, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee, presented the
results of the review conducted into determining whether
mandating applicants and registrants to obtain and maintain
current First Aid and CPR Certification ensures client safety.
Presently, all applicants must provide proof of First Aid and
CPR Certification, however, registrants are not required to
Maintain certification.
He advised that based on the information gathered, it does
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not appear that clients are at greater risk because RMTs are
not required to maintain First Aid and CPR certification.
Therefore, the outcomes-based approach which has already
been adopted for the proposed Standards of Practice is an
appropriate solution.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 6: C. Gross/L. Hargreaves
THAT applicants continue to submit proof of First Aid
and CPR certification prior to obtaining a general
certificate of registration; and
THAT maintaining First Aid and CPR certification be
addressed in the Standard of Practice: Safety and Risk
Management.
CARRIED
This completes the First Aid and CPR workplan project.
4.6 Ratification of Appointments of Council Members to
Committees
K. Westfall-Connor advised Council that with Public Member,
D. Mattina’s term ending on July 10, 2020 and with vacancies
on both the Registration and Inquiries, Complaints and
Reports Committees, the Executive Committee appointed
M. Kesler to the Registration Committee and J. Mathers to the
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee, effective
July 2, 2020.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 7: S. Biber/L. White
THAT the decision of the Executive Committee to
appoint M. Kesler to the Registration Committee and J.
Mathers to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee effective July 2, 2020, be ratified by
Council.
CARRIED
M. Kesler and J. Mathers refrained from voting.
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4.7 Approval of 2021 Draft Council Meeting Dates
K. Westfall-Connor presented the 2021 Council meeting
Schedule for consideration by Council.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 8: S. Adderley/L. White
THAT Council approve the 2021 Council meeting
schedule:
Monday, February 8, 2021
Tuesday, February 9, 2021
Wednesday, February 10, 2021
Monday, May 10, 2021
Tuesday, May 11, 2021
Monday, June 14, 2021
Monday, September 27, 2021
Tuesday, September 28, 2021
Monday, November 29, 2021
Tuesday, November 30, 2021

Council Retreat
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
Professional
Development Day
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
Council Meeting
CARRIED

4.8 Returning to the Office
C. Flitton advised Council that since Council’s last discussion in
July, COVID-19 infections have started to increase in Ontario
again, with the return to school and to an indoor
environment.
To prioritize keeping staff and Council safe, it was agreed that
Management and Council will revisit “Returning to the Office”
at the February 2021 Council meeting. It was also agreed that
February’s discussion will include a Return to Office Plan to
incorporate staff survey results, protocols in place and
factors for consideration, i.e. elevators, HVAC, etc.
Action: Inform staff that the CMTO office will continue to
operate on a remote basis until the matter can be discussed
again, at the February Council meeting.

Staff

Action: Prepare a Return to Office Plan for presentation at the
February Council meeting.

Staff
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4.9 Proposed Amendments to By-Law No. 2 – Election of
Members to Council
E. Waters, Deputy Registrar, presented the proposed
amendments to By-Law No. 2 – Election of Members to
Council.
She advised Council that this by-law outlines the criteria for
election of registrants to Council. Elections will take place in
January 2021 for Districts 2, 5 and 7. District 7 is composed of
academic registrants who meet the criteria set out in section
14. E. Waters advised that as the College does not accredit
Massage Therapy (MT) programs, the amendment is
being proposed to clarify that Massage Therapy schools or
programs recognized in Ontario are acceptable.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 9: L. Hargreaves/S. Biber
THAT the proposed changes to By-Law No. 2, Election
of Members to Council, be approved by Council,
effective immediately.
CARRIED
Action: Update By-law No. 2 and post it on the website

Staff

5. Quarterly Reporting
5.1 2020 – Q2 and Q3 Executive Committee Report
K. Westfall-Connor presented the Executive Committee Q2
and Q3 Report. The report summarized the activities of the
Committee including review of COVID-19 communications to
registrants and updated guidance, management’s assessment
of operational risks as they relate to COVID-19, Executive’s
oversight of Management’s response to the COVID pandemic,
a request for extension to a Massage Therapy Research Fund
(MTRF) research project and referral of registrants who did
not complete STRiVE in 2019 to participate in a practice
assessment.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 10: S. Biber/C. Gross

7

THAT Council approve the 2020 – Q2 and Q3 Executive
Committee Report as presented.
CARRIED
5.2 2020 – Q2 Workplan Report
C. Flitton presented the 2020 – Q2 Workplan Report to
Council. She advised Council that the Professional Misconduct
Regulation was submitted to the Ministry on August 31, 2020.
In addition, A. Brennand, Director, Policy and
Communications, informed Council that this year’s open
house will move to a virtual format, an online webinar, that
will take place on October 26 and subsequently, be available
on the CMTO’s website.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 11: L. Hargreaves/C. Watt
THAT the 2020 – Q2 Workplan Report be approved as
presented.
CARRIED
5.2.1 BN – Workplan Change Request
C. Flitton advised Council that due to internal IT resources and
the impact of COVID-19 and prioritization of transition of
CMTO to remote operations, a change in the target
completion date of the “Continued Enhancement of IT
Infrastructure and Systems” project as well as project phasing
and deliverables is requested which will spread the project out
over several years instead of the originally planned
completion for 2020-Q4.
In additional, C. Flitton also advised, due to the
interdependency with the IT Strategy and Data Management
Strategy, a change in the target completion date of the Data
Management Strategy to 2021-Q4, is required to achieve the
regulatory modernization outcomes in the Strategic Plan.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 12: S. Biber/L. Hargreaves
THAT Council approve the proposed amendments to the
deliverables and target completion dates of the
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“Continued Enhancement of IT Infrastructure and
Systems” and “Data Management Strategy” projects.
CARRIED
5.3 2020 – Q2 Quality Assurance Committee Report
L. White presented the 2020 - Q2 Quality Assurance
Committee Report to Council.
V. McCoy advised Council that STRiVE 2020 opened on
September 9 and will remain open until November 30 to allow
Registrants to complete the 2020 components. To-date more
than 900 registrants have logged on to the platform to
complete at least one component of STRiVE 2020. Reminders
will continue to be sent out to encourage registrants to
comply by November 30. V. McCoy also informed Council that
due to COVID-19, a plan was put into place to conduct virtual
assessments. She advised Council that there were only 31
registrants that had not completed STRiVE 2019.
2020 September 22 - MOTION 13: L. Hargreaves/S. Biber
THAT Council approve the 2020 – Q2 Quality Assurance
Committee Report as presented.
CARRIED
6. Items for Discussion
6.1 Budget Development Process
Given the degree of uncertainty created by COVID-19 and the
concern due to uncertain revenue and increased
investigations, CMTO may have a large deficit in 2020.
C. Flitton discussed a possible approach to the 2021 budget
development process with Council. It was agreed that the
budget would be presented to Council on December 17, 2020.
This later date would allow management more time to finalize
cost reduction measures if CMTO received much less revenue
than expected after the first renewal installment deadline on
November 1st. C. Flitton also advised Council that a second
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budget presentation in late March, early April 2021, after the
second renewal installment is received, may be required
before finalizing the 2021 budget.
Management committed to not signing any major contracts
between December and April until after the budget is
finalized.
2020 September 22 – MOTION 14: S. Mall/S. Biber
THAT Council approve the draft 2021 Budget
Development Process as presented.
CARRIED
Action: Schedule a Council meeting for December 17, 2020 for
the purpose of presenting the draft 2021 budget, with the
possibility of a second budget meeting in late March, early
April if further adjustments need to be made after the second
renewal installment is completed.

Staff

7. Items for Information
No questions or concerns were raised regarding items shared
for information purposes only.
8. New Business
There was no new business.
9. Adjournment
2020 September 22 – MOTION 6: C. Watt/S. Biber
THAT the September 22, 2020 Council meeting be
adjourned.
CARRIED
The meeting was adjourned at 12:21 PM.
____________________

________________________
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K. Westfall-Connor, RMT
President

C. Flitton
Registrar & CEO
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ACTIONS ARISING FROM THE MINUTES OF MEETING
COUNCIL MEETINGS OF SEPTEMBER 21 and 22, 2020
Agenda
Item
4.0

Description

Status

September 22, 2020
Items for Decision
4.1 Standards of Practice Revision Project
Action: Release the draft Standards of Practice for consultation
with the profession and stakeholders.

Complete

Action: Bring back final draft of the Standards of Practice for approval In Progress
in February.

4.2 2021 Draft Workplan
Action: Add the 2021 draft Workplan for approval to a future
Council meeting agenda.

In Progress

4.8 Returning to the Office
Action: Inform staff that the CMTO office will continue to
operate on a remote basis until the matter can be discussed
again, at the February Council meeting.

Completed

Action: Prepare a Return to Office Plan for presentation at the
February Council meeting.

Completed

4.9 Proposed Amendments to by-Law No. 2 – Election of
Members to Council
Action: Update By-Law No. 2 and post it on the website.
6.0

Completed

Items for Discussion
6.1 Budget Development Process
Action: Schedule a Council meeting for December 17, 2020 for
the purpose of presenting the draft 2021 budget, with the
possibility of a second budget meeting in late March, early April
if further adjustments need to be made after the second
renewal installment is completed.

Completed

Agenda Item 5.4
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To:

Council

Date: November 10, 2020
From: C. Flitton, Registrar & CEO
Re:

2020 – Q3 Quarterly Registrar’s and Administration Report

This report covers activities that the Registrar and the administration team have been
engaged in that have not already been reported through the Quarterly Workplan,
Financial and Committee Reports.
1.

Strategic Vision and Direction Setting
• C. Flitton continued to work with the Senior Management Team to ensure alignment
of activities and projects with the Strategic Plan.
• Staff participated in various committee, working group and network meetings of the
Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO), in particular the Anti Black,
Indigenous and People of Colour (BIPOC) Racism Working Group.
• Met with CMTO’s realty advisors for a preliminary discussion about the current
property leasing environment and the uncertainty created by COVID-19.

2.

Reputation Management
• The Registrar and Deputy Registrar attended 4 HPRO bi-weekly meetings.
• C. Flitton and K. Westfall-Connors, President met with the Executive Director of the
RMTAO, Michael Feraday and Krystin Bokalo, President, RMTAO for one of two semiannual meetings to discuss issues of mutual concern.
• The team worked with key system partners as identified in section 3 and Appendix A.

3.

Development and Achievement of Goals
• The administrative team attended various CNAR sessions on regulatory matters.
• The team continued to meet with external consultants, as required, to move projects
on the Annual Workplan forward. Specific results are noted in the Quarterly Workplan
Report. Other key operational activities undertaken in the quarter appear in the
following table:
1
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Department
Corporate
Services

•
•

•

•
•
Policy &
Communications

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Professional
Conduct

•
•
•
•

•

Activities
Continued work on defining a Return to Office Plan and
held discussion with Council in September 2020.
Continued work in support of Continuous Quality
Improvement (CQI) with the completion of process
workflow diagrams for Professional Conduct and the
Assessment Process in Professional Practice.
Formed the inaugural IT User Advisory Group (ITAG) – a
representative group of selected external stakeholder
users to provide in-depth user feedback and input into the
user interface of CMTO’s digital platforms and tools while
maintaining a focus on the “self-service” principle of
CMTO’s IT Strategy.
Engaged the IT User Advisory Group (ITAG) in the testing
of the next cycle of Strive and of the 2021 Renewal
process.
Commenced work in support of a Cyber Security
Awareness and Action Plan.
Met weekly with Ministry of Health (MEOC).
Citizen Advisory Group Partner Planning meeting (July 7).
HPRO Communications Meeting (July 8).
Meeting with MOH (July 20).
Meeting with MPP office about RMT practice guidance
during COVID-19 (Aug 6).
Work with peer colleges on treatment of clients who cross
the border (Aug 21).
Meeting with CLHIA about a number of practice issues
(Aug 24).
HPRO Communications Meeting (Sept 9).
To-date received over 180 reported concerns regarding
registrants not complying with COVID-19 directives.
Preparation for implementation of virtual compliance
audits.
Started monthly HPRO Anti-BIPOC working group
meetings.
Participated as a speaker during CNAR’s 2020 Annual
Conference session Surviving the Monster Discipline
Hearing that Consumes all of your Resources - and Sanity.
Participated as a speaker at Infonex’s Professional
Regulations and Discipline event session Best Practices in
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Professional
Practice

•

•
•
Registration &
Certification
Services

•
•
•
•
•
•

Managing the Challenge of Sexual Harassment and Sexual
Abuse Allegations.
Continued to respond to practice related inquiries
received which included higher volume questions about:
o IPAC / PPE (e.g. RMT mask requirements, client
mask requirements, exceptions to mask
requirements for RMT or client, using
thermaphores or table heating pads);
o Screening (e.g. How to conduct active screening?
Can I treat essential workers or people with
chronic symptoms? Protocol for patients who
screen as positive?); and,
o Guidance on Client Care (e.g. can I treat people
who’ve previously tested as positive? Can I provide
couples massage or hot stone treatments?).
STRiVE reporting cycle opened at the beginning of
September – deadline for submission November 30.
Virtual assessments continued to be conducted.
Continued regular meetings with Prometric team to
manage exam transition.
Conducted survey of current OSCE team members to
identify who would be returning/gaps for 2021.
Coordinating with Prometric, interviewed approximately
60 individuals to fill approximately 30 positions on the
OSCE team.
Offered an MCQ examination at CMTO’s offices for
candidates needing accommodation.
Updated Alinity for 2021 renewal, including testing of
two-payment option for GCs.
Attended two CMTCA Board meetings.

4.

Financial Management
• Engaged staff and the senior management team in the continued work to develop
the 2021 budget targeted for presentation to Council in December 2020.

5.

Human Resources Management
• Recruiting activities continued to ensure the appropriate level of human resources
capability and mix of skills is maintained to meet statutory obligations, strategic
objectives and operational needs.
3
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New Hires
• In total, CMTO hired 3 new employees in 2020-Q3: 1 of which was in Professional
Practice, and 2 in Corporate Services.
Note: There were also 2 contract employees who became full-time permanent in 2020Q3, and 1 employee who returned from a leave of absence in 2020-Q3, all of which
were in Professional Conduct.
Hiring Deferrals (as a result of uncertainty due to COVID-19)
• CMTO deferred recruiting for the following role in 2020- Q3 in Professional Practice:
Coordinator, Professional Practice
Note - Hiring of the Education Specialist was previously deferred until further notice.
Employee Departures
• In 2020- Q2, there were no employee departures.
6.

Council Relations
• Governance protocols such as post-committee meeting surveys and reports are
continuing.
• Communication regarding the 2021 renewal Fees was shared with Council in
advance of release to the profession.
• A summary of key COVID-19 operational activities during September and October
2020 is included as Appendix A.
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Appendix A
Summary of CMTO’s Response to COVID-19 for the months of September and October 2020.
Note that all other activities/operations of the College continued using CMTO’s remote
platform.
September:
Meetings:
• CMTO’s Pandemic Team comprising of the Senior Management Team and the HR Generalist
met once per week on Thursdays.
• The Registrar/Deputy Registrar participated in the HPRO bi-weekly information sharing
sessions.
Professional Conduct:
• Developed, implemented, and revised an Investigator Screen Confirmation document to
facilitate the resumption of a limited number of in-person investigations conducted on an as
needed basis.
• Virtual Compliance Audit planning in order to resume compliance audits.
• Met with HPRO peers to discuss COVID-19 impacts on investigations and hearings.
Professional Practice:
• Responded to COVID-19 phone and email inquiries from registrants and clients.
• Continued to conduct virtual assessments.
Registration Services:
• In accordance with the COVID-19 precautionary measures required within the physical
office space, implemented the appropriate protocols in the Reception area on the 8th floor
in preparation for MCQ Exam Accommodations.
• Developed and implemented infection prevention protocols for the delivery of the MCQ
accommodation examinations at CMTO’s offices.
• Brought to the attention of the Registration Committee the impact of COVID-19 on
statutory timeframes related to registration, and implemented a new Registration
Committee policy providing an extension to these timeframes, including updating the
annual renewal form for GCs extending the timeframe for providing 500 hours of direct
client care, and updating website/notifying exam candidates of extensions to their threeyear timeframe for completing the exams (due to the loss of exam administrations in 2020).
• Continued with certification examination work that would normally have been completed in
2021 but now pushed to 2020 due to a January OSCE start date (extra OSCE scenarios
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completed, exam team hiring nearing completion, finalizing candidate handbook
incorporating Prometric processes, finalized new contract for OSCE training venue
incorporating extra exam dates and drafted language in the event that stricter COVID-19
protocols prevent the training from proceeding as planned).
Policy and Communications:
• Participated in the Ministry Emergency Operations Centre (MEOC) COVID-19 updates, once
per week on Tuesdays.
• Received the daily Ministry Emergency Operations Centre (MEOC) Reports.
• Continued to liaise with other health regulatory colleges and the Ministry about issues like
how to best apply the Ministry’s screening tool and most recently, on health care provision
for those crossing the Canada-US border on a regular basis.
• Transitioned the Fall Open House series to an online webinar format.
• Analysed trends (data analysis) in Practice Specialist questions about COVID-19.
• Met with HPRO Communications group to discuss COVID-19 and other topics.
• As the pandemic evolves, CMTO has continued to liaise with the Ministry of Health and
respond to questions from RMTs and the public. As such, FAQs were updated on the
COVID-19 webpage https://www.cmto.com/covid-19/ with new information. To review,
click on “FAQs for RMTs” and scroll down. All updated FAQs are marked with a
corresponding date.
• A reminder that an archive of all COVID-19 communication from the College is available at
the Archive drop down at the bottom of this page: https://www.cmto.com/covid-19/.
• Met with health system partners (e.g. Canadian Life and Health Insurance Association).
Corporate Services:
• The team continues to work on Return to Office planning and will have a discussion with
Council at the February 2021 meeting.
October:
Meetings:
• CMTO’s Pandemic Team comprising of the Senior Management Team and the HR Generalist
met once per week on Thursdays.
• The Registrar participated in the HPRO bi-weekly information sharing sessions.
Professional Conduct:
• NA
Professional Practice:
• Conducted a virtual training session with 40 assessors.
• Re-notified approximately half of the registrants who were selected for an assessment in
February 2020 to advise that a virtual assessment will proceed in the coming weeks.
6
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Registration Services:
• 2021 renewal with split payment launched Oct. 1, 2020.
• Met with the Ontario Council of Private Massage Therapy Colleges (OCPMTC) to discuss a
variety of issues, including the impact of COVID-19 on certification examinations.
• Cancelled the planned OSCE team training at the IVEY Centre due to updated COVID-19
restrictions on the number of people who can gather. The CMTO office was configured by
the IT team so the OSCE training planned for the week of November 9 – 13 can proceed
on a virtual basis.

Policy and Communications:
• Met weekly with the Ministry of Health’s Emergency Operations Centre (MEOC) to receive
updates on COVID-19 pandemic response and discuss questions.
• Met with HPRO Communications group (October 14) to discuss COVID-19 and other topics.
Corporate Services:
• Implemented the COVID-19 screening tool for all workers to complete prior to entering the
CMTO office, in accordance with the legislated recommendations from public health
officials. Any worker who does not pass screening will be advised that they cannot enter the
workplace and should self-isolate, call their health care provider, or Telehealth Ontario.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q3 and Q4

Committee Members:
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT, President
Lloyd White, Public Member, Vice President
Lisa Tucker, RMT, Executive Officer
Carolyn Watt, Public Member, Executive Officer
Statement of Purpose:
The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the Council, the
Committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning,
governance and supervisory responsibilities. The Committee monitors administration
of the College and relies on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Executive Committee held the following meetings since the September 22 Council meeting
on:
October 13, 2020 (in camera videoconference)*
October 15, 2020 (in camera videoconference)*
November 3, 2020 (in camera videoconference)*
November 10, 2020 (videoconference)
The Executive Committee held these in camera meetings to discuss potential matters that may
have legal implications.

Executive Committee Report
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2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
The Executive Committee made the following Decisions/Recommendations:
November 10, 2020.
1. Review of Council Agenda Items
As part of its regular business, the Committee approved the agenda for the November 24, 2020
Council meeting along with the 2020 - Q3 Year-to-Date Financial report, 2020 – Q3 Registrar’s
and Administration report, and the 2020 – Q3 Workplan report.
2. 2020 – Q2 Risk Management
The Committee received a briefing from C. Flitton, Registrar, on management’s assessment of
operational risks as they relate to potential risks such as technology/IT security, remote OSCE
training, spousal exception and matters that may have some legal implications.
3. Council Members Re-appointment

The Committee directed C. Flitton to submit letters of support along with the requests for reappointment of L. White and J. Mathers.
2. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION/DISCUSSION
1. Proposed Amendments to the Governance Handbook

Respectfully submitted by:
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
President

Executive Committee Report
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REGISTRATION COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 - Q3 (July - September)

Committee Members:

Anna Cantalini, RMT (Chair)
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member)
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member
Sohail Mall, Public Member
Deb Mattina, Public Member (until July 10, 2020)

Statement of Purpose:
The Registration Committee has responsibility for determining the eligibility for
registration of all applicants where there is a question about capacity, training,
experience or education, and/or when the Registrar believes that terms, conditions or
limitations should be imposed on a certificate.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Registration Committee held two meetings by teleconference in the third quarter, on July
29th and September 1st.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Impact of COVID-19 on Registration Timelines
Recognizing the impact of COVID-19 on applicants and registrant’s ability to meet statutory
timeframes related to registration, the Registration Committee approved a policy:
Registration Committee Report
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-

Providing an extension to any examination candidate whose three-year timeframe
for completing the OSCE and MCQ was impacted by the loss of the 2020 OSCE exam
administrations. The extension will be equivalent to the time lost. Extensions will be
managed administratively by staff.

-

Providing an extension of twelve (12) weeks to registrants to provide the required
500 hours of direct client care in the previous three years. For the 2021 renewal
only, the three-year timeframe for GC holders to provide a minimum of 500 hours
of direct client care is being extended to March 29, 2021.

2.3 Updated Certificate of Registration Policy
The Certificate of Registration policy was reviewed and updated to reflect administrative
changes, such as removing reference to the photo ID card (effective January 2021, CMTO is no
longer issuing photo ID cards to registrants).
3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
The Committee sent the 2021 Examination Content Outlines to the Council for approval during
Q3.

Registration Committee Report
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CLIENT RELATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q3 (July – September)
Committee Members:

Ian Vining, RMT, Chair
Tammy Contois, RMT (non-Council Member)
Christine Gross, Public Member
Sohail Mall, Public Member

Statement of Purpose:
The Client Relations Committee has responsibility for all programs and measures that
are designed to address preventing or dealing with sexual abuse of clients by
registrants. This responsibility has been extended to address any aspect of relations
between registrants and their clients.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Committee met once in the second quarter on August 11, 2020.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Request for Appeal re: Additional Funding for Therapy and Counselling
The Committee had previously denied a request for additional funding based on the legislated
maximum available under the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA). The client
subsequently requested information on how to appeal this decision and was advised that as the
amount was legislated, there was no appeal mechanism for this issue.

Client Relations Committee Report
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2.2 New Applicants for Funding for Therapy and Counselling
The Committee approved three (3) applications for funding for therapy and counselling in Q3.
2.3 Committee Workplan
Committee members reviewed an updated the Committee workplan. Updates were required
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Following a discussion of the workplan and proposed updates,
staff will proceed to initiate projects as determined by the schedule. Further updates to the
workplan will be brought forward to the Committee as required.
3. ITEMS FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.

Client Relations Committee Report
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QUALITY ASSURANCE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q3 (July – September)
Committee Members:
Lloyd White, Public Member, Chair
Rebecca Cleaveley, RMT (non-Council Member)
Jennifer Da Ponte, RMT (non-Council Member)
Cora Di Pietro, RMT (non-Council Member)
Christine Gross, Public Member
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Shannon Marshall, RMT (non-Council Member)
Jay Mathers, Public Member
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Susan Schankula, RMT (non-Council Member)
Statement of Purpose:
The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the development
and implementation of a quality assurance program in accordance with regulations
prescribed by the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and College Regulations.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Quality Assurance Committee met three times during the third quarter on July 20, 21 and
29. 2020. Additionally, seven Quality Assurance Panel meetings were held on July 13, August
10, 12, 26 and September 16 and 23, 2020 to accommodate the review of a number of ongoing
assessment matters.

Quality Assurance Committee Report
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2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 Development and Implementation of Redesigned Quality Assurance Program
The reporting cycle for STRiVE 2020 opened on September 9. All registrants holding a General
Certificate are required to complete identified components by November 30, 2020. Currently
Inactive registrants are encouraged to comply.
2.2 Development and Updating of Standards of Practice
The Quality Assurance Committee passed a motion at the July 29, 2020 meeting,
recommending to Council that the draft Standards of Practice be approved for online survey
consultation in Fall 2020; the recommendation was subsequently passed in a motion by Council
at the meeting on September 22, 2020.
2.3 – First Aid and CPR Project
On July 29, 2020, the Quality Assurance Committee considered a proposal to address the
requirement for First Aid and CPR Certification. The Committee subsequently passed two
motions; the first recommending that applicants continue to submit proof of First Aid and CPR
certification prior to obtaining a General Certificate of Registration; a second motion was
passed to recommend to Council that First Aid and CPR certification be addressed in the
proposed Standard of Practice: Safety and Risk Management.
2.4 Assessments
During the third quarter of 2020, 144 matters were considered by Quality Assurance Panels.
Decisions were made to impose Terms, Conditions and Limitations (TCLs) on Certificates of
Registration for two registrants, issue 85 Specified Continuing Education or Remediation
Programs (SCERPs), provide one recommendation and take no further action on 13 matters.
Additionally, 35 matters were referred to the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee
(ICRC) including 31 matters for non-compliance with STRiVE – the Quality Assurance Program in
2019, two health inquiries, one matter for Quality Assurance Program non-compliance, and one
other matter for professional misconduct issues.

Quality Assurance Committee Report
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3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
The draft Standards of Practice were presented to Council for approval to circulate to
stakeholders.
A recommendation was made to Council to address the requirement of CPR and First Aid within
the proposed Standard of Practice: Safety and Risk Management.

Quality Assurance Committee Report
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INQUIRIES, COMPLAINTS AND REPORTS (ICRC) COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 - Q3 (July-September)

Committee Members:
Lisa Tucker, RMT, Chair
Sean Adderley, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Debra Mattina, Public Member (until July 10, 2020)
Jay Mathers, Public Member (as of July 2, 2020)
Suja Biber, RMT
Martez Schembri-Diskey, RMT (non-Council Member)
Theo Parusis, RMT (non-Council Member)
Eric Wu, RMT (non-Council Member)
Ashley Van Zelst, RMT (non-Council Member)
Rosanna Rebeccani, RMT (non-Council Member)
Sandra Cina, RMT (non-Council Member)
Marlene Kesler, Pubic Member
Deny Brulotte, RMT (non-Council Member)
Cheryl Lewin, RMT (non-Council Member)
Karalyn Van Aken, RMT (non-Council Member)

Statement of Purpose:
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) investigates complaints,
inquiries, and reported concerns regarding registrants and determines a course of
action in accordance with legislation, including referral to the Discipline Committee for
allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence. The Committee also has the
authority to conduct inquiries for incapacity issues and can refer incapacity concerns
to the Fitness to Practise Committee.

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is divided into three panels to accommodate
the number of ongoing matters, as well as avoid any potential conflicts of interest and
accommodate the selection of Panel members (should the need arise for a discipline hearing).
Collectively, the Panels met seven (7) times for videoconference meetings on July 13, July 22,
August 7, August 24, September 1, September 2 and September 18. The Panels met seven (7)
times for email meetings on August 12, August 21, September 4, September 11, September 12,
September 16 and September 24.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
2.1 New Cases and Nature of Concerns
Complaints
20

Nature of Concerns

Registrar
Report
Investigations
48

6 - Breach of Standards
2 - Inappropriate Billing Practices
7 - Sexual Abuse
0 - Treatment Causing Injury
5 - Unprofessional Conduct
0 - Practising While Suspended
0 - Non-Compliance
0 - Practising Outside of Scope

Nature of Concerns
0 - Breach of Standards
3 - Inappropriate Billing Practices
9 - Sexual Abuse
1 - Treatment Causing Injury
1 - Unprofessional Conduct
0 - Practising While Suspended
34 - Non-Compliance
0 - Practising Outside of Scope

2.2 Cases Completed by the ICRC and Outcomes
Complaints
31

Outcomes
6 - Referral to Discipline
1 - SCERP and Oral Caution
0 - Oral Caution
3 - SCERP
2 - Undertaking
7 - Advice/ Recommendation
12 - No Further Action

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report

Registrar Reports
Investigations
13

Outcomes
5 - Referral to Discipline
3 - SCERP and Oral Caution
0 - Oral Caution
1 - SCERP
1 - Undertaking
2 - Advice/ Recommendation
1 - No Further Action
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2.3 Current Incapacity Cases and Outcomes
New Cases
3

Cases Closed
4

Active Cases
8

Outcome
1 - Referral to Fitness to Practise
2 - No Further Action
1 - Undertaking

2.4 Complaint Cases before Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB)
New Cases

Cases Closed

Active Cases

3

1

13

2.5 Current Active Cases
Complaints

Registrar Report
Investigations

Incapacity
Inquiries

Total Number of Cases

97

153

8

258

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.

Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee Report
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FITNESS TO PRACTISE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q3 (July - September)
Committee Members: Anna Cantalini, RMT, Chair
Sean Adderley, RMT
Suja Biber, RMT
Christine Gross, Public Member
Lesley Hargreaves, RMT
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member
Sohail Mall, Public Member
Jay Mathers, Public Member
Debra Mattina, Public Member (until July 10)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
Lloyd White, Public Member
Statement of Purpose:
The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations
of incapacity made against a registrant.

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
There were no meetings of the Fitness to Practise Committee held in this quarter.

Fitness to Practise Committee Report
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2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
There were no Fitness to Practise case conferences or hearings held in this quarter.
2.2 Decision Release Data
There was one decision issued by the Fitness to Practise Committee in this reporting period. 1
2.3 Quarterly Summary of Fitness to Practise Activities
The table below provides information on activities of the Fitness to Practise Committee.
Registrant
1.

Registrant V

Date(s) of Activity
in the Quarter
July 13

Type of Activity

Status

Written reasons released

Completed/Closed

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.

Given the closed nature of incapacity hearings, which involve personal health information, identifying information
about registrants has been withheld from this report. The result of each incapacity proceeding is posted on the public
register of the College in accordance with the Health Professions Procedure Code, which is Schedule 2 to the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

1
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: November 24, 2020
From: Executive Committee
Re:

2020-Q3 Year-to-Date Financial Report

Background:
Each Quarter, Executive Committee and Council are provided with updates, noting trends, financial
activity and challenges. The unaudited 2020-Q3 Year to Date (YTD) financial statements presented
include:
Appendix A: Statement of Operations
A summary of revenues and expenses for Q3 YTD actuals vs. budget. Overall, the College is
forecasting a deficit of $433K for 2020. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are explained in
the attached.
Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position
The financial position as at 2020-Q3 (unaudited) compared to the 2019 Audited Statement of
Financial Position. Variances greater than $50,000 and 10% are explained in the attached.
Recommendation:
The Executive Committee has reviewed and assessed the unaudited 2020-Q3 YTD Statement of
Operations and Statement of Financial Position. The Executive Committee recommends that
Council approve these statements.
Draft Motion:
THAT Council approve the unaudited 2020-Q3 YTD Statement of Operations and
Statement of Financial Position.
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Appendix A: Statement of Operations (Unaudited)
2020 – Q3 Year to Date (YTD) Actuals and Full Year (FY) Forecast

Revenues
Registration fees
Examination fees
Investment income

Expenses
Council and committees
Complaints and discipline
Examinations
Quality assurance
Communications
Salaries and benefits
Consulting fees
Professional fees
Rent and operating costs
Office and general
Contributions to national initiatives
Contribution to massage therapy research
Amortization - capital assets
Amortization - intangible assets

Surplus/(Deficit)

2020
YTD Actual

2020
FY Budget

2020
FY Forecast

2020
Variance %
FY Variance ($) + Fav, - Unfav

Notes

$ 11,771,521 $
$ 1,675,800 $
$
300,000 $
$ 13,747,321 $

8,142,881
46,314
8,189,195

$ 11,349,706 $
(421,815)
$
276,575 $ (1,399,225)
$
490,320 $
190,320
$ 12,116,601 $ (1,630,721)

-4%
-83%
63%
-12%

[1]
[2]
[3]

$
471,075
$ 2,294,565
$ 1,345,953
$
754,750
$
178,000
$ 5,171,182
$
344,849
$
240,000
$
589,740
$ 1,273,221
$
352,819
$
$
191,072
$
137,764
$ 13,344,991

186,607
2,145,303
266,392
198,622
55,854
3,477,196
265,938
169,011
445,812
644,040
254,375
164,963
80,135
8,354,248

$
290,720
$ 2,862,789
$
440,949
$
691,548
$
127,291
$ 5,137,395
$
306,975
$
196,931
$
603,094
$ 1,281,641
$
352,819
$
$
164,963
$
92,635
$ 12,549,750

[4]
[5]
[6]
[7]
[8]
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM
NM

$

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

402,331 $

(165,052) $

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

180,355
(568,224)
905,004
63,202
50,709
33,787
37,874
43,069
(13,354)
(8,420)
26,109
45,129
795,241

38%
-25%
67%
8%
28%
1%
11%
18%
-2%
-1%
0%
0%
14%
33%
6%

(433,150) $

(835,480)

-208%

*NM – Not Material
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Appendix B: Statement of Financial Position (Unaudited)
As at September 30, 2020 (with December 31, 2019 comparative)
Sep 30, 2020

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Investments*
Prepaid expense
Total current assets

$
$
$
$
$

Non current assets
Capital assets
Intangible assets
Total non current assets

$
$
$

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred registration and exam fees
Total current liabilities
Deferred lease inducements
TOTAL LIABILITIES
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital and intangible assets
Internally restricted for complaints and discipline
Internally restricted for national initiatives
Internally restricted for massage therapy research
Unrestricted

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

$
$
$
$
$

Variance % Notes

(7,993,030)
37,351
533,303
148,708
(7,273,668)

-68%
3291%
7%
207%
-37%

[1]
NM
[2]
[3]

656,538 $
77,882 $
734,420 $

792,781 $
88,997 $
881,778 $

(136,243)
(11,115)
(147,358)

-17%
-12%
-17%

[4]
NM

$

13,022,485 $

20,443,511 $

(7,421,026)

-36%

$
$
$

2,816,216 $
4,414,023 $
7,230,239 $

3,223,950 $
10,857,175 $
14,081,125 $

(407,734)
(6,443,152)
(6,850,886)

-13%
-59%
-49%

[5]
[6]

$

90,576 $

93,931 $

(3,355)

-4%

NM

$

7,320,815 $

14,175,056 $

(6,854,241)

-48%

$
$
$
$
$
$

734,420
1,500,000
567,072
250,000
2,650,178
5,701,670

$
$
$
$
$
$

(147,358)
(254,375)
(165,052)
(566,785)

-17%
0%
-31%
0%
-6%
-9%

20,443,511 $

(7,421,026)

-36%

$
$
$
$
$
$

13,022,485 $

11,840,773
1,135
7,647,922
71,903
19,561,733

Variance $

$
$
$
$
$

$

3,847,743
38,486
8,181,225
220,611
12,288,065

Dec 31, 2019

881,778
1,500,000
821,447
250,000
2,815,230
6,268,455

[7]
NM
[8]
NM
[9]

*Includes long-term investments with maturities > Mar 31, 2021. All investments are liquid and can be sold at any time.
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2020 - Q3 Workplan Report
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

2020 - Q3 Report

CORE BUSINESS
Transparency

Implement Transparency Initiatives as Outlined in the Strategic CMTO makes more information
A number of projects will increase transparency
Plan
publicly available, makes its decision- including enhancing public engagement: A new web

making process more transparent
and makes its information easier to
understand.

Quality

Development and Implementation of Redesigned QA Program - Develop and implement a
Phase 1
redesigned Quality Assurance

Quality

Regulatory Modernization

2020-Q4

page focusing on information needed/valued by the
public.

Project will be complete in Q4. New public
webpage will be launched in October 2020.
The public webpage was developed based
on advice from Ontario's Citizen Advisory
Group and CMTO's Client Relations
Committee and highlights the information
needs of clients/public.

Full implementation of the Quality Assurance Program is 2019-Q4 (Phase 1)
expected to occur in phases over a period of three(3) to complete
Program to assess registrant
five(5) years. Phase 1 includes a comprehensive
2020-Q4 (Phase 2)
competence based on 15 Careercommunication plan, release of program components
Span Competencies, compliance with and survey to gather feedback from registrants. Phase
the Standards of Practice, and
2 includes development of components for
delivery of quality client care that is implementation in 2020-Q4.
evidence-informed.

Development of components for STRiVE
2020 were completed in advance of the
reporting cycle opening at the beginning of
September.

Development and Updating of Standards of Practice

To create core Standards of Practice
that are clear and concise and are in
accordance with CMTO's regulatory
modernization principles.

Full implementation of the new Standards of Practice is Phase 1: 2021-Q2
expected to occur in phases over a period of three(3) to (Development Phase)
five(5) years. Phase 1, will focus on the development of
Standards, with the support of a qualified consultant
(approximately 18-24 months).

On track. Work to complete the draft
Standards of Practice continued throughout
Q3 and they were approved by Council for
consultation with stakeholders.

Data Management Strategy

CMTO will identify organizational
data and information required to
help inform risk-and outcome-based
regulatory decision-making.

Phase 3 of project: Identify the limitations of the data
sources that are currently available. Phase 4: Scope out
what a new comprehensive data management system
(and supporting process looks like).

A recommendation was brought forward
and approved by Council in September
2020. The project completion date was
amended to 2021-Q4. The work on this
initiative will resume in Q4.

2020-Q3 Draft
2020 -Q4 Final
2021 - Q4

2019/2020 Workplan
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

2020 - Q3 Report

Regulatory Modernization

Registrant Outreach Strategy - Regulatory Changes

Registrants feel engaged and
informed about regulatory changes
and CMTO's priorities and CMTO is
seen as a proactive and modern
regulator.

Meetings held in 3 Ontario cities in 2019 and 2 Ontario
cities in 2020.

2020-Q4

Project will be complete in Q4. The virutal
format, CMTO's first online webinar, will
take place on October 26, 2020 and will
address questions submitted by members
of the profession when they registered. The
webinar will be available online post
presentation for those who cannot attend.
Over 700 RMTs had signed up for the
webinar at the end of Q3. Report flagged as
yellow because the original deliverables
were changed due to COVID-19.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Develop requirements regarding ongoing Registrant First Aid
and CPR Certification

To determine whether mandatory
CPR and First Aid is necessary to
ensure client safety.

Provide Council with recommendations based on
whether mandating applicants and registrants to
maintain current First Aid and CPR certification ensures
client safety.

2020-Q3

At September's meeting, Council approved
that First Aid and CPR remain a requirement
of initial registration and the maintenance
of First Aid and CPR certification be
addressed in the proposed Standard of
Practice: Safety and Risk Management. The
Registrant First Aid and CPR Certification
project is now complete with this report.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Amendments to CMTO's Professional Misconduct Regulations

Ensuring registrants are held
Complete stakeholder consultation. Obtain Council's
2020-Q1
accountable for conduct that poses a final approval. Submit proposed changes to the Ministry.
higher risk of harm to the public.
Reducing redundancy and increasing
clarity for registrants regarding their
professional obligations.

The Professional Misconduct Regulations
were submitted to the Ministry on August
31, 2020. With this report this project is
now complete.

2019/2020 Workplan
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

An on-line course including evaluative component(s).
2020-Q3 - Phase 1 - Development (Legislative)
2021 - Q1 - Implementation (Legislative)
2021 - Q4 - Phase 2: Development (Standards of
Practice)
2022 - Q3 Implementation (Standards of Practice)

2020 - Q3
Phase
1: Development
2021-Q1
Implementation 2021Q4 - Phase 2:

2020 - Q3 Report

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Jurisprudence Course with Evaluative Component

An increased understanding of
current legislation for applicants and
registrants to ensure clients recieve
safe, ethical and appropriate care.

Continuous Quality
Improvement/Regulatory
Modernization

Continued enhancement of IT infrastructure and systems.

CMTO will identify immediate and
A multi-phased project focused to the IT related systems 2019 - Q3 (Phase 1) long-term technology-related needs utilized to collecting, storing and reporting of data to
Complete
to meet its regulatory mandate.
meet the College's regulatory mandate. Phase I - An IT 2020 - Q4 (Phase 2)
Strategy inclusive of holistic gathering and assessment
of requirements to identify gaps, opportunities and
recommendations. Phase 2 - Dependent on Phase I and
may include migration to and/or addition of new
software tools, enhancements etc. i.e. registration, QA,
case management, integration with SAGE financials etc.
Additional project planning will define the Phases and
Deliverables.

A recommendation was brought forward
and approved by Council in September
2020. Phase 2 of the project deliverables
have been updated to identify specific
activities to be completed by 2020 - Q4 and
additional deliverables spread out over
several years with specific software tool
deliverables set out annually in the
workplan. The 2020-Q4 deliverables are:
(1) Revision to case management product
project scoping and (2) Completion of the
STRiVE deliverables planned for 2020.
These deliverables are on-track.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Implementation of Recommendations from the Sexual Abuse
Task Force.

Increased accountability of CMTO in Develop and implement policies and/or procedures
2020-Q1 (Develop)
addressing allegations of sexual
focused on: ICRC and Discipline Committee prioritization 2020-Q4 (Implement)
of sexual abuse cases. Use of amicus legal counsel and
abuse.
support persons for complainants during a Discipline
hearing. Ensuring an efficient and consistent approach
to cases involving allegations of sexual abuse.

On track. Project will be complete in Q4.
Relevent frameworks, guides, policies and
procedures have been developed.
Implementation of support person for
complainants during a Discipline hearing
may be placed on hold due to budgetary
restrictions.

COMPLETED

On track. Work continues to develop the
online program for new and existing
registrants to further enhance their
knowledge of legislation.

2019/2020 Workplan
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

Regulatory Modernization

Education Strategy

CMTO places an emphasis on
proactive regulation through
improved knowledge translation of
regulatory responsibilities and
professionalism.

An education strategy outlining CMTO's role in providing 2019-Q4
education and identifying opportunities for CMTO to
work with system partners to ensure knowledge of
regulatory responsibilities is understood by the
profession.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

To review the Governance Handbook and CMTO's Bylaws to ensure that policies are clear and
comprehensive, risk is minimized and that there are no
inconsistencies.

Reduced governance risk and
inconsistency.

Updated and internally consistent set of governance
policies and by-laws.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Organizational Review Project

The CMTO has the optimal blend of
knowledge, skills and attitudes to
ensure capability and resources to
achieve departmental quality
improvements, that CMTO's
statutory mandate is met and to
further regulatory modernization.

Implementation of framework developed with Mercer 2019-Q4
based on emerging resource needs.
Onboarding to
continue past the anticipated completion date for
various reasons including the identification of additional
staff positions (included in the 2019 budget).

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Outsourcing CMTO's Certification Examinations (both the MCQ Reducing risk to CMTO by
and the OSCE)
outsourcing the administration of

DEVELOPMENTAL

2019 - Q2

A comprehensive RFP process, selection of a third party 2019-Q3
provider, comprehensive project plan for the transition
the Certification Examinations to an of examination development and administration from
CMTO to the third party provider.
appropriate third party which can
maintain the MCQ and OSCE as valid,
objective and reliable assessments of
entry-to-practice competencies as
identified by the current PCs/PIs.

2020 - Q3 Report

2019/2020 Workplan
Overarching Strategic/
Operational Objective

Project/Initiative Description

Outcomes

Deliverables

Completion Date

Completion of 2017 Organizational and Management Risk
Activities also referred to as Continuous Quality Improvement
(“CQI”)/Organizational Risk Management (“ORM”).

CMTO's organizational risk as
identified and agreed upon by both
management and council, is reduced
or managed.

1. Organizational Risk Register that identifies the key
2021 - Q4
management data and information that Council requires
to govern and oversee the affairs of the College and that
Management requires to make effective operational
decisions and to monitor, measure, and report on
performance, including a strategy to ensure that the
data and information are available and utilized
consistently.

Continuous Quality
Improvement

Review/update Code of Ethics

The public is protected by a code of Refreshed and Updated Code of Ethics, a glossary of
behavior and conduct that RMTs
ethical terms and a companion education program.
commit to and are guided by
throughout their career.

2019-Q4 (Phase 1&2)Complete
2021-Q3 (Phase 3)

Regulatory Modernization

Development-Reg Risk Assessment'

Identify, assess and prioritize risks to
MT clients and the public interest;
Reflect an understanding the nature
of those risks and their underlying
causes.

TBD

Identify a range of health outcomes and professional
risks to clients and the public interest, including an
assessment of likelihood and impact, to inform CMTO’s
programs and services. Engage broadly and
transparently with RMT clients, MT educational
programs, the RMT community, other regulated health
professions and the Government of Ontario.

2020 - Q3 Report

DISCIPLINE COMMITTEE REPORT
2020 – Q3 (July - September)
Committee Members: Lesley Hargreaves, RMT, Chair
Sean Adderley, RMT
Suja Biber, RMT
Allie Bisset, RMT (non-Council Member)
Kyle Bonnyman, RMT (non-Council Member)
Anna Cantalini, RMT
Bobbie Flint, RMT (non-Council Member)
Christine Gross, Public Member
Michael Hayes, RMT (non-Council Member)
Richard Jaunzemis, RMT (non-Council Member)
Nevenko Jeftic, RMT
Marlene Kesler, Public Member
Sarah Kingsbury, RMT (non-Council Member)
Sohail Mall, Public Member
Jay Mathers, Public Member
Debra Mattina, Public Member (until July 10)
Dawn Oehring, RMT
Lisa Tucker, RMT
Ian Vining, RMT
Carolyn Watt, Public Member
Kim Westfall-Connor, RMT
Lloyd White, Public Member
Committee Mandate:
The Discipline Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence against registrants.

Discipline Committee Report

1 of 5

SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
1. MEETING DATES
On September 24, 2020, the Discipline Committee received training and participated in a
workshop on conducting credibility assessments.
2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION
Table 2.1.1
Hearings Data

Total hearings
completed in the quarter
Total motions1
heard in the quarter
Prehearings completed in the quarter

6
5
6

Table 2.1.2
Type of Hearing
Contested liability 2
Contested penalty3 and/or costs
Uncontested penalty and costs
Fully contested liability and penalty
Fully uncontested liability and penalty

1

Number of Hearings
Completed in
Quarter
2
3
1
0
0

All five were indefinite adjournment motions. Motions are not counted toward the total number of hearings.

The liability phase of a discipline hearing involves a panel of the Discipline Committee deciding whether the
allegations of professional misconduct or incompetence against a registrant have been proven. If the panel decides
that the College has proven the allegations, it makes a finding of professional misconduct or incompetence.

2

Following a panel’s findings of professional misconduct or incompetence, the hearing proceeds to the penalty
phase where the panel may make one or a combination of the following orders: suspend or revoke a registrant’s
certificate of registration; impose specific terms, conditions and limitations; and/or require the registrant to appear
before the panel for a reprimand. In appropriate cases, the panel may order a registrant to pay all or part of the
College’s legal costs and expenses. While costs are not part of the penalty, costs awards are considered at the penalty
phase of the hearing.
3
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2. ITEMS FOR INFORMATION (CONT’D)
During this reporting period, the Discipline Committee considered 11 matters in total (6 hearings
and 5 motions for indefinite adjournment) and closed 11 cases. There was a marked increase in
the number of pre-hearings, motions and hearings completed in the third quarter, as compared
to the previous reporting period, which saw the completion of 3 hearings and 3 motions.
The COVID-19 pandemic necessitated the use of electronic hearing platforms (videoconference
and teleconference) in all matters to ensure that those participating in hearings could do so
safely. Of the four hearings adjourned in the previous quarter as a result of the pandemic, two
were completed in this quarter. The remaining two have been rescheduled on new dates.
The Discipline Committee’s Practice Direction remains in effect and requires that all discipline
proceedings be conducted electronically until this direction is rescinded by the Committee.
Protocols issued by the Hearings Office are being reviewed regularly and updated as processes
evolve, including on issues like technical training, access to documentation, management of
witnesses and facilitating access to hearing observers.
Decision Release Data
The Committee released 13 discipline decisions.
1. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Miguel, 2020 ONCMTO 16
2. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v King, 2020 ONCMTO 17
3. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v King, 2020 ONCMTO 18
4. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Manalang, 2020 ONCMTO 19
5. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Young, 2020 ONCMTO 20
6. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Young, 2020 ONCMTO 21
7. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Chu, 2020 ONCMTO 23
8. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Yee, 2020 ONCMTO 24
9. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Gou, 2020 ONCMTO 25
10. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Rao, 2020 ONCMTO 26
11. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Boggess, 2020 ONCMTO 27
12. Ontario (College of Massage Therapists of Ontario) v Schneider, 2020 ONCMTO 28
13. Unreported decision 4
Summaries of the decisions are available on the College’s website and full-text versions of the
decisions are reported on the Canadian Legal Information Institute (CanLII).

4

This motion decision will be reported on CanLII alongside the liability decision and reasons.
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2.3 Quarterly Summary of Discipline Committee Activities
The table below provides information on activities related to pre-hearing conferences, motions,
discipline hearings (liability and/or penalty phase), and release dates of written reasons for
decisions.
Registrant
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.

DM
BAS

Date(s) of Activity
in the Quarter
July 8

JY

July 13,
September 14
July 15
July 17
July 22
July 22;
September 2
July 22;

JY

August 11
July 22;

Registrant R
SY

August 11
July 29
July 29;

JG

August 27
July 29;

CK
HK
Registrant C
Registrant S

Registrant J
Registrant P
Registrant S

August 27
July 30;
September 2
July 30
July 31;
August 27
August 12;
September 28
August 13
August 13
September 2

DB

September 9;

CR
KM
MC
LS

Discipline Committee Report

September 22

Type of Activity
Written reasons released
Penalty hearing
Written reasons released
Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conference
Pre-hearing conference;
Liability hearing
Motion to indefinitely
adjourn;
Written reasons released
Motion to indefinitely
adjourn;
Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conference
Motions to indefinitely
adjourn;
Written reasons released
Motion to indefinitely
adjourn;
Written reasons released
Penalty hearing;
Written reasons released
Written reasons released
Penalty hearing;
Written reasons released
Penalty hearing;
Written reasons released
Pre-hearing conference
Pre-hearing conferences
Liability hearing
Motion to indefinitely
adjourn;
Written reasons released

Status
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
Decision and written
reasons pending
Penalty hearing pending
Completed/closed
Hearing pending
Adjourned;
hearing pending
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
Hearing pending
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
Completed/closed
Completed/closed
Completed/closed
Completed/closed
Hearing pending
Hearings pending
Adjourned; liability
hearing pending
Indefinitely
adjourned/closed
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20.
21.
22.

Registrant B

September 15

Liability hearing

Registrant B

September 15

Liability hearing

Registrant P

June 24-25;
September 30

Motion;
Motion decision and
reasons released

Decision and written
reasons pending
Decision and written
reasons pending
Hearing pending

3. ITEMS SENT TO COUNCIL FOR DECISION
There were no items sent to Council for decision.
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Agenda Item 7.1
For Decision

BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: November 24, 2020
From: Lesley Hargreaves, Chair, Discipline Committee
Re:

Discipline Hearing Tariff

Purpose:
Council is being asked to approve a daily tariff rate for discipline hearings to inform the amount
of costs sought by the College and ordered by the Discipline Committee (the “Committee”) in
order to allow the College to recover hearings-related expenses in appropriate cases.
Background:
The Committee has the authority to award costs to the College under section 53.1 of the Health
Professions Procedural Code (the “Code)1 and can require a registrant to pay all or part of:
1. The College’s legal costs and expenses.
2. The College’s costs and expenses in investigating the matter.
3. The College’s costs and expenses incurred in conducting the hearing.
The College can seek reasonable costs from a registrant if it is successful in proving allegations of
professional misconduct or incompetence. The policy rationale behind costs awards is to
compensate the College such that the general membership of the profession does not bear the
entire cost of a substantiated prosecution of a discipline matter through its registration fees.
Costs are not meant to be punitive.
Presently, the College has a policy of seeking costs in all discipline matters that result in findings
of professional misconduct. As required by the Discipline Committee Rules, the College

1

Being Scheduled 2 to the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.

1
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prosecutor is required to provide evidence and an explanation of the costs the College incurred
in investigating and prosecuting the matter whenever the College seeks costs against a registrant.
a. The utility of a hearing tariff
In October 2020, the Committee recommended that Council approve the introduction of a tariff
rate for discipline hearings.
A tariff is a pre-determined schedule of costs used to calculate the cost to the College of
conducting a day of hearing (i.e. the third category set out in the Code). A tariff eliminates the
need for the College to call or file evidence to prove actual costs incurred if the costs it is seeking
are equal to or below the fixed tariff rate.
The tariff rate will be set out in a schedule to the Discipline Committee Rules. For clarity, the
Rules will direct that where the College’s request for costs includes “the cost to the College of
conducting a day of hearing,” no evidence is needed to prove the costs.
In the Committee’s view, adopting a hearing tariff model would promote efficiency during the
hearing by providing an exception to the general rule that parties file evidence to prove actual
costs incurred. The Committee also recognized that the application of a set tariff rate promotes
fairness because it has the potential to result in consistent costs awards across cases. As part of
the Rules, the tariff rate would be publicly available. It would also be provided to registrants upon
a referral to the Discipline Committee for maximum transparency. While the Committee was
mindful of arguments that registrants should not be discouraged from defending themselves by
the prospect of a large costs award, it also had regard to the desirability for transparency.
Advising registrants of the anticipated costs of a hearing would, in turn, enable them to make
informed choices about how they wish to proceed.
Upon the adoption of a hearing tariff, it will be College practice to request costs based on the
tariff rate per day of hearing. 2 In appropriate cases, the College can still seek costs above the
tariff rate, for which it will be required to call or file evidence to prove actual costs incurred in
any or all of the three categories set out in the Code. The College would also need to establish by
legal argument that the costs incurred were reasonable.
b. Calculating the hearing tariff
The Discipline Committee endorsed a one-day tariff rate in the amount of $6950.00. This rate
reflects approximately 60% of the estimated fixed costs of a day of hearing time and is based on
the following itemized list of expenses:

The College typically seeks 1/3 of actual costs in uncontested cases and 2/3 of actual costs in contested cases. In
contested cases, the College prosecutor files evidence setting out the costs incurred in respect of investigating and
prosecuting the matter.

2

2

Agenda Item 7.1
For Decision

Item

Expense

Professional panel members per diem 3
Travel, accommodation, and meals for out-of-town panel members 4
Independent legal counsel 5
College prosecutor 6
Court reporter 7 (full day attendance)
Witness Summons Fee

$ 825.00
$ 450.00
$ 2625.00
$ 2500.00
$ 500.00
$ 50.00

Total:

$ 6,950.00

The Discipline Committee also recommended that the following variable costs associated with
hearings not be included in calculating the tariff rate:
•

•

•

•
•

Interpretation fees: a party subject to a discipline proceeding has the right to understand
and be understood. Other non-party witnesses can also be assisted by an interpreter if
they do not understand or speak the language of the tribunal, or have difficulty
understanding highly technical or legal jargon. The Hearings Office arranges for freelance
interpreters as required, with the College absorbing the cost of these services.
Amicus fees: in cases where a registrant is self-represented and the panel has deemed
someone to be a vulnerable witness, a representative is appointed to conduct the crossexamination of that witness. This is an in-hearing accommodation that assists vulnerable
witnesses and the discipline panel.
Facility fees: given the College’s ability to hold hearings on the College’s premises, this
variable cost that is incurred when the College rents off-site hearing space is not being
included.
Witness travel/accommodation expenses.
Other expenses that have not historically been included in calculating hearings-related
costs, such as transcripts, deliberation per diems, catering, and decision writing/editing
time.

Panel members’ time is calculated at a rate of $275/day/person for a maximum of 3 professional panel members.
Public members of the Discipline Committee are paid by the Province of Ontario.
4
These expenses are a low average as panel members’ travel and accommodation costs vary widely depending on
where in Ontario the RMT member resides. Given the current and anticipated future use of virtual hearings, the
College would be expected to forego recovery this expense if not incurred.
5
Based on an average hourly rate.
6
Based on a set hourly rate.
7
In accordance with section 48(1) of the Code, the College retains the services of a court reporter to record the
oral evidence at the hearing. The amount is based on a set rate for full-day attendance.
3

3
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c. Periodic adjustments to the tariff rate
In recommending a daily tariff rate of $6950.00, the Discipline Committee endorsed a recovery
rate of approximately 60% of the estimated fixed costs of a one-day hearing 8. For this recovery
rate to be maintained in future years, the tariff rate will need to be revisited and adjusted to
reflect any increase in hearings-related expenses. If hearings costs rise and the tariff rate is not
adjusted, this will reduce the recovery rate. The amount that is not recovered would be passed
along to the general membership of the College.
The Discipline Committee proposes to conduct a biennial review to determine if hearing costs
have risen, and if the tariff rate should, in turn, increase. Reviewing the tariff rate on a biennial
basis would ensure that the Committee has a larger sample size of cases to determine if hearingsrelated expenses have increased by a material amount.
In future years, Council may also be asked to consider adjustments to the recovery rate of
estimated fixed costs for a one-day hearing, to address rising costs within the College.
Draft Motion:
That Council approve the introduction of a daily tariff rate of $6,950.00 for discipline hearings,
effective January 1, 2021 and reviewable on a biennial basis.

8

Based on 2019 figures, the fixed costs of holding a one-day hearing are approximately $11,300.

4
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

November 24, 2020

From:

Kim Westfall-Connor, Chair, Executive Committee

Re:

Proposed Amendments to Governance Handbook

___________________________________________________________________________
Background:
One of the responsibilities of the Executive Committee is to conduct an annual review of
the Governance Handbook. Council Members and the Senior Management Team were
invited to comment on the Handbook.
Attached for your consideration are proposed changes (red font) to the Governance
Handbook (Item 7.2.1) based on these comments and other issues or questions that have
arisen throughout the year.
Draft Motion:
THAT the proposed amendments to the Governance Handbook be approved, effective
December 1, 2020.

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO)
Governance Handbook

December 2020
1
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1. INTRODUCTION
1.1. Purpose
This Handbook is to be used for the purpose of orienting Council Members to governance at the
College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (College).
All materials in this Handbook are subject to periodic review and approval by the Council of the
College. Newly elected and appointed Public Council Members* are responsible for familiarizing
themselves with the contents of this Handbook.
* Public Members refers to those Council Members appointed to Council by the Lieutenant
Governor in Council

1.2. CMTO’s Vision
CMTO is at the forefront of evolving professional regulation, inspiring trust and confidence.

1.2.1. CMTO’s Mission Statement
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario is dedicated to excellence in protecting the
public’s interest, guiding its registrants and promoting the highest possible quality of the
practice of Massage Therapy.

4
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1.3.
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1.4. Governance Chart
- College Board of Directors
- Minimum 4 meetings annually
- 6-9 elected members, 5-8 Public Members appointed
- Officers: President, Vice President, Executive Officers,
others as appointed

Council

Executive
Committee

Registration
Committee
- Considers
referrals from
Registrar of
applications that
do not meet
registration
requirements
- Reviews
requests from the
Registrar for
imposition of
terms, conditions
and limitations on
a registration
certificate
- Considers
requests for
exemption to
requirements to
register/maintain
registration
- Ensures
registration
policies and
processes are
transparent,
objective,
impartial and fair
- Provides
oversight of the
certification
examinations

Inquiries,
Complaints
and Reports
Committee
- Investigates
complaints
through staff
- Ensures timely
distribution of all
information,
records and
documents as
required
- Appoints Panels
as needed to
consider
complaints
- Refers
allegations of
professional
misconduct to
the Discipline
Committee

Fitness to
Practise
Committee

- 4 members, at least two Public
Members, elected annually
- Acts for Council between
regular meetings
- Meets when necessary
- Must report actions to Council

Discipline
Committee

- Hears matters
concerning the
physical or
mental capacity
of registrants
- Issues decisions
on registrants'
capacity to
practice
- Orders
revocations,
suspensions and
imposition of
terms, conditions
and limitations of
registration
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- Conducts
hearings of
alleged
misconduct or
incompetence
- Appoints Panels
to hear
allegations
- Issues decisions
and orders for
revocations,
suspensions and
imposition of
terms, conditions
and limitations on
Certificates of
Registration

Quality
Assurance
Committee
- Develops,
monitors,
evaluates and
reports on the
Quality Assurance
Program
- Appoints
Assessors to
conduct peer
assessments
- Reviews peer
assessments
submitted by
Peer Assessors
- Reports all
allegations of
professional
misconduct,
incompetence or
incapacity to the
Inquiries,
Complaints and
Reports
Committee
- Imposes terms,
conditions and
limitations on a
registrant's
Certificate of
Registration

Client
Relations
Committee
- Manages client
relations
program,
including
establishing
measures for
preventing or
dealing with
sexual abuse of
clients
- Develops
guidelines for
interactions
between
registrants and
clients
- Promotes public
knowledge and
understanding of
the College's
sexual abuse
prevention plan
and ensures
regulatory
functions are
accessible to the
public
- Administers the
Funding Program
for clients of
registrants who
are eligible for
funding.
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1.5. A Historic Look at Massage Therapy Care
Massage Therapy has been part of healthcare for centuries. Although there is
no written record for much of the very early period, it is generally accepted
that a form of Massage Therapy was practised by early civilizations in China,
India, Greece and Italy.
There is also little documentation of the emergence and growth of Massage
Therapy in Canada. In the early 1900s, the first practitioners began to emerge,
and it is believed that many of the early Massage Therapists, known as
“masseurs/ masseuses”, emigrated from Europe, especially Sweden, Finland,
Germany, Hungary, and England. The practice of Massage Therapy in Europe
at that time was widely accepted by the medical profession and was
recognized as an important method of healing.
During the First World War, it became apparent that Canadian medical staff could improve their
treatment of wounded Canadian soldiers in their recovery period. The Army trained groups of
nurses in Massage Therapy and sent them to rehabilitation hospitals in England to provide
Massage Therapy as a daily part of the soldiers’ medical treatment. In 1919, Massage Therapy
become a regulated profession in Ontario.
Over time, Massage Therapy gained popularity as a treatment that reduced
stress or sore muscles. The treatment was often provided on a hard-wooden
table and cost $2.00 for a session.
The Drugless Practitioners Act required Massage Therapists to be trained and registered. The
Board of Regents was established to govern all branches of drugless therapy and all Massage
Therapists were required to pass an examination and prove they had relevant training. The
number of registrants in the 1930s was approximately 250. In 1935, each of the branches of
drugless therapy received their own Board, and the Board of Directors of Masseurs was created
as a separate entity to govern the profession. In 1936, Registered Massage Therapists formed a
network known as “Associated Masseurs” which much later became the present Registered
Massage Therapists’ Association of Ontario.
The number of Massage Therapists has grown steadily over the years. Today, there are some
15,000 Massage Therapists registered with the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario. CMTO
is currently one of 26 regulatory colleges that regulate 29 distinct healthcare professions in the
province.
7
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Milestones
2019
2019
2018
2016

2014
2013
2013
2012

2010
2009
2005
2003
2002
1994
1991
1946
1936
1935
1925
1919

This year marks the 100th anniversary of Massage Therapy regulation in
Ontario.
Massage Therapy becomes a regulated profession in Prince Edward Island on
March 1, 2019.
Registration at the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO) reaches
14,567 Massage Therapists.
The four member Colleges of the Federation of Massage Therapy Regulatory
Authorities of Canada (FOMTRAC) release an update to the
Interjurisdictional Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators for
Massage Therapists at Entry-to-Practice (PCs/PIs).
The Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (CMTCA) is
established to approve Massage Therapy programs from coast-to-coast.
Registration at CMTO surpasses 12,000. The College introduces new Practice
Competencies and Performance Indicators (PC/PIs) for the Use of
Acupuncture by Massage Therapists in Ontario.
Massage Therapy becomes a regulated profession in New Brunswick.
FOMTRAC adopts the Interjurisdictional Practice Competencies and
Performance Indicators for Massage Therapists at Entry-to-Practice
(PCs/PIs), a benchmark that ensures Canadians receive safe and effective
Massage Therapy care.
The Ontario Massage Therapist Association (OMTA) is renamed to the
Registered Massage Therapists’ Association of Ontario (RMTAO).
CMTO regulates 10,500 Massage Therapists.
Massage Therapy becomes regulated in Newfoundland and Labrador.
The Federation of Massage Therapy Regulatory Authorities of Canada
(FOMTRAC) is established to promote a common national entry-level
education standard in Massage Therapy care.
CMTO oversees 6,000 registrants.
On Jan. 1st, 1994, the Regulated Health Profession Act, 1991, is proclaimed.
CMTO is established to replace the Board of Directors of Masseurs after the
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 is introduced.
The Canadian College of Massage & Hydrotherapy is established to train
Massage Therapists across Canada.
The Ontario Massage Therapist Association (OMTA) was formed to advocate
on behalf of Massage Therapists.
The province of Ontario expands the professional recognition of Massage
Therapy through the Drugless Practitioners Act (DPA).
The Drugless Practitioners Act (DPA) establishes register of
physiotherapeutic and massage practitioners.
The Drugless Practitioners Act (DPA) is passed in the province of Ontario
(revised in 1925).
8
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1.6. Legislation 1
Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (as amended)
The Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA) sets out the legal and procedural
requirements for all health professions’ colleges. The scope of the RHPA includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Definitions;
Administration of the Act;
Duties and powers of the Minister of Health;
Annual reporting requirements;
Duties, functions and procedures, including qualifications and terms of members of the
Health Professions Regulatory Advisory Council
Rules governing the employees and time limits of the Health Professions Board;
Prohibitions related to controlled or restricted acts, including delegation, exemptions and
exceptions; and
Miscellaneous matters such as, confidentiality, immunity, service by mail, offences and fines
for contravention, responsibilities of employment agencies and employers, Minister’s
powers to require a college to make regulations, the Lieutenant Governor in Council’s
powers to make regulations, and references to health professionals.

Schedule 1: Self-Governing Health Professions
Schedule 2: Health Professions Procedural Code
Schedule 2 of the Procedural Code sets out twelve (12) general objects for the College 2:

This scope of the RHPA is provided only as an introduction and all Council members are expected to be generally
familiar with the details of this Act as well as the Massage Therapy Act (1991, 1996). Note: the Corporations Act
of Ontario does not apply.
2
Steinecke, A Complete Guide to the RHPA, August, 1996.
1
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Objects of the College
The College has the following objects:
1. To regulate the practice of the profession and to govern the registrants in accordance with
the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 and the
regulations and by-laws.
2. To develop, establish and maintain standards of qualification for persons to be issued
Certificates of Registration.
3. To develop, establish and maintain programs and Standards of Practice to assure the quality
of the practice of the profession.
4. To develop, establish and maintain standards of knowledge and skill and programs to
promote continuing evaluation, competence and improvement among the registrants.
5. To develop, in collaboration and consultation with other colleges, standards of knowledge,
skill and judgment relating to the performance of controlled acts common among health
professions to enhance interprofessional collaboration, while respecting the unique
character of individual health professions and their members.
6. To develop, establish and maintain standards of professional ethics for the registrants.
7. To develop, establish and maintain programs to assist individuals to exercise their rights
under this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991.
8. To administer the health profession Act, this Code and the Regulated Health Professions Act,
1991 as it relates to the profession and to perform the other duties and exercise the other
powers that are imposed or conferred on the College.
9. To promote and enhance relations between the College and its registrants, other health
profession colleges, key stakeholders, and the public.
10. To promote inter-professional collaboration with other health profession colleges.
11. To develop, establish, and maintain standards and programs to promote the ability of
registrants to respond to changes in practice environments, advances in technology and
other emerging issues.
12. Any other objects relating to human healthcare that the Council considers desirable.
The Procedural Code further imposes the following two duties on the College:
1. To work in consultation with the Minister to ensure, as a matter of public interest, that the
people of Ontario have access to adequate numbers of qualified, skilled and competent
regulated health professionals; and
2. In carrying out its objects, the College has a duty to serve and protect the public interest.
10

Governance Handbook – December 2020

The scope of the Procedural Code includes the following:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Definitions;
Purpose of sexual abuse provisions;
Corporations Act does not apply;
Objects of the College;
Duties and administration of the College;
Council is the College Board of Directors;
Committees of the College;
Appointments to, and composition of, the Committees of the College;
Powers and reporting of the Council and College Committees;
Registration;
Complaints;
Discipline;
Incapacity;
Appeals to court;
Reinstatement;
Registrar’s powers of investigation;
Quality Assurance Committee;
Patient (Client) Relations Program;
Reporting of health professionals;
Funding for therapy and counselling; and

• Miscellaneous matters relating to the provision of services in French, injunctions, evidence
of Registrar, limitation period, service by mail, obtaining certificates by false pretences,
protection for reporters from reprisals, offence, forms, by-laws and regulation making
authority.

Massage Therapy Act, 1991
The Massage Therapy Act (MTA) and its regulations set out the legal and procedural
requirements for the Massage Therapy profession. The MTA and the regulations under it deal
with:
•
•
•

Definitions;
Scope of Practice;
Restricted titles;
11
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•
•

Offences; and
Regulations
o Examinations;
o Advertising;
o Notice of Meetings and Hearings;
o Records;
o Professional misconduct;
o Registration; and
o Quality Assurance.

12
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2. COUNCIL OF THE COLLEGE
2.1. Role and Responsibilities of the Council
2.1.1. Legislative Framework of the Council
The governing body of the College is the Council, which is the College’s Board of Directors. The
powers, responsibilities and duties of Council are described in the Regulated Health Professions
Act, 1991 (RHPA), the Massage Therapy Act (MTA) and the by-laws of the College. The Council
and its members have a collective and individual legal responsibility for ensuring that the
College regulates in accordance with all mandatory statutes and regulations, as well as the bylaws, standards and policies established by the Council. The Council has a specific duty to serve
and protect the public interest in accordance with the objects of the RHPA.
Nine professional Council Members are nominated and elected by the registrants of the
College’s nine geographic electoral districts. These elections take place for eight of the
geographic electoral districts, every three years (3) on a rotation cycle, on January 11. The
election process is administered by the Registrar as described in the RHPA and By-law No. 2 of
the College. The ninth electoral district is a “virtual” district consisting of school faculty
(academic) members who are elected from amongst the registrants who teach Massage
Therapy, by registrants who meet the eligibility requirements for the ninth academic electoral
district. This election also takes place on January 11 every three (3) years. The election process
is merely a method to enable participation on Council from across the province. Elected Council
Members do not “represent” the registrants who elected them. Once they are elected, they
serve the public interest. Five to eight public Council Members are appointed by order of the
Lieutenant Governor in Council. Executive Officers are elected annually by the Council from
among its members at the first Council meeting of the year. Officers include the President, the
Vice President and two Executive Officers.
The Council is entrusted by, and accountable to, the Ontario Minister of Health and Long-Term
Care and has a special reporting relationship with the Health Professions Regulatory Advisory
Council (HPRAC). HPRAC is composed of from five to seven persons Public Members who are
appointed by the Lieutenant Governor in Council on recommendation by the Minister. HPRAC’s
duties include advising the Minister on various health regulatory activities and monitoring the
Colleges’ effectiveness.

13
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2.1.2. Legislated Functions 3 of the Council
Specific functions of Council as per the RHPA include:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Appointing the Registrar;
Appointing the members of the Statutory Committees;
Receiving annual reports from each of the Statutory Committees;
Making by-laws;
Making regulations; and,
Receiving notice of and making submissions on matters being considered by the Health
Professions Regulatory Advisory Council.

2.1.3. Statutory Duties4 of the Council
Specific duties of Council as per by-laws are to:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Enact, amend, and revoke by-laws.
Amend or adopt regulations subject to the approval of the Lieutenant Governor in
Council.
Develop professional standards, policies and guidelines for the profession.
Create and dissolve Committees other than Statutory Committees, and to prescribe the
mandate, powers and duties of Committees.
Appoint the members and to select Chairs of Committees and to receive quarterly and
annual reports from Committees. Annual Committee reports are to be included in the
Annual Report of the College.

2.1.4. General Role of the Council
The Council has the legislative mandate to protect the public interest.
The public has a right to safety, the right to be informed, the right to choose, the right to be
heard, the right to information, and the right to complain if they are not satisfied with their
care. Council Members serve the public interest and must keep these rights in mind when
making decisions. Working in the public interest means looking at the issues from the
3
4

Steinecke, A Complete Guide to the RHPA, August, 1996.
By-Law No. 4, College of Massage Therapists: November 19, 1999.
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perspective of their impact on the clients of Massage Therapy services, rather than the
perspective of the Massage Therapy profession.
In general, the role of the Council is to oversee all the business and affairs of the College and to
provide strategic leadership to the organization. A primary responsibility is to establish, in
collaboration with the Registrar, the organizational mission, vision, values and strategic
directions. In addition, the Council must define, adopt, and ensure adherence to policies
designed to manage its own affairs.

2.1.5. Collective Responsibilities of the Council
The Council of the College has five primary areas of responsibility, within the context of all
relevant legislation and regulations:

1. To establish the organization’s mission, vision, values, and strategic directions
The Council is responsible for the organization’s future, as expressed in terms of why the
organization is there, where it should be going, how it will get there, and what it has to do to
accomplish its goals. In addition, the Council must establish common values and a process to
evaluate its progress towards achieving its goals.

2. To ensure the financial health of the organization
The Council has responsibility for all financial investments, revenues and expenditures, and is
accountable to the government and the registrants for the management of all funds received
and disbursed. The Executive Committee oversees financial decisions and reports to the
Council.

3. To ensure the organization has appropriate leadership
Council is responsible for appointing, dismissing, giving direction to, and evaluating the
Registrar. The Registrar is responsible for hiring, firing, and managing all other staff.

4. To ensure effective and efficient governance and operational linkages
The Council is responsible for implementing governance structures and processes. The Council
must ensure that it works effectively and that all legal requirements are met.
15
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5. To ensure effective government, public, and registrant relations
The Council, in its role of serving the public interest, must be aware of, and sensitive to, the
changing needs and pressures of all stakeholders, and in particular, the public. Council has a
responsibility to work cooperatively and effectively with the government, the public, the
registrants, and all other stakeholders.

2.1.6. Directors’ and Officers’ Insurance Coverage
Purpose
Directors and Officers insurance indemnifies the College and its Directors and Officers for
wrongful actions which cause financial harm to a third party and result in a lawsuit. The
coverage applies to amounts that the Directors and Officers are legally required to pay as a
result of any claim brought against them as a result of wrongful acts, and includes damages,
judgements, settlements, and defense costs but excludes fines, penalties and regulatory costs.

Directors Liability
Directors and Officers of the College are responsible for their actions and the actions of the
College and in some instances, the actions of other Directors. The courts have assessed
damages against corporations for wrongful actions and in some cases; the laws carry specific
legal responsibilities for Directors.

Legal Costs
The policy contract is designed so that the insurer is responsible to defend the named insured
from legal action due to a wrongful act and to pay the costs and damages subject to the
deductible and policy coverage limit.

Statutory Duties of Directors and Officers
Every Director shall act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the
College and will exercise the care, diligence and skill of a reasonable prudent person. Directors
and Officers can be held personally liable for misuse of funds, misappropriation of funds,
knowledge of illegal or improper acts, making improper loans, fraudulent acts, transactions or
decisions, which are not authorized by the legislation or by-laws of the College.
16
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Directors and Officers must give undivided loyalty and are prohibited from using their position
of trust for personal interests or gain. This includes secret profits from personal transactions,
usurping of a corporate opportunity and conflict of interest.
•

•
•

Duty of Care requires prudence based on common sense. The test is “What a reasonable
prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances”. Diligent attention to
business is essential. Failure to attend meetings, unquestioned reliance on co-directors or
inaction does not lessen the duty of responsibility. A Director cannot escape liability
incurred by resigning. The proper care and protection of the interests of the College must
be considered first.
Duty of Skill varies with the qualifications of the Directors and Officers and the scope of the
College’s activities.
Duty of Prudence requires that Directors and Officers act carefully, deliberately and
cautiously trying to foresee the probable consequences of a proposed course of action.

• Duty of Compliance requires every Director and Officer to comply with the legislation, bylaws and all other statutory law and regulations including the Criminal Code, the
Environmental Protection Act, Income Tax Act, Employment Standards Act, Workplace
Safety and Insurance Act, Pay Equity Act etc. Directors and Officers are joint and severally
liable for improper conduct in the management of funds, breach of trust or
misappropriation of funds and unpaid wages or unsafe working conditions.

2.1.7. Failure to Comply
The potential consequences to Council Members of failure to comply with statutory and
common law requirements include the following:
1.

2.
3.
4.

A failure to fulfil fiduciary duty to the College may result in legal liability both for the
College and the individual Council Member who authorized, permitted, or allowed the
offence to occur.
Council Members who act beyond their authority increase the risk of personal liability.
Any act done in good faith in the performance of a duty under the RHPA is covered by
immunity from prosecution under Section 38.
The College’s errors and omissions insurance policy provides coverage for Council
Members only when they are acting within the scope of their duties and are in
compliance with the obligations to act in good faith and with due diligence and loyalty.
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Potential consequences to the College:
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

The Minister of Health has powers granted under the RHPA (Sec.3, Sec.5) to impose
emergency legislation in circumstances in which the College has refused to act in what
the Minister determines is the public interest.
The most serious sanction available to the Minister of Health with respect to a
regulatory body which is not acting in the public interest, is to remove the privilege of
self-regulation, so that regulation might be carried out directly by the Ministry of Health
and Long-Term Care.
Appointment of a College supervisor by the Lieutenant Governor in Council, upon the
recommendation of the Minister of Health and Long-Term Care, to appoint a Supervisor,
who would exercise all the powers of Council, where the Minister believes that a College
is no longer acting in the public interest or it is otherwise appropriate or necessary.
If time is spent on non-regulatory issues, then College resources will not be available for
matters within its mandate and the College may be seen as improperly exercising its
statutory powers.
The College may suffer the consequences of a loss of respect and credibility in the eyes
of its stakeholders including the Minister, the public, other professions and registrants.
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2.2. Statutory and Other College Committees
2.2.1. Statutory Committees
There are seven (7) Statutory Committees required under the RHPA:
Executive
Client Relations
Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Registration
Discipline

Fitness to Practise
Quality Assurance

The Council, from among its Members on an annual basis, appoints Statutory Committee
Members for one-year terms of office. The President is the Chair of the Executive Committee.
Every other Committee shall elect its own chair from among its Members. Committee
composition is outlined in By-law No. 5, Schedule A.

2.2.2. Standing Committees
Standing Committees are created and dissolved by Council from time to time as needed to
facilitate programs or projects or to provide a forum for ongoing exchange of ideas from which
policies and regulations are established.

2.2.3. Ad Hoc Committees
The Council establishes ad hoc Committees for a specified period of time to address issues or
subject matter that does not fall within any single Statutory or Standing Committee of the
College. All are subject to common policies (see General Protocol for creation of Standing/Ad
Hoc Committees) prescribed by Council and are composed of Council Members and other
appropriate resource persons. Each ad hoc Committee has its own specific terms of reference
that are approved by Council and reviewed at least annually.

Protocol for Creation of Standing/Ad Hoc Committees
Creation of Standing/Ad Hoc Committees will be accomplished as follows:
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1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.

A motion naming the Committee, its task(s), mandate and timelines will be properly
presented to Council and voted on.
If Council approves the working group, then a Chair of the Committee will be
recommended and approved by Council.
Committee Members will also be appointed at this time.
The Committees will report in writing to Council within a set time period providing a full
mandate statement, a list of tasks and outcomes to be accomplished, the time period
anticipated for the project and a budget request.
The requested budget will be reviewed and approved by Council.
Interim reports will be made at regular Council meetings as necessary.
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2.3. Council Position Descriptions and Competencies
2.3.1. President of the College and Chair of Council
Purpose
Within the College, the President is responsible for the overall strategic direction of the College.
The President provides leadership to the College to ensure that the College operates in keeping
with its mandate, as defined in the governing legislation and within approved governance and
accountability requirements.

Key Duties
Procedure
The President is fully informed on all governance matters and is informed, as appropriate, of
high level management and operational matters, chairs the Executive Committee, and presides
over all general and special meetings of the Council. The President also:
•
•
•

•
•
•

•
•
•

Keeps the Council’s discussions on topic and focused on the College’s mandate, vision and
Strategic Plan by periodically summarizing issues;
Participates in the recruitment, and orientation of new Council Members, Committee Chairs
and non-Council Committee Members;
Plays a leading role in supporting and encouraging all Council Committee activities and
in maintaining positive relations among the Council, Committees, non-Council
Committee Members, and stakeholders;
Ensures appropriate Council participation in long term planning and that a process is in place
to evaluate the Council’s decision-making process and overall effectiveness;
Monitors the performance of the Registrar, who manages or delegates all day-to-day
operations of the College;
Ensures the provisions of Governance Policy #4.2 “Council and Registrar Limitations and
Linkages”, budget, and any other established policies are followed, within the context of the
by-laws, Governance Policies and all applicable legislation;
Ensures a Registrar evaluation and reporting process is in place;
Encourages all Council Members to participate in meetings and activities and recognizes
their contributions to College work and decision-making;
Ensures the College meets its legal obligations and complies with its public interest objects
21
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•

Acts as one of the signing Officers for cheques, contracts and other legal documents.; and
Represents the College, along with the Registrar, at the Health Professions Regulators of
Ontario (HPRO)

Strategic Leadership
•
•
•
•

Assists in mentoring and developing Council Members by providing oversight and advice,
and discussing and encouraging their development and learning;
Maintains open, effective and regular communication with the Registrar so that plans and
initiatives are understood;
Acts with integrity and honesty; and
Is guided by the best interests of the public and the College.

College Governance
•
•
•

Ensures the Council has sound governance practices;
Reviews the preparation of budgets; and
Assists in establishing performance measures and targets for the College when required.

Core Competencies
The President will typically have all the qualifications of a Council Member plus the following:
• An experienced leader with ability to set strategic direction, articulate and work towards a
vision and oversee the implementation of plans and strategies to deliver efficient, effective
and high-quality services;
• Comprehensive knowledge of the legislation under the College’s jurisdiction and related laws
and legal processes or the ability to acquire such knowledge;
• In-depth understanding of the professional, institutional, policy and stakeholder context in
which the College operates, or the ability to acquire such understanding;
• Understanding of the College's Governance Policies and supporting procedures;
• Effective communication and interpersonal skills to positively influence and communicate
with staff, stakeholders and the public;
• Understanding of sound financial and operational business processes and practices;
• Commitment to the protection of the public interest within the mandate of the College;
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• Commitment to respect diversity and to maintain fair, transparent processes within the
limitations set by legislation, that meet the highest standards of the College;
• Organization of meetings and agendas so as to preside over productive meetings that start
and end on time, move through the agenda, and accomplish objectives;
• Knowledge of how to resolve conflict and solve problems proactively and seeks consensus
whenever possible; and
• Motivating individuals and groups in the government, the public and the membership to
effectively contribute to the work of the College.
Competency – Strategic Leadership
Definition
Strategic leadership involves approaching initiatives from a strategic perspective, championing
new initiatives and working towards their achievement to protect the public interest. It is
expressed by inspiring, motivating and leading others, guiding the organization by linking longrange vision and concepts to daily work, and demonstrating an understanding of the impact of
internal and external factors on strategies and choices. It also includes adapting strategies when
change is required and taking action to ensure adequate support and resources.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
• Sets strategic direction, articulates the vision and plans for the future;
• Inspires confidence in all stakeholders;
• Ensures processes are in place for Council Members to remain current and have access to
required professional development;
• Understands role in fulfilling the vision, goals and objectives of the College;
• Looks to the future; can discuss emerging theories, concepts and trends, identify possible
approaches, and articulate the merits of each in relation to the community and legislative
context of the College; and
• Considers the impact of internal and external factors on strategies. Associated risks and
opportunities are identified and managed.
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Competency – Impact/Influence
Definition
Impact/influence is the ability to influence, persuade or convince others to adopt a specific course of
action impacting plans, processes, practices and people. It involves influencing others by leading by
positive example, setting high standards and charting a clear and steady course. It also involves the
use of effective strategies, persuasive techniques and facilitation skills to achieve desired results in
sometimes high impact, high risk and complex situations.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
Generally
• Effectively uses strategies to anticipate, identify and respond effectively to different points
of view to build support and agreement; and
• Builds informal and formal support for ideas. Selects information to have specific effects and
uses expert facilitation and knowledge of group process and individual preferences to lead
discussions and overall processes.
Internally
• Creates excellence and influences others by providing opportunities for professional
development of and among members;
• Sets and monitors realistic but challenging Council performance measures and recommends
necessary revisions; and
• Protects independence in College decision-making by following established processes to
handle complaints and communicating standards of interaction and a code of ethical
conduct for decision-making.
Externally
• Has a profile with College stakeholders and acts as a liaison for the College.

24

Governance Handbook – December 2020

Competency – Partnership/Relationship Building
Elements
How the skill / attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
Generally
•

Knows when and how to involve the right group of stakeholders.

Internally
• Builds a collegial environment among Council Members where learning and sharing are the
norm;
• Promotes understanding and tolerance of other points of view by encouraging discussion of
different perspectives; and
• Creates positive and open relationships with the Registrar and senior staff.
Externally
• Enhances and builds informal and formal relationships to share experiences, create synergies
or discuss common issues and solutions;
• Keeps informed regarding the activities of the professional association, and provincial
counterparts;
• Proactively liaises with stakeholders to identify opportunities to build or mend relationships
or seek resolution to common issues;
• Ensures that stakeholders are appropriately engaged to provide input into College plans and
processes, build or repair relationships, or work on common goals; and
• Creates an environment of trust.
Competency – Integrity/Ethics/Values
Definition
Integrity/ethics/values is the willingness to hold oneself and others accountable for acting in
ways, both privately and publicly, that are consistent with stated values, principles and
professional standards.
25

Governance Handbook – December 2020

Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
• Sets the ethical tone and values of the College in internal and external interactions, and
encourages others to act ethically and in keeping with College values;
• Takes actions that are guided in the best interests of the public and the College;
• Takes action based on values even when cost or risk is at stake;
• Has developed personal and professional credibility;
• Facilitates and encourages openness and honesty;
• Emphasizes the importance and impact of integrity and ethics to the roles and
responsibilities of the College;
• Incorporates principles of equity, due process and equal access in College processes;
• Facilitates equal access and respects social and cultural differences for all who appear before
the College;
• Supports, respects and promotes the principles of diversity;
• Supports College decisions; and
• Develops and communicates the College’s Governance Policy #4.11, Council and Committee
Member Code of Conduct and the College’s Confidentiality, Privacy and Conflict of Interest,
Governance Policies and monitors for compliance.
Competency – Professional Awareness
Definition
Professional awareness is the depth and breadth of the knowledge, skill and experience
particular to the position. It involves knowledge of laws, practices, processes, professional skills,
stakeholders and the culture specific to the College environment.
Elements
How the skill / attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
• Possesses knowledge of the legal/procedural and regulatory framework in which the College
and its stakeholders function;
• Demonstrates understanding of the College’s jurisdiction;
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• Possesses current knowledge of the associated stakeholder communities including their
issues, interests and trends;
• Encourages and creates opportunities for Council Members to engage in continuous
learning, professional sharing and development;
• Sets strategic direction, articulates and works towards meeting the College’s vision and
mandate and oversees the implementation of plans and strategies;
• Applies knowledge of legislation and related laws and legal processes or has the ability to
acquire such knowledge;
• Understands the professional, institutional, policy and stakeholder context in which the
College operates, or has the ability to acquire such understanding;
• Understands the College's Governance Policies and supporting procedures;
• Effectively communicates with staff, stakeholders and the public;
• Possesses sound understanding of financial and operational business processes and
practices;
• Demonstrates commitment to the protection of the public interest mandate of the College;
• Demonstrates commitment to respect diversity and to maintain fair, transparent processes
within the limitations set by legislation;
• Organizes efficient and productive meetings and agendas;
• Possesses good conflict resolution and problem solving skills; and
• Motivates stakeholders to effectively contribute to the work of the College.
Competency – College Governance
Definition
College governance is the knowledge and skills required to effectively govern the affairs of the
College, in keeping with the College’s legal framework and mandate. It also involves acting to
achieve public service values such as transparency, efficiency and effectiveness and the
accountability and governance requirements of the government.
Elements
How the skill / attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
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• Understands the government context in which the College functions;
• Assists in creating a Strategic Plan and ensures that sound governance practices are in place
and monitors the Registrar’s performance vis-à-vis the business plan/Strategic Plan;
• Liaises with the Minister/Ministry as appropriate in relation to any issues and initiatives
impacting the College’s mandate and its stakeholder community;
• Provides oversight and advice to Council Members, including encouraging professional
development; and
• Is familiar with and committed to sound governance practices.
Competency – Managing for Results
Definition
Managing for results is the ability to plan for and achieve measurable results and reach
successful outcomes at an individual, College and stakeholder level. It involves a steady focus
on desired outcomes, setting challenging goals, making difficult decisions, and anticipating and
addressing potential obstacles or conflicts to achieve excellence in results.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
• Ensures that the College meets its statutory obligations and carries out its mandate
effectively and efficiently;
• Ensures that sound operational policies are in place to improve College performance;
• Maintains steady control and focus on the image and reputation of the College for
timeliness, clarity and quality;
• Makes recommendations for appointments or re-appointments to Council and Committees
that respect and promote the principles of equity, diversity, quality, merit and district
representation; and
• Applies a risk/opportunity based framework to Council work.
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2.3.2. Vice President of the College
Purpose
The Vice President acts in the absence of the President and Chair and has all the obligations of
the President and Chair as described in that position description. The Vice President is in a
position of trust for the organization, and as such, has an obligation to act honestly, in good
faith and in the best interests of the College at all times.

Key Duties
Leadership and College Governance
In addition to the key duties outlined in the Council Member position description, the Vice
President:
•

Is fully informed on all governance matters, and in the absence of the President and Chair,
for any reason, presides over the Executive Committee and all general and special meetings
of the Council, including the Annual General Meeting. The President and Chair may delegate
any specific duties to the Vice President, as appropriate and as approved by the Council.

• Provides advice to the President;
•

Is responsible for carrying out such duties as are delegated by the President;

• Assists in mentoring new Council Members;
• Maintains current knowledge in Massage Therapy and participates in professional
development opportunities; and

• Acts with integrity and honesty. Actions are guided by the best interests of the public and
the College.

Core Competencies
A Vice President typically has all of the competencies of a Council Member plus three additional
competencies: leadership, college governance and additional elements of professional
awareness as follows.
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Competency – Leadership
Definition
Leadership is the ability and commitment to achieve College objectives by overseeing and
steering the right courses of action to ensure the implementation of strategic plans and
attainment of performance objectives. It includes knowledge of and leadership in the
implementation of policies, processes and practices that align with the Strategic Plan. It also
involves the mentoring, coaching and development of others.
Elements
How the skill / attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.

•
•
•
•

Represents the College when the President is unavailable,
Assists the President to provide leadership to the College;
Assists in identifying emerging policy issues and recommends strategies;
Keeps the President informed of the need for change to processes or practices to
enhance effectiveness and efficiency or meet changing stakeholder needs;

• Participates in various external committees, as required, as a representative of the
College;

• Ensures that the protection of the public interest, the principles of natural justice and
the mandate of the College are honoured in College policies, practices and
procedures;

• Maintains current knowledge in Massage Therapy and participates in professional
development opportunities; and

• Assists in mentoring new Council Members.
Competency – College Governance
Definition
College Governance involves knowledge and skills required for effective governance practices
and acting to achieve transparency, efficiency and effectiveness within the governing
legislation.
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Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Understands and participates in the governance context in which the College functions;
Assists the President by providing oversight in matters of College governance and
accountability;
Possesses a working knowledge of the corporate policy, business planning, financial and
governance framework and supporting procedures pertaining to the College;
Ensures the implementation and monitoring of new processes and practices (College's
procedures, protocols and rules) to govern the College within best practices;
Inspires confidence and is committed to attaining College objectives;
Informs the President of emerging matters of process or practices to enhance
effectiveness and efficiency;
Monitors College performance measures and provides sound advice to the President
regarding changes required to policies and practices; and
Assists in the achievement of the College’s Strategic Plan.

Competency – Professional Awareness
Definition
Professional awareness is the depth and breadth of the knowledge, skill and experience
particular to the position. It involves knowledge of laws, practices, processes, professional skills,
stakeholders and the culture specific to the College environment.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.

• Can explain the trends, cycles and factors that can impact the College’s stakeholders,
processes, practices and policies;

• Can analyze the financial and operational impact of new policies, practices and processes;
• Is cognizant of social, cultural and political issues impacting the College;
•

Maintains current knowledge in Massage Therapy and participates in professional learning
and development opportunities;
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• Demonstrates leadership ability to help the Executive Committee oversee the
implementation of a strategic vision;

• Possesses in-depth understanding of the professional, institutional, policy and community
context in which the College operates;

• Understands and is committed to the College’s Governance Policies;
• Effectively communicates with stakeholders;
• Demonstrates commitment to respect diversity and to maintain fair, transparent processes
within the limitations set by legislation and Governance Policies;

• Understands financial and operational business processes and practices; and
• Is committed to the public interest mandate of the College.
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2.3.3. Executive Officers of the College
Purpose
The Executive Officers provides advice and assistance to the Executive Committee in addition to
all the expectations of a Council Member. The Executive Officers learn the duties of the
President and Chair and the Vice President and keep informed on key issues. The Executive
Officers act, in the absence of the President and Chair and the Vice President, pursuant to the
established duties of those positions.
Within the College, the role of the Executive Officer is to:
•
Establish the College’s organization’s mission, vision, values, and strategic directions.
•
Ensure the financial health of the College.
•
Ensure the College has sufficient and appropriate human resources, including leadership.
•
Ensure effective and efficient governance and operational linkages.
•
Ensure effective government, public, and Council Member relations.

Key Duties
Procedure
An Executive Officer is expected to:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

Understand the mission, vision, values, and goals of the organization, and actively seek
information related to the major issues, challenges, and opportunities which may affect
success.
Be aware of the duties and powers of the Council as set forth in the applicable legislation,
by-laws and established Governance Policies.
Know the College’s statutory, legal, financial and public obligations, and make sure they
are addressed.
Contribute to the College’s success by developing their potential within the context of
their skills and interests.
Prepare for, attend, and actively participate in Council and Committee meetings, and
relevant College activities and events.
Normally participate in one or more Council Committees and may serve as Chair of one or
more Committees when sufficiently oriented to College activities.
Complete any Committee reports, tasks or assignments undertaken on behalf of the
College or Council to the best of their ability, and in a timely fashion.
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•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Provide advice and assistance to other Council Members in areas where they have
specialized knowledge and experience.
Act honestly, in good faith, and in the best interests of the College with respect to
established Governance Policies.
Abide by, support, and maintain confidentiality with respect to decisions taken by the
Council.
Assist with community relations and public speaking, and attend meetings with
government and other key stakeholders, where appropriate.
Recognize that the goal of the College is to serve and protect the public interest.
Recognize that authority is granted by the legislation to the Council as a whole, not to any
Council Member individually, and can only be used in open meetings or executive
sessions, by vote of the majority of Council Members.
Avoid becoming involved in the daily functions of staff.
Delay making judgments until adequate information is presented and has been fully
discussed.
Not let personal feeling towards others affect their decisions.
Actively listen to and comprehend interests and positions, which are sometimes difficult
to ascertain.
Participate in initial training and stay current by engaging in ongoing professional
development selected by the College.
Participate in meetings of the College, and when requested to do so by the President or
Committee Chair or Staff Coordinator, in training and mentoring sessions established for
the administration of the Council or Committee’s role.
Comply with policies and practices set out by the College to meet financial accountability
and administrative requirements.
Work constructively and contribute to a collegial atmosphere at the College by sharing
knowledge, time and experience with other Council Members.
Maintain positive, productive and appropriate relationships with stakeholders.

Integrity and Fair Practices
•
•

Deal with conflict and diverging interests while maintaining decorum, and professional and
respectful interactions among all participants.
Recognize and deal appropriately with situations that may involve an issue of bias or conflict
of interest in accordance with the College’s Governance Policies, particularly Confidentiality
and Conflict of Interest.
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•

Acts with integrity and honesty. Actions are guided by the best interests of the College,
stakeholders and the public.

2.3.4. Council Members of the College
Purpose
Within the College, the role of the Council Member is to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Ensure compliance with the Regulated Health Professions Act and Massage Therapy Act,
1991.
Establish the College’s organization’s mission, vision, values, and strategic direction in the
context of its legislated mandate; monitor adherence.
Ensure the financial health of the College.
Ensure the College has sufficient and appropriate human resources, including leadership.
Ensure effective and efficient governance and operational linkages.
Ensure effective government, public, and Council Member relations.

Key Duties
Procedure
A Council Member is expected to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Recognize that the object of the College is to serve and protect the public interest.
Act honestly, in good faith, and in the best interests of the College at all times.
Understand the mission, vision, values, and goals of the College, and actively seek
information related to the relevant issues, challenges, and opportunities facing the College.
Be aware of the duties and powers of the Council as set forth in the applicable legislation,
by-laws and established Governance Policies.
Know the College’s statutory, legal, financial and public obligations, and make sure they are
addressed.
Prepare for, attend, and actively participate in Council and Committee meetings, and
relevant College activities and events.
Normally participate in one or more Council Committees, and serve as Chair of one or more
Committees when sufficiently oriented to College activities.
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•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Complete any Committee or Council reports, tasks or assignments to the best of their
ability, and in a timely fashion.
Provide advice and assistance to other Council Members in areas where they have
specialized knowledge and experience.
Comply with established Governance Policies related to conflict of interest.
Abide by, support, and maintain internal and external confidentiality with respect to
decisions taken by the Council.
Be prepared to assist with community relations and public speaking, and attend meetings
with government and other key stakeholders, where appropriate.
Be aware that authority is granted by the legislation to the Council as a whole, not to any
Council Member individually, and can only be used in open meetings or Executive sessions
by vote of the majority of Council Members.
Avoid becoming involved in the daily functions of staff.
Delay making judgments until adequate information is presented and has been fully
discussed.
Not let personal feeling towards others affect their decisions.
Make and issue decisions, including written reasons, that are independent and free of
outside influence.
Comply with policies and practices set out by the College to meet financial accountability
and administrative requirements.
Work constructively and contribute to a collegial atmosphere at the College by sharing
knowledge, time and experience with other Council Members.
Maintain positive, productive and appropriate relationships with stakeholders and all
parties appearing before the College.

Integrity and Fair Practices
•
•

•

Deal with conflict and diverging interests while maintaining decorum, due process, and
professional and respectful interactions among all participants.
Recognize and deal appropriately with situations that may involve an issue of bias or conflict
of interest in accordance with the College’s Governance Policies, particularly Confidentiality
and Conflict of Interest.
Act with integrity and honesty, guided by the best interests of the College and the public.
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Core Competencies
Competency - Professional Judgement
Definition
Professional judgement is the exercise of critical thinking, analysis and assessment of
implications, identification of patterns, making connections of underlying issues, and the
ownership of the outcome. Effectively exercised, good professional judgement leads to fair,
efficient processes and brings clarity and resolution to complex and ambiguous situations or
issues.
Elements:
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.

• Applies sound judgement;
• Facilitates open dialogue such that underlying issues and interests are revealed; and
•

Organizes work and priorities in a manner that balances fair process and timely resolution
of matters.

Competency – Listening/Understanding
Definition
Listening/understanding is the ability to gather facts and pertinent information to gain
understanding before drawing conclusions or taking action. It involves active listening and
comprehension of verbal and non-verbal signals to enhance understanding and accurately
assess situations to help resolve issues, problems, conflicts and disputes. It also involves the
ability to encourage others to elaborate on matters and interests.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
•

Ability to listen actively and communicate clearly and effectively;
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•
•
•

Employs effective questioning to elicit further information or gain greater understanding or
clarity;
Assimilates multiple sources of information to make informed decisions that effectively
uncover and address the issues; and
Demonstrates self-control and steady focus in situations of tension and conflict.

Competency – Decision-Making
Definition
Decision-making involves independent analysis and evaluation of data as well as reasoned
thinking and application of relevant law. It requires advanced oral and written communications
skills to explain the College’s position in the face of opposition or tight deadlines and to
articulate clearly the desired course of action or decision.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
• Clearly articulates views and defends positions on complicated and controversial issues.
Competency – Integrity/Ethics/Values
Definition
Integrity/ethics/values refers to the willingness to hold oneself and others accountable for
acting in ways, both privately and publicly, that are consistent with stated values, principles and
professional standards, even when risk is associated.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.

• Understands the public interest object of the College;
• Takes appropriate action based on values after weighing the risks;
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• Conducts affairs with professional integrity such that the College’s values and expected
standards of interaction are clear;

• Acts in accordance with the College’s legislative mandate and organizational values, even
when challenged or in stressful situations;

• Stands by and accounts for value-based decisions and actions even if they are unpopular or
controversial;

• Is aware of and respects social and cultural differences of all who appear before the College;
• Recognizes and questions own personal biases, identifies situations of power imbalance,
and adopts value-based strategies to address them; and

• Complies with the College’s Governance Policies, particularly the Code of Conduct, Conflict
of Interest and Confidentiality Requirements.

• Recognizes and discloses any potential conflict of interest in a timely manner and acts to
eliminate any possible concern of bias.
Competency – Professional Awareness
Definition
Professional awareness is the depth and breadth of the knowledge, skill and experience
particular to the position. It involves knowledge of laws, practices, processes, professional skills,
stakeholders and the culture specific to the College environment.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.
•

Possesses knowledge of and applies the relevant law, legal framework and procedures
relevant to the College’s policies, protocols and rules;

• Understands the College’s jurisdiction;
•

•

Maintains current knowledge of Massage Therapy and the associated stakeholder
communities, their issues and interests, as well as the regulatory and legal framework
governing their activities;
Understands government processes that pertain to Public Appointees and the College's
relationship with the Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care;

• Commitment to ongoing professional development to enhance expertise and remain
current in regulatory matters;
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• Good organizational skills to manage College business and maintain appropriate work/life
balance;

• Self-confidence/self-control and sensitivity to diverse interests in order to maintain
effective control in confrontational and stressful situations;

• Commitment to respect diversity and to maintain fair, transparent processes within the
limitations set by legislation;

• Computer literacy; and
• Ability and willingness to travel.
Competency – Conflict Management
Definition
Conflict management is the knowledge and ability to anticipate, recognize and effectively
resolve disputes. It includes facilitating open and constructive discussions and where possible
win-win solutions, or as necessary, rendering a decision to bring resolution to matters.
Elements
How the skill/attribute is demonstrated for effective performance in the position.

• Sets respectful and productive tone for interactions;
• Actively listens to determine common interests and considers situations from multiple
perspectives;

• Effectively restates positions and asks questions tactfully to identify key issues or values
that are at the centre of the conflict; and

• Creates an environment among Council Members and stakeholders that facilitates positive,
respectful relationships.
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2.3.5. Committee Chairs
Purpose
The purpose of a Committee Chair is to manage the activities of members of the Council
Committees for the purpose of complying with the requirements of the Regulated Health
Professional Act and achieving the strategic goals and mission of CMTO, as mandated by
Council.

Key Duties
With the exception of the Executive, Discipline, and Fitness to Practise Committees,
Committees shall elect their own Chairs from among their members. Committee Chairs are
accountable to the Council and, as such, have an obligation to act honestly, in good faith and in
the best interests of the College at all times. Chairs are fully informed on all Committee matters
and preside over Committee meetings. With the exception of the Executive Committee, a
person may be a Chair for more than one term but no person may be Chair for more than three
consecutive years.
The key duties of Committee Chairs are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Plan the agenda, with staff support, and chair the Committee meetings.
Move the agenda forward, and keep the meeting discussions on topic and focused, by
periodically clarifying and summarizing issues.
Facilitate appropriate Committee participation and encourage input from all members.
Play a leading role in maintaining positive relations among Committee Members.
Ensure that all established policies are followed in accordance with the by-laws and all other
applicable legislation.
Report to Council as appropriate and assist in the preparation of the Annual Report.

For Discipline, Fitness to Practice, ICRC, Quality Assurance and Registration key duties also
include to:
•
•

Select, with staff support, members to lead and participate in panels.
Provide advice and support to members participating in panels, drawing where appropriate
on staff support and external legal advice.
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•

Monitor panel activities and decisions to ensure alignment with legislative requirements,
CMTO policies and procedures, and good practice.

•

Core Competencies
Committee Chairs will typically have all of the qualifications and competencies of a Council
member plus the following additional competencies:
Competency - Leadership
Leadership is the ability and commitment to achieve College and Committee objectives by
overseeing and steering the right course of action to ensure the implementation of Committee
plans and attainment of performance objectives. It includes knowledge of and leadership in the
development and implementation of policies, processes and practices that align with the
Strategic Plan. It also involves the mentoring, coaching and development of others.
Elements:
How the competency may be demonstrated for effective performance as Chair
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Is fully informed on all Committee matters
Establishes respectful and constructive relationship with staff and Committee members
Motivates and engages Committee members, oversees performance, and provides
constructive and respectful feedback to encourage and enable excellence
Assists in identifying emerging policy issues and recommending strategies;
Keeps the President informed of significant developments and change opportunities
Ensures that the protection of the public interest, the principles of natural justice and the
mandate of the College are honoured in the work of the Committee
Assists in mentoring new Committee Members

Competency – Professional Awareness
Professional awareness is the depth and breadth of knowledge, skills and experience particular
to the Committee, involving knowledge of regulatory and CMTO requirements, processes,
procedures, policies and programs specific to the Committee.
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Elements:
How the competency may be demonstrated for effective performance as Chair
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Possesses knowledge of the legal/procedural and regulatory framework for the Committee
Applies knowledge of legislation and related laws and legal processes or has the ability to
acquire such knowledge
Leads efficient and productive meetings and agendas
Possesses good conflict resolution and problem-solving skills
Demonstrates commitment to the protection of the public interest mandate of the College
Motivates Committee members to effectively contribute to the work of the College.
Effectively communicates with staff and Committee members

Competency – Integrity/Ethics/Values
Integrity/ethics/values is the willingness to hold oneself and others accountable for acting in
ways, both privately and publicly, that are consistent with stated values, principles and
professional standards.
Elements:
How the competency may be demonstrated for effective performance as Chair:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sets the ethical tone and values of the Committee/panels and encourages others to act
ethically and in keeping with College values
Has developed personal and professional credibility
Facilitates and encourages openness and honesty
Promotes and encourages principles of equity, due process, and equal access in Committee
processes
Establishes a climate of respect for social and cultural differences for all who appear before
the Committee
Supports, respects and promotes the principles of diversity

Approved by Council: November 2019
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2.3.6. Panel Chairs (ICRC, Quality Assurance and Registration)
Purpose
The purpose of a Panel Chair is to manage the activities of Panel members for the purpose of
complying with the requirements of the Regulated Health Professional Act, 1991.

Key Duties
Panel Chairs have an obligation to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the
College at all times. Panel Chairs are fully informed on all Panel matters and preside over Panel
meetings.
The key duties of a Panel Chair are to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Plan the agenda, with staff support, and chair the Panel meeting.
Move the agenda forward, and keep the meeting discussions on topic and focused, by
periodically clarifying and summarizing issues.
Facilitate appropriate Panel participation and encourage input from all members.
Play a leading role in maintaining positive relations among Panel Members.
Ensure that all established policies are followed in accordance with the by-laws and all other
applicable legislation.
Provide advice and support to members participating in panels, drawing where appropriate
on staff support and external legal advice.
Monitor panel activities and decisions to ensure alignment with legislative requirements,
CMTO policies and procedures, and good practice.

Core Competencies
Competency - Leadership
•
•
•
•
•

Is fully informed on all Panel matters
Establishes respectful and constructive relationship with staff and Panel members
Motivates and engages Panel members, oversees performance, and provides constructive
and respectful feedback to encourage and enable excellence
Ensures that the protection of the public interest, the principles of natural justice and the
mandate of the College are honoured in the work of the Panel
Assists in mentoring new Panel Members
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Competency – Professional Awareness
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Possesses knowledge of the legal/procedural and regulatory framework for the Committee
Applies knowledge of legislation and related laws and legal processes or has the ability to
acquire such knowledge
Leads efficient and productive meetings and agendas
Possesses good conflict resolution and problem-solving skills
Demonstrates commitment to the protection of the public interest mandate of the College
Motivates Panel members to effectively contribute to the work of the College.
Effectively communicates with staff and Panel members

Competency – Integrity/Ethics/Values
•
•
•
•
•
•

Sets the ethical tone and values of the Panels and encourages others to act ethically and in
keeping with College values
Has developed personal and professional credibility
Facilitates and encourages openness and honesty
Promotes and encourages principles of equity, due process, and equal access in Committee
processes
Establishes a climate of respect for social and cultural differences for all who appear before
the Committee
Supports, respects and promotes the principles of diversity
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2.4. Council Meeting Rules of Order
Rules of Order of the Council
1.

2.
3.
4.
5.

6.
7.

8.
9.

10.
11.
12.

Each agenda topic shall be introduced briefly by the person or Committee representative
raising it. Council Members may ask questions of clarification, then the person
introducing the matter shall make a motion and another Council Member must second
the motion before it can be debated. As the Chair has a duty to remain impartial, they
should not make or second a motion as this demonstrates partiality.
When any Council Member wishes to speak, they shall so indicate by raising their hand
and shall address the Chair and confine themselves to the matter under discussion.
Staff persons and consultants with expertise in a matter may be permitted by the Chair to
answer specific questions about the matter.
Observers at a Council meeting are not allowed to speak to a matter that is under debate.
A Council Member may not speak again on the debate of a matter until every other
Council Member who wishes to speak to it has been given an opportunity to do so. The
only exception is that the person introducing the matter or a staff person may answer
questions about the matter. Council Members shall not speak to a matter more than
twice without the permission of the Chair.
No Council Member may speak longer than five (5) minutes upon any motion except with
the permission of Council.
When a motion is under debate, no other motion can be made except to amend it, to
postpone it, to put the motion to a vote, to adjourn the debate or the Council meeting or
to refer the motion to a Committee.
A motion to amend the motion then under debate shall be disposed of first. Only one
motion to amend the motion under debate can be made at a time.
When it appears to the Chair that the debate on a matter has concluded, when Council
has passed a motion to vote on the motion or when the time allocated to the debate on
the matter has concluded, the Chair shall put the motion to a vote.
When a matter is being voted on, no Council Member shall enter or leave the Council
room, and no further debate is permitted.
No Council Member is entitled to vote upon any motion in which they have a conflict of
interest, and the vote of any Council Member so interested shall be disallowed.
Any motion decided by Council shall not be reintroduced during the same meeting except
by a two-thirds vote of the Council Members then present.
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13.
14.

15.
16.
17.
18.

19.
20.
21.

A Committee or Panel Member’s absence from the meeting for which minutes are being
approved does not prevent the member from participating in their correction or approval.
Whenever the Chair is of the opinion that a motion offered to Council is contrary to these
rules or these by-laws, they shall rule the motion out of order and give their reasons for
doing so.
The Chair shall preserve order and decorum, and shall decide questions of order, subject
to an appeal to Council without debate.
The above rules may be relaxed by the Chair if it appears that greater informality is
beneficial in the particular circumstances, unless Council requires strict adherence.
Council Members are not permitted to discuss a matter with observers while it is being
debated including during any recess of the debate.
Council Members shall turn off cell phones during Council meetings and, except during a
break in the meeting, shall not use a cell phone, Blackberry or other electronic device.
Laptops shall only be used during Council meetings to review materials related to the
matter under debate, e.g. electronic copies of background documents, and to make
personal notes of the debate.
Council Members shall be silent while others are speaking.
In all cases not provided for in these rules or by other rules of Council, the current edition
of “Robert's Rules of Order” shall be followed so far as they may be applicable.
These Rules shall apply, with necessary modifications, to meetings conducted by
teleconference or any other electronic means permitted by these by-laws, including audio
or video conferencing.
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2.5. Orientation and Mentoring of New Council Members
2.5.1. Orientation of New Council Members
The purpose of the orientation process is to facilitate a smooth transition from the retiring
Council to the new Council and ensure consistency of operations. Orientation is designed to
provide new Council Members with the information and knowledge they need to become
contributing participants in the work of the College as soon as possible, following their election
or appointment.
When new Council Members are elected to Council or new Public Members are appointed by
order of the Lieutenant Governor in Council, they will be provided with the College Governance
Handbook to help them understand both the College and their roles. It is also incumbent on the
current members of Council to welcome and properly orient them.
It is the responsibility of the Executive Committee, in collaboration with the Registrar, Deputy
Registrar and/or the Directors, to oversee, plan and conduct the orientation program. All
Council Members and staff normally participate in the program through a range of individual
and group orientation sessions. Networking and communication among Council Members
between Council meetings is encouraged.

2.5.2. Council Mentoring Policy
Policy Statement
Mentoring is a key component of the orientation process for new Council Members. Its purpose
is to support new members to further develop their understanding of CMTO and the role of
Council as a whole, as well as to become effective contributors. The program also benefits
other Council Members by provide opportunities to share knowledge and experience in support
of good governance.

Principles
Mentoring activities will be guided by the following principles:
•
•

A commitment to a supportive environment for new Council Members.
Proactive outreach and engagement by the mentor.
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•
•

Open sharing of knowledge, experience and information.
A time limited commitment focused on the new member’s first year.

Elements
•
•

•

•

•

The mentoring of new Council Members takes place under the overall direction and
oversight of the Executive Committee.
At the beginning of the year, the Executive Committee identifies and assigns mentors for
new Council Members. Mentors may be Executive Committee Members, or any appropriate
Council Member as determined by the Executive Committee.
Each mentor conducts a mentoring conversation with their assigned new member at least
once per quarter over the course of the new member’s first year on Council, e.g. within a
week of the most recent Council meeting or at any other point in time that is convenient for
the mentor and new member.
As a general guideline, these conversations are intended be open-ended, with the goal that
the mentor would get a sense of the new member's perceptions of their experience so far
and any emerging issues or areas of concern. Areas for discussion could include:
o Questions the new member might have about aspects of the role and function of
Council, or about being a member of a Committee;
o Whether there are any Council/Committee related skills areas where the new member
feels they could benefit from training or other educational opportunities;
o If new member has any concerns about their participation to date in Council and/or
Committee meetings; and
o If the new member has any questions about CMTO policies, programs, and services.
If there are any agreed upon action items coming out of the conversation, then the mentor
will discuss those with the President of Council. For example, this could involve arranging
for training, arranging for a Committee chair to follow up with the new member, etc.

2.5.3. Mentoring of Non-Council Committee Members
•

•

At the beginning of the year, the Chair of each Statutory Committee will identify an
experienced and knowledgeable Committee Member as a mentor for each non-Council
Committee Member.
Each mentor conducts a mentoring conversation with their assigned non-Council
Committee Member at least once per quarter over the course of the year, or at any other
point in time that is convenient for the mentor and new non-Council Committee Member.
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•

As a general guideline, these conversations are intended be open-ended, with the goal that
the mentor would get a sense of the new non-Council Committee Member's perceptions of
their experience so far and any emerging issues or areas of concern. Areas for discussion
could include:
o Questions the new non-Council Committee Member might have about aspects of the
role and function of the Committee;
o Whether there are any Committee-related skills areas where the non-Council
Committee Member feels they could benefit from training or other educational
opportunities;
o If new non-Council Committee Member has any concerns about their participation to
date on the Committee; and
o If the new non-Council Committee Member has any questions about CMTO policies,
programs, and services.
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2.6. CMTO Council Evaluation & Continuous Improvement Policy
Policy Statement
The purpose of this policy is to ensure that Council is governing effectively, with an ongoing
focus on continuous improvement. It reflects CMTO Council’s commitment to an accountable,
transparent and open process of engagement, evaluation and constructive dialogue.

Principles
Council’s ongoing assessment of its performance with respect to governance will be guided by
the following principles:
•
•
•
•
•
•

A comprehensive approach that includes Council as well as Statutory Committees.
A focus throughout the process on continuous improvement.
Fostering open and honest dialogue on issues and opportunities.
A process that emphasize generating, sharing and discussing insights.
A transparent process that emphasizes Council Members’ collective and individual
accountability.
A role for the Executive Committee to monitor the process to ensure that issues and
opportunities are acted upon in timely manner.

Council Meeting Evaluation
•

•
•

Following each Council meeting, attending members will complete a meeting evaluation,
through an online survey, with four components:
o Quality and timeliness of information;
o Effective meeting management;
o Member performance; and
o Continuous improvement
Council Members will assess the meeting on a scale of one (1) to five (5) and elaborate
through additional comments or observations.
The survey will be administered by a third party, who will collect and analyze the results in a
report to Council. The third party will first submit the report to the Executive Committee for
review and discussion, and the Executive Committee may decide at that point to raise any
relevant matters with the Registrar.
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•
•

The report will then be distributed to all Council Members and an opportunity for discussion
will be included on the agenda of the next Council meeting.
Council meeting evaluation reports will be available to Council Members through the
Council portal and also shared with the Registrar.

Statutory Committee Meeting Evaluation
•

•
•
•

•
•

Following each Statutory Committee meeting, the attending Committee Members will
complete a meeting evaluation, through an online survey, with four components:
o Quality and timeliness of information;
o Effective meeting management;
o Member performance; and
o Continuous improvement
The survey will also include an open opportunity for Committee Members to comment on
their experience as Panel Members.
Committee Members will assess the meeting on a scale of one (1) to five (5) and elaborate
through additional comments or observations.
The survey will be administered by a third party, who will collect and analyze the results in a
report to the Committee. The third party will first submit the report for review to the
Committee Chair and to the Executive Committee. Where appropriate, the contents of the
report may be the subject of further discussion between the Committee Chair and Executive
Committee, and also with the Registrar.
The report will then be distributed to all Committee Members and an opportunity for
discussion will be included in the agenda of the next Committee meeting.
Committee meeting evaluation reports will be made available to all Council Members
through the Council portal and also shared with the Registrar.

Council’s Annual Evaluation
•

Council will complete a self-evaluation at the end of each year, through an online survey,
with six components:
1. Governance;
2. Oversight and decision-making;
3. Financial performance and risk;
4. Leadership;
5. Council performance; and
6. Continuous improvement priorities for the year ahead.
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•

•

•

Council Members will assess their collective performance over the course of the year on a
scale of one (1) to five (5) and elaborate through additional comments or observations.
Assessments will be informed by the CEO/Registrar’s Year End Summary Report, as well as
other background resources such as previous Quarterly Administrative Reports.
The survey will be administered by a third party, who will collect and analyze the results in a
report to Council. The report will also consider any issues or other matters arising from the
evaluations of Council and Statutory Committee meetings conducted during the year.
The third party will submit the report for review and discussion by the Executive
Committee, which may decide at that point to raise any relevant matters with the Registrar.

• The report will then be distributed to all Council Members and an opportunity for discussion

•

will be included in the agenda of the next Council meeting, including confirmation by the
incoming Council and of continuous improvement priorities for the year ahead.
Council annual evaluation reports will be made available to all Council Members through
the Council portal and also shared with the Registrar.
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3. COMMITTEES OF THE COLLEGE
3.1. Committee Reporting Process
General
All Committees report to Council on a regular basis in accordance with the legislation and the
by-laws of the College. Statutory Committees are required to report quarterly and to submit an
annual written report summarizing the Committee’s activities for inclusion in the Annual Report
of the College. All other Committees are required to submit quarterly written reports as
prescribed by Council. The Chairs of Committees are responsible for ensuring all required
reports are submitted in a timely fashion.

Protocol for Reports to Council
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

6.

Date of Report.
Title of Committee.
Name of Committee Chair.
Summary of tasks/projects completed in previous quarter.
Summary of ongoing projects/tasks: Include any attendance at Health Profession
Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) Federation working groups, seminars, workshops,
meetings, etc. that may be relevant to the Committee's ongoing work.
List of items being brought to Council for decision.

Protocol for Submissions for Council Decision
1.
2.
3.
4.

5.

Date of Report.
Title of Committee.
Chair of Committee's name.
Background: Provide a short summary of any information Council will need to make a
decision on the matter being submitted for their consideration. Include a concise history
of the item and other sources of information considered as well as others consulted in
the process.
Position of the Committee: Provide the Committee's opinion and recommendations on
the matter under consideration and the supporting rationale. If the Committee did not
agree, then state this fact and the reasons for the dissenting opinions.
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6.
7.

Draft motions for Council: List the motions for Council consideration.
Actions: List the actions or consequences the Committee believes may arise from the
decisions.
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3.2. Terms of Reference (TOR)
3.2.1. Executive Committee
Statement of Purpose
The Executive Committee assumes leadership, in collaboration with the Council, the
committees and the Registrar, in its financial monitoring, strategic planning, governance and
supervisory responsibilities. The committee monitors administration of the College and relies
on the Registrar and other staff to implement its decisions.
The Executive Committee assists the Council in fulfilling its financial monitoring responsibilities
related to quality and integrity of financial reporting and control systems.
The Executive Committee assures fair presentation of the financial position and results of
operations of the College in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles
(GAAP); ensures that appropriate financial reporting systems and internal controls are
maintained and are operating effectively for the proper recording of transactions and
protection of assets; oversees the College’s compliance with legal, regulatory and contractual
obligations; and monitors the risk management practices of the College.
The Executive Committee is expected to operate in compliance with the College’s Code of
Conduct, policies, by-laws and regulations.
Accountability and Authority
The Executive Committee is a statutory committee of the Council, and as such, reports, and is
accountable to the Council of the College. The Committee has all the powers of the Council with
the exception of making, amending, or revoking by-laws or regulations. The Council grants the
Executive Committee the authority to fulfill the specific terms as noted in its terms of reference.
The Committee addresses and acts on matters requiring immediate attention between regular
meetings of Council. The Committee must report to Council on any decisions made between
regular meetings and must report annually on its activities. However, these decisions do not
need to be ratified.
The Executive Committee shall have access to staff, documents and any other resources
necessary to carry out its responsibilities. The Executive Committee shall have the authority to
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make inquiries and conduct reviews and may require such information and explanation from
management (the Registrar and Directors) as it considers reasonably necessary. The Executive
Committee has the authority to engage outside advisors where appropriate and in consultation
with the Registrar, except if the advisor relates specifically to the matters involving the
Registrar’s position.
The Executive Committee is empowered to require management to promptly inform the
Executive Committee and external auditor of any material misstatement or error in the
financial statements.
Standard of Care and Reliance on Experts
In the discharge of their duties under the Executive Committee’s mandate, each member of the
Executive Committee shall be obliged to exercise all the care, diligence and skill that a
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances where they are dealing
with the affairs and property of another person.
In the discharge of their duties the members of the Executive Committee may rely in good faith
upon the report and findings of any expert engaged by the Executive Committee to report upon
the matter under consideration.
Executive Committee Composition and Member Terms
The Executive Committee is composed of the four (4) Officers* of the College, including the
following:
• President;
• Vice-President; and
• (2) Executive Officers.
*At least two of the officers must be appointed Public Council members.
(November 25, 2019)
Committee members are elected from among members of Council, at the first Council meeting
of the year.
All members of the Executive Committee should be sufficiently versed in financial matters to
understand the College’s accounting practices and policies and major judgments involved in
preparing the financial statements.
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All members of the Executive Committee shall be free of any relationship that, in the opinion of
the Council, would interfere with their individual exercise of judgment.
Operating Principles
The Executive Committee shall conduct itself in accordance with the following operating
principles:

1. Conflict of Interest Disclosure
Members must declare conflicts of interest prior to the discussion of issues or at any time a
conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest arises.
A conflict of interest refers to situations in which personal, occupational or financial
considerations may affect or appear to affect the objectivity or fairness of decisions related to
the committee activities. A conflict of interest may be real, potential or perceived in nature.
Members must declare potential conflicts to the Chair of the committee and must either absent
themselves from the discussion and voting or put the decision to the committee on whether
they should be absent themselves.
Where a Council or Committee Member believes that they may have a conflict of interest in any
matter which is the subject of deliberation or action by Council or its Committees, they shall:
• Consult, as needed, with the President and/or the Registrar or appropriate staff person,
and where there appears to be a conflict of interest:
• not take part in the discussion of, or vote on, any question in respect of the matter;
• absent themselves from the portion of any meeting relating to the matter; and
• not attempt in any way to influence the voting or do anything that might be perceived
as attempting to influence the decision of other members on the matter.
2. Communications
The Executive Committee members will maintain direct, open and frank communications with
management, the Council, the external auditor and other key advisors as appropriate.

3. Information Needs and Timing
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The Executive Committee shall communicate its expectations to management and the external
auditor with respect to the nature, timing and extent of its information needs. The Executive
Committee expects that written meeting materials will be received by the Executive Committee
members at least one week in advance of the regular meeting dates.
4. In Camera Meetings
The Executive Committee members shall, when deemed appropriate, meet in private session
with the external auditor; with management and as Executive Committee members only, to
discuss matters relevant to the Executive Committee’s mandate. If meeting with Executive
Committee members only, the date, time and location of the meeting and a brief summary of
the topic of discussion must be provided to the Office of the Registrar.
5. Executive Committee Self-Assessment
The Executive Committee shall annually review, discuss and assess the performance of the
Executive Committee and its members and report its findings to the Council.
6. Agenda / Minutes
An agenda will be provided by the Registrar to each member of the Executive Committee prior
to each meeting. Executive Committee members may recommend agenda items subject to
approval of the agenda by the Executive Committee. Minutes of each meeting of the Executive
Committee will be prepared and distributed to each member of the Executive on a timely basis.
All meeting minutes will be made available to the external auditor as part of the annual audit
procedures.
7. Annual Review of Terms of Reference
On an annual basis the members of the Executive Committee will review the Terms of
Reference of the Executive Committee and make recommendations to the Council, as
necessary.

8. Other Duties
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The Executive Committee will perform any other activities consistent with the Terms of
Reference as the Council deems necessary or appropriate.
Operating Procedures
The Executive Committee shall conduct itself in accordance with the following operating
procedures:
1. Meetings
Meetings may be convened at the request of any member of the Executive Committee or
management, but in no circumstances less than four times per year.
The Executive Committee shall meet with the external auditor no less than two times per year
to review the results of the audit and approve the audited financial statements of the College.
Any member of the Executive Committee may require the attendance of the external auditor at
any meeting of the Executive Committee.
Meetings may be conducted in person, by teleconference, electronically, or by video
conference or by any individual member participating by teleconference or video conference.
3. Quorum and Decision Making
A quorum of the Executive Committee is consistent with the by-laws and shall be 50% plus one
of the committee members.
4. Reporting
The Executive Committee shall report to the Council as often as necessary but at least annually.
Reporting shall normally be made through the Chair of the Executive Committee.
Responsibilities
1.

Risk Management

The Executive Committee is responsible for:
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•

•
•

•

2.

Reviewing and evaluating the critical risks and uncertainties as determined by management
that may affect the College, including but not limited to the insurance protection,
environmental risk, political factors, treasury/credit and other areas as determined from
time-to-time;
Periodically reviewing any emerging accounting issues and their potential impact on the
College’s financial statements;
Obtaining reasonable assurance from discussions with and/or reports from management
and the external auditor that the College’s accounting systems and internal control systems
are efficient, effective and operating continuously; and
Directing the external auditor’s examinations to specific areas as deemed necessary by the
Executive Committee.

Financial Reporting and Compliance

Financial Reporting
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
•

•
•

•

•
•

Reviewing the quarterly and annual financial statements of the College and assessing the
selection, application and consistency of the Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles used in preparing the financial statements;
Reviewing the significant estimates and matter of judgment used in preparing the financial
statements and significant variances from budget or comparable results of prior periods;
Reviewing the auditor management letter detailing financial statement errors,
presentation/disclosure matters, and any other significant findings identified by the
external auditor during the audit. The Committee will evaluate management’s response to
these findings, as well as the status of remediation against any significant issues reported
previously;
Reviewing the report from management and the Management Discussion if applicable, a
Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) to be included in the Annual Report and
reporting its findings to the Council. The Committee shall be consulted on any other
financial information presented in the Annual Report;
Reviewing the appropriateness of and approving changes to the financial and accounting
policies; and
Reviewing all material information presented with the financial statements, including any
financial information and analysis included in the annual report.
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Relationship with External Auditor
The Executive Committee is responsible for:

• Reviewing the engagement letter and projected audit fee;
• Reviewing the scope of the audit, including areas of audit risk, timetable, deadline,
materiality limits and the extent of internal control testing;

• Reviewing and making recommendations, as appropriate, on any matter relating to the
external audit of CMTO’s accounts;

• Reviewing the performance, independence and objectivity of the external auditor, at least

•

annually. This includes a review of all relationships and engagements between the auditor
and CMTO for non-audit services that may reasonably be thought to bear on the
independence of the auditor; and
Recommending to Council annually the appointment of the CMTO’s auditor.

Other Financial Responsibilities
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
Reviewing and making recommendations as appropriate on:
•
•
•

The Draft Annual Work Plan and Draft Budget for approval by the Council;
The financial implications of any significant changes to approved budgets and other major
undertakings or projects that may be contemplated during the year; and
The banking and other financing arrangements of the College.

3. Other Duties and Responsibilities

• To act for the College on any matter requiring immediate attention between scheduled
Council meetings, and report all decisions and/or actions to Council at its first subsequent
meeting;

• To consider and evaluate emerging and external developments of significance to the
College’s future, and where indicated, make specific recommendations to the Council;

• To review and prioritize issues of potential importance to the Council and the College, and
approve the agenda for meetings of the full Council;

• To give direction and support, and to provide advice and counsel, to the Registrar on
matters of importance to the organization;
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•

To manage, conduct, and make decisions regarding the evaluation of the Registrar’s
performance in accordance with Council Governance Policy #4.1 Registrar/CEO
Performance Appraisal and Evaluation and to ensure that incoming (new) Executive
Committee members are briefed on expectations for the Registrar in the coming year;

• To negotiate conditions of the Registrar’s employment and contracts as required;
• To monitor an ongoing organization-wide strategic planning and annual review and selfassessment process that includes an evaluation of Committee structure and effectiveness
and includes participation by the Registrar and all Council members;

• To monitor an orientation and mentoring process that enables all new Council and
Committee members to become fully informed and contributing participants as quickly as
possible following their nomination and election;

• To monitor the provision of development opportunities and learning activities, for the

•

Council, Officers and Committee members that will enhance the effectiveness of the College
and the growth of its individual Council members;
To make referrals to College committees regarding matters within their respective
mandates, in accordance with legislation and by-laws;

• To consider for approval the candidates recommended by the Fund Administrator to
receive funding from the Massage Therapy Research Fund.

• To work collaboratively with the Registrar to provide written feedback to the Public
•
•

Appointments Branch in the question of reappointment of public members; and
The President and Registrar, or their designates, meet twice annually or as needed with the
Executive Director and President of the professional association (RMTAO).
To annually review applications for the position of non-Council members and, based on the
required competencies, recommend the selection of non-Council members to Council for
ratification.

4. Internal Control Environment
The Executive Committee is responsible for:
•

•

Reviewing and considering any matters relating to the adequacy of internal controls and
any other reports from management or others on significant control deviations or
indications of fraud and the corrective action undertaken with regard thereto; and
Overseeing the status and handling of reports of possible fraudulent or dishonest use of
misuse of College resources or property by management, staff, consultants, volunteers or
registrants.
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5. Corporate Governance
The Executive Committee is responsible for:

• Ensuring there are adequate systems and practices in place to provide reasonable assurance
of compliance with laws, regulations and standards of ethical conduct, with respect to the
financial affairs of the College;

• Reviewing, as required, reports from management and others relating to the College’s
compliance with laws, regulations and contractual obligations that it is subject to;

• Receiving and reviewing updates from management and general counsel on compliance

•

matters and litigation claims or other contingencies that could have a significant impact on
the financial affairs of the College;
Annually reviewing and making recommendations, as appropriate, on the Governance
Handbook.

Approved by Council: April 20, 2012
Amended February 2014, May 2014, December 2015, November 2019, May 2020
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3.2.2. Client Relations Committee – Terms of Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Client Relations Committee has responsibility for all programs and measures that are
designed to address, preventing or dealing with sexual abuse of clients by registrants. This
responsibility has been extended to address any aspect of relations between registrants and
their clients.

Accountability and Authority
The Client Relations Committee reports to the Council of the College.

Duties and Responsibilities
1. To develop and monitor the client relations program that includes measures for preventing
or dealing with sexual abuse of clients through the Sexual Abuse Prevention Plan;
2. To establish educational requirements for registrants, training for the College’s staff, and
guidelines for the conduct of registrants with their clients regarding preventing and dealing
with sexual abuse;
3. To develop programs to promote public knowledge and understanding of College initiatives
to prevent sexual abuse;
4. To ensure that information regarding the College’s regulatory and public protection
mandate is accessible to the public;
5. To provide a written description of the program, and reports of any changes made to the
program, to Council and the Health Professions Regulatory Advisory Council;
6. To administer the College’s Funding for Therapy and Counselling Program that provides
payment for therapy and counselling to clients who are eligible for funding; and
7. To provide Council with a summary of the Committee’s activities related to the College’s
Funding for Therapy and Counselling Program.

Size and Composition
The Client Relations Committee is composed of four (4) members, including the following:
•
•

One (1) elected member of Council;
Two (2) appointed Public members of Council; and
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•

One (1) non-Council member of the College.

Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Client Relations Committee is approximately one (1)
year. Committee Members are appointed annually, from among the members of Council and
the College, at the first Council meeting of the year. A Council Member is limited to serving
three (3) consecutive years at a time as a member of the Committee.

Meetings
The Client Relations Committee will meet as required, at the call of the Chair of the Committee.
Meetings can be conducted by correspondence, in person, or by teleconference or
videoconferencing.

Quorum and Motions
A quorum for a meeting shall be 50 percent plus one. Motions can be approved by a simple
majority, providing that a quorum has been established.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.

Staff Support
Director, Policy and Communications.
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3.2.3. Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee (ICRC) – Terms of
Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is responsible for handling registrant-specific
concerns regarding professional misconduct, incompetence and incapacity from various
sources, e.g., formal complaints, mandatory reports, information coming to the attention of the
Registrar.

Accountability and Authority
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee receives its authority from the Regulated
Health Professions Act, 1991 (RHPA). As a Statutory Committee of the Council of the College, its
responsibilities and procedures are established in the Health Professions Procedural Code, being
Schedule 2 of the RHPA.
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee reports to the Council of the College.

Duties and Responsibilities
1. To oversee the investigation of formal complaints or Registrar’s Reports regarding the
conduct or actions of a registrant;
2. To consider the information, records and documents relevant to each matter and to
determine a course of action;
3. To establish a Panel, selected by the Chair, to investigate each matter in accordance with
CMTO’s Conflict of Interest Policy;
4. To give precedence to matters where the Committee has directed the Registrar to impose
an interim order on a registrant’s Certificate of Registration;
5. To provide written decisions and reasons to the registrant and/or complainant, except for
matters referred to the Discipline Committee or Fitness to Practise Committee;
6. To advise all parties to formal complaints of the right to request a review of the Panel’s
decision to the Health Professions Appeal and Review Board (HPARB);
7. To ensure Panels dispose of each matter in a timely manner;
8. To delegate to staff the responsibility of managing investigations and providing the results
of investigations to the Committee; and
9. To develop and maintain all policies and documents regarding the ICRC’s process.
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Size and Composition
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is composed of:
•
•
•

Three (3) elected members of Council;
Three (3) appointed Public members of Council; and
At least four (4) non-Council Members of the College.

A Panel is composed of at least three (3) members. At least one (1) Public Member must be
included on each Panel.

Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee is
approximately one (1) year. Committee Members are elected or appointed annually, from
among the members of Council and the College, at the first Council meeting of the year. There
is no limit to the number of terms a person may serve but no person may be an elected Council
Member for more than nine (9) consecutive years.

Meetings
The Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee will meet as required, at the call of the Chair
of the Committee. Meetings can be conducted electronically, in person, or by teleconference
or videoconferencing.

Quorum and Motions
A quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be 50 percent plus one. Motions can be
approved by a simple majority, providing that a quorum has been established.
A Panel must be composed of at least three (3) members of the Committee for quorum.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.
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Staff Support
Director, Professional Conduct and Manager, Investigations.
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3.2.4. Discipline Committee – Terms of Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Discipline Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of professional
misconduct or incompetence against registrants.

Accountability and Authority
The Discipline Committee reports to the Council of the College.
The Discipline Committee receives its authority from the Regulated Health Professions Act,
1991 (RHPA). As a Statutory Committee of the Council of the College, its responsibilities and
procedures are established in the Health Professions Procedural Code, being Schedule 2 of the
RHPA.

Duties and Responsibilities
1.
2.

3.

4.
5.
6.

7.

To establish Panels, selected by the Chair, to conduct a hearing in accordance with
CMTO’s Conflict of Interest Policy;
To conduct hearings of allegations of a registrant’s professional misconduct or
incompetence that have been referred by the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports
Committee;
To give precedence to matters where the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee
has directed the Registrar to impose an interim order on a registrant’s Certificate of
Registration;
To ensure transcripts of all oral evidence presented at hearings are produced and
available to the parties, on their request and at their expense;
To provide written decisions and reasons to the parties of a hearing;
To ensure that the results of a hearing are made public;
To hear a registrant’s application for reinstatement of a Certificate of Registration, on
referral from the Registrar, if the certificate was suspended or revoked on the grounds
of professional misconduct or incompetence; and
To develop and maintain all policies and documents regarding the disciplinary process.
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Size and Composition
The Discipline Committee is composed of:
•
•

All Council members; and
At least two (2) non-Council Members of the College.

A Panel is composed of at least three (3) and no more than five (5) members of the Discipline
Committee. At least one (1) Professional Council Member and two (2) Public Members must be
included on each Panel.

Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Discipline Committee is approximately one (1) year.
Committee members shall be elected or appointed annually, from among the members of
Council and the College, at the first Council meeting of the year. There is no limit to the
number of terms a person may serve but no person may be elected to Council for more than
nine (9) consecutive years.
The Chair of the Discipline Committee may serve more than one (1) term but no person may be
Chair for more than three (3) consecutive years.
If the term of office of a Discipline Committee Member who is serving on a Panel expires or is
terminated after a discipline hearing has commenced and evidence has been heard, then the
individual is entitled to continue to be a member of the Panel for the purposes of completing
the hearing and/or issuing a decision.

Meetings
The Discipline Committee will meet as required, at the call of the Chair of the Committee.
Discipline Panel hearings may be conducted in person, in writing or electronically.

Quorum and Motions
A quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be 50 percent plus one. Motions can be
approved by a simple majority, providing that quorum has been established.
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A quorum for a Panel is three (3) members and must include one (1) Public Member.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.

Staff Support
Director, Professional Conduct and Manager, Hearings.

72

Governance Handbook – December 2020

3.2.5. Fitness to Practise Committee – Terms of Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Fitness to Practise Committee is responsible for hearing and determining allegations of
incapacity made against a registrant.

Accountability and Authority
The Fitness to Practise Committee reports the Council of the College.
The Fitness to Practise Committee receives its authority from the Regulated Health Professions
Act, 1991 (RHPA). As a Statutory Committee of the Council of the College, its responsibilities
and procedures are established in the Health Professions Procedural Code, being Schedule 2 of
the RHPA.

Duties and Responsibilities
1. To establish Panels, selected by the Chair, to conduct a hearing in accordance with CMTO’s
Conflict of Interest Policy;
2. To conduct hearings of all allegations of a registrant’s incapacity that have been referred by
the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee;
3. To give precedence to matters where the Inquiries, Complaints and Reports Committee has
directed the Registrar to impose an interim order on a registrant’s Certificate of
Registration;
4. To provide written decisions and reasons to the parties of a hearing;
5. To ensure that the results of a hearing are made public;
6. To hear applications for variation of a term, condition and/or limitation imposed on a
Certificate of Registration or applications for reinstatement following the revocation or
suspension of a Certificate of Registration; and
7. To develop and maintain all policies and documents regarding the Fitness to Practise
process.

Size and Composition
The Fitness to Practise Committee is composed of:

73

Governance Handbook – December 2020

*

All Council Members

A Panel is composed of at least three (3) members. At least one (1) Public Member must be
included on each Panel.

Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Fitness to Practise Committee is approximately one (1)
year. Committee Members are appointed annually, from among the members of Council, at the
first Council meeting of the year. There is no limit to the number of terms a person may serve
but no person may be an elected to Council for more than nine (9) consecutive years.
The Chair of the Fitness to Practise Committee may serve more than one (1) term but no person
may be Chair for more than three (3) consecutive years.

Meetings
The Fitness to Practise Committee will meet as required, at the call of the Chair of the
Committee.
Fitness to Practise Panel hearings may be conducted in person, in writing or electronically.

Quorum and Motions
A quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be 50 percent plus one. Motions can be
approved by a simple majority, providing that a quorum has been established.
A quorum for a Panel is three (3) members.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.

Staff Support
Director, Professional Conduct and Manager, Hearings
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3.2.6. Quality Assurance Committee – Terms of Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Quality Assurance Committee has responsibility for overseeing the development and
implementation of a Quality Assurance Program in accordance with the Regulated Health
Professions Act, 1991 and College regulations.

Accountability
The Quality Assurance Committee reports to the Council of the College.

Responsibilities
1. To oversee the self-assessment, continuing education/professional development and peer
assessment components of the Quality Assurance Program;
2. To ensure a sufficient number of Peer Assessors are trained and available to conduct peer
assessments for select registrants on an annual basis;
3. To ensure registrants who are selected to participate are provided with appropriate notices
and documentation; To refer to the Investigations, Complaints and Reports Committee, the
name of any registrant and allegations that indicate a registrant may have committed an act
of professional misconduct or may be incompetent or incapacitated;
4. To review the Standards of Practice on a regular basis for currency and to address new
issues;
5. To make recommendations to Council regarding continuous quality improvements of the
College to fulfil strategic objectives; and
6. To develop policy as needed.

Size and Composition
The Quality Assurance Committee is composed of at least five (5) members, including the
following:
•
•
•

At least two (2) elected members of Council;
At least two (2) appointed Public members of Council; and
At least one (1) non-Council member of the College.
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Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Quality Assurance Committee is approximately one (1)
year. Committee Members are appointed annually, from among the members of Council and
the College, at the first Council meeting of the year. A member may serve on the Committee for
no more than three (3) consecutive years.

Meetings
The Quality Assurance Committee will meet eight (8) to ten (10) times a year or at the call of
the Chair of the Committee. Meetings may be conducted electronically, in person, or by
teleconference or videoconferencing.

Quorum and Motions
A quorum for a meeting of the Committee shall be a majority, including at least one appointed
Public member of Council. Motions can be approved by a simple majority, providing that a
quorum has been established. A quorum for a Panel is three (3) members.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.

Staff Support
Director and Manager, Professional Practice.
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3.2.7. Registration Committee - Terms of Reference
Statement of Purpose
The Registration Committee has responsibility for determining the eligibility for registration of
all applicants where there is a question about capacity, training, experience or education,
and/or when the Registrar believes that terms, conditions or limitations should be imposed on
a certificate.

Accountability and Authority
The Registration Committee reports to the Council of the College.

Responsibilities
1. To conduct reviews of applications that the Registrar proposes to refuse or in cases where
terms, conditions or limitations are recommended;
2. To evaluate non-standard applications, including Massage Therapy Evaluation and
Credential Assessment (MTECA) applicants;
3. To establish a Panel of at least three (3) members of the Committee, one of whom must be
a Public Member, selected by the Chair, to conduct a review of applications where the
Registrar proposes to refuse to register an applicant or proposes to register with terms,
conditions or limitations and the applicant does not consent to the imposition;
4. To make orders by Panel directing the Registrar to issue or refuse a Certificate of
Registration, or to impose terms, conditions and limitations on a certificate;
5. To give the applicant notice of an order, and the written reasons for it, and the applicant’s
right to require a hearing or review by the Health Professions Review and Appeal Board
(HPARB);
6. To ensure all appropriate notices and relevant documentation are provided to the applicant
and other parties to a registration proceeding;
7. Where a matter is referred back to the Committee from HPARB, to establish a Panel of at
least three (3) members of the Committee, one of whom must be a Public Member,
selected by the Chair, to conduct a review. Committee Members who served on the original
Panel that heard the matter are not eligible to sit on the review Panel;
8. To review requests from registrants or applicants regarding completion of the Refresher
Course requirements; and
9. To provide oversight to CMTO’s Certification Examinations.
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Size and Composition
The Registration Committee is composed of at least five (5) members, including the following:
• Two (2) elected members of Council;
• Two (2) appointed Public members of Council; and
• One (1) non-Council Member of the College.
A Panel shall be composed of at least three persons, at least one of whom shall be a Public
Member. person appointed to the Council by the Lieutenant Governor in Council.

Term of Office
The term of office for members of the Registration Committee is approximately one (1) year.
Committee Members are appointed annually from among the members of Council and the
College (for non-Council Members) at the first Council meeting of the year. Committee
Members are limited to serving three (3) consecutive years at a time as a member of the
Committee.

Meetings
The Registration Committee will meet as required, at the call of the Committee Chair. Meetings
can be conducted by correspondence, in person, or by teleconference or videoconferencing.

Quorum and Motions
A majority of the members of the Committee constitute a quorum. Motions can be approved by
a simple majority, providing that a quorum has been established. Three members of a Panel
constitute a quorum.

Annual Review of Terms of Reference
The terms of reference will be reviewed annually.

Staff Support
Registration Services Staff.
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4. GOVERNANCE POLICIES
4.1. Registrar/CEO Performance Evaluation
General
The annual performance evaluation of the Registrar and Chief Executive Officer (Registrar) is
one of the most important tasks undertaken by the Council and is coordinated by the President
and Executive Committee. The process is designed to foster a mutually supportive and
respectful relationship among the Registrar, Executive Committee and Council, and sets the
stage for effective governance and management of the College. No single relationship is more
important for organizational success.

Specific Components
The Executive Committee will oversee the annual performance evaluation process as
established by Council and will retain an external advisor to administer the process.
The performance evaluation process will include the following components:
1. Annual performance criteria developed by Executive Committee and the Registrar, subject
to revision from time to time, and approved by Council.
2. A year-end summary report prepared by the Registrar that describes progress and
accomplishments against the annual performance criteria, and that is vetted by Executive
Committee before it is shared with Council.
3. An online survey of individual Council Members to obtain their input on the CEO’s
performance against the annual performance criteria, with reference to the Registrar’s
year-end summary report as a resource.
4. Online survey input from selected external stakeholders identified by Executive
Committee in consultation with the Registrar and using criteria established by Executive
Committee and the Registrar and subject to revision from time to time.
5. Anonymous/non-identifying online survey input from the senior management team
provided by the senior management team using criteria established by Executive
Committee and the Registrar.
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6. Completion by the Registrar of a self-evaluation using the same criteria as Council
Members.
The external advisor will collect and analyze the input, and present a report on the results to
Executive Committee.
Executive Committee will discuss the input and reach agreement on the evaluation, including
any related compensation changes. Executive Committee may also identify one or two
individual developmental priorities for the Registrar to focus on in the coming year, i.e.
personal skills development, outreach, relationship building, etc.
At its next meeting, Council will be briefed on the results of the evaluation and Executive
Committee decisions related to compensation.
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4.2. Council and Registrar Limitations and Linkages
General
The Council of the College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (the College), through the
Executive Committee, has final authority over the Registrar/Chief Executive Officer (Registrar).
The Registrar reports to, and receives ongoing direction and support through, the President and
the Executive Committee.
The decision of when to establish, review, negotiate, or terminate the Registrar’s employment
agreement (HR Policies) or contract, and under what conditions, is the ultimate responsibility of
the Council. However, it is the job of the Executive Committee to review employment
provisions with the Registrar as part of the annual performance appraisal process and to
present any recommended changes to the Council for consideration.
Registrar performance is directly linked to organizational effectiveness and to the extent of
achievement of the organizational mission, vision and strategic directions. The mission, vision
and strategic directions are established, in collaboration with the Registrar, and are reviewed
on an annual basis. The evaluation process is based on the more specific goals, objectives and
priorities reflected in the annual operational Workplan, the development of which is a primary
responsibility of the Registrar. The evaluation is also closely tied to the written job description,
with clearly described key responsibilities and specific duties.

Specific Limitations
1. The Registrar will adhere to established human resources policies and report all significant
deviations to Council on a quarterly basis.

Governance Management Linkages
The Council and the Registrar constitute the leadership team for the College. Their respective
roles are legally separate, but are collaborative, mutually supportive, and respectful. In general,
the Council is responsible for the results or outcomes of all authorized decisions and must
establish a framework for delegating authority and responsibility. The Registrar is responsible
for all operational and administrative actions taken to achieve established outcomes.
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The Registrar is accountable to the Council and reports, and receives direction from the Council,
through the President and the Executive Committee. The Council may delegate to staff only
through the Registrar.
The job of the Council is to govern the organization and the job of the Registrar is to manage
the organization.
It is the responsibility of the Council, through the Executive Committee, to:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Clearly describe its own structures and processes, and periodically assess its own
effectiveness;
Ensure that the mission, vision and long-term strategic directions are established and
reviewed on an annual basis;
Ensure that essential policies are established and followed;
Exhibit final authority in meeting the legal requirements of the College;
Ensure the financial health of the College; and
Hire, supervise, evaluate, and terminate the Registrar, based on preestablished criteria and
measurable outcomes.

It is the responsibility of the Registrar to:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Manage all program operations within the approved budget and according to established
limitations policies;
Hire and supervise all staff, consultants and contractors;
Establish the annual operational workplan, with goals, objectives, priorities and timeframes,
in collaboration with the Council and its Committees;
Maintain and enhance internal and external relationships of importance to the College, its
registrants and its stakeholders;
Assist the Council in developing effective governance structures and processes;
Be accountable to the Council for following established policies and for prudent financial
management; and
Execute key responsibilities and specific duties as described in the Registrar job description.
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Appendix A – Specific Limitations
Entrance Competency Development and Examination Content Outlines
Periodically there will be a need to introduce new competencies, amending the
Interjurisdictional Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators (PCs/PIs). The document
will be reviewed periodically through the auspices of the Federation of Massage Therapy
Regulatory Authorities of Canada (FOMTRAC) and any proposed changes will be brought to the
Executive Committee. The Executive Committee will receive such information and make
recommendations to Council on adoption of new competencies.
Content outlines for the Multiple-Choice Question (MCQ) and Objectively Structured Clinical
Evaluation (OSCE) examinations are based on the PCs/PIs document and will be adjusted
if/when Council approves changes to entry-to-practise competencies.

Examination Oversight
The identification of any anomaly in OSCE administration, scoring or statistics will be reported
to the Registration Committee for review and decision, if required.

Annual COLA Increase
The Registrar will bring any annual COLA increase which is four (4) percent or more to the
Executive Committee. (April 20, 2012)
Amended: February 2014, May 2014, September 2019, November 2019
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4.3. Process for Elections
4.3.1. Process for Election of the Executive Committee
A. The elections shall be conducted by the Registrar at the first regularly scheduled Council
meeting of the year.
B. Approximately four weeks prior to the election, the Office of the Registrar will advise
Council Members of the process for election of the Executive Committee.
C. At least two weeks prior to the date of the election, Council Members who are standing for
election will forward to the Office of the Registrar for circulation to all Council members a
statement of intent, outlining why they are interested in serving on Executive, which
position they are standing for, and why they think they qualify for the position. If a Council
Member does not meet the deadline for circulation of their nomination, they will still have
an opportunity to be nominated at the Council meeting.
D. No Council Member shall sit at the head table of the meeting until the elections have been
completed.
E. Nominations to for any position on the Executive Committee may be either by self or from
any member of Council. Nominations do not have to be seconded. However, it is
appropriate for a Council member to second the nomination if they wish to show their
endorsement of the candidate.
F. The Registrar shall call for nominations for the position of President.
G. Should only one Council Member be a candidate for the presidency, the Registrar will
thereupon declare said candidate Elected by acclamation.
H. Should there be more than one candidate for the position of President, an election by
secret ballot shall be conducted.
I. Each candidate shall be entitled to address Council. The address should not exceed five
minutes in length.
J. The Registrar shall appoint two non-voting scrutineers to count the ballots and the results
shall be reported to Council by the Registrar with the number of votes for each candidate to
remain confidential. Voting may be conducted electronically if a Council Member is
attending the meeting virtually. However, voting by proxy is not permitted.
K. When more than two candidates are nominated, the nominee who received the fewest
number of votes during each election shall be disqualified from the ballot on each
subsequent election for that position. This process will continue until one nominee receives
a majority (50% +1) of the votes of the ballots cast.
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L. In the event of a tie, the two candidates will be provided with a further opportunity to
address Council. The address should not exceed two minutes. Following another election, if
there is still a tie, the Registrar shall resolve the deadlock by lot.
M. The election of the Vice President shall be conducted on a basis identical to that of the
procedure applicable to the election of the President.
N. The election of the remaining members of the Executive Committee shall be conducted in a
similar manner.
O. The Registrar shall call for a motion to destroy the ballots immediately following the
election.
Approved by Council: November 2019
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4.3.2. Process for Election of Chair, Discipline Committee
A. The election shall be conducted by the Director, Professional Conduct, following
adjournment of the first regularly scheduled Council meeting of the year.
B. Approximately four weeks prior to the election, the Office of the Registrar Professional
Conduct Department will advise Committee Members of the process for election of the
Chair, Discipline Committee.
C. At least two weeks prior to the date of the election, Committee members who are standing
for election as Chair, Discipline Committee, will forward a statement of intent to the
Hearings Office Professional Conduct Department for circulation to all Committee members
a statement of intent, outlining why they are interested in serving as Chair and why they
think they qualify for the position.
D. Nominations to for the position of Chair may be either by self or from any member of the
Committee. Nominations do not have to be seconded. However, it is appropriate for a
Committee member to second the nomination if they wish to show their endorsement of
the candidate.
E. The Director, Professional Conduct, shall call for nominations for the position of Chair.
F. Should only one Committee Member be a candidate for the position of Chair presidency,
the Director will thereupon declare said candidate elected by acclamation.
G. Should there be more than one candidate for the position of Chair, an election by secret
ballot shall be conducted.
H. Each candidate shall be entitled to address the Committee. The address should not exceed
five minutes in length.
I. The Director shall appoint two non-voting scrutineers to count the ballots and the results
shall be reported to the Committee by the Director with the number of votes for each
candidate to remain confidential.
J. When more than two candidates are nominated, the nominee who received the fewest
number of votes during each election shall be disqualified from the ballot on each
subsequent election for that position. This process will continue until one nominee receives
a majority (50% +1) of the votes of the ballots cast.
K. In the event of a tie, the two candidates will be provided with a further opportunity to
address the Committee. The address should not exceed two minutes. Following another
election, if there is still a tie, the Director shall resolve the deadlock by lot.
L. The Director shall call for a motion to destroy the ballots immediately following.
Approved by Council: November 2019
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4.3.3. Process for Election of Chair, Fitness to Practise Committee
A. The election shall be conducted by the Director, Professional Conduct, following
adjournment of the first regularly scheduled Council meeting of the year.
B. Approximately four weeks prior to the election, the Office of the Registrar Professional
Conduct Department will advise Committee Members of the process for election of the
Chair, Fitness to Practise Committee.
C. At least two weeks prior to the date of the election, Committee members who are standing
for election as Chair, Fitness to Practise Committee, will forward a statement of intent to
the Professional Conduct Department Hearings Office for circulation to all Committee
members a statement of intent, outlining why they are interested in serving as Chair and
why they think they qualify for the position.
D. Nominations to for the position of Chair may be either by self or from any member of the
Committee. Nominations do not have to be seconded. However, it is appropriate for a
Committee member to second the nomination if they wish to show their endorsement of
the candidate.
E. The Director, Professional Conduct, shall call for nominations for the position of Chair.
F. Should only one Committee Member be a candidate for the position of Chair presidency,
the Director will thereupon declare said candidate elected by acclamation.
G. Should there be more than one candidate for the position of Chair, an election by secret
ballot shall be conducted.
H. Each candidate shall be entitled to address the Committee. The address should not exceed
five minutes in length.
I. The Director shall appoint two non-voting scrutineers to count the ballots and the results
shall be reported to the Committee by the Director with the number of votes for each
candidate to remain confidential.
J. When more than two candidates are nominated, the nominee who received the fewest
number of votes during each election shall be disqualified from the ballot on each
subsequent election for that position. This process will continue until one nominee receives
a majority (50% +1) of the votes of the ballots cast.
K. In the event of a tie, the two candidates will be provided with a further opportunity to
address the Committee. The address should not exceed two minutes. Following another
election, if there is still a tie, the Director shall resolve the deadlock by lot.
L. The Director shall call for a motion to destroy the ballots immediately following the
election.
Approved by Council: November 2019
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4.3.4. Process for Election of Committee Chairs
A. The election shall be conducted by the Director of the department who oversees the
Committee, or their designate, at the first regularly scheduled Committee meeting after the
first Council meeting of the year or when there is a vacancy for the position.
B. Where possible, approximately four weeks prior to the election, Committee members will
be advised of the process for election of the Chair.
C. Where possible, at least two weeks prior to the date of the election, Committee members
who are standing for election as Chair will submit, for circulation to all Committee
members, a statement of intent, outlining why they are interested in serving as Chair and
why they think they qualify for the position.
D. Nominations to the position of Chair may be either by self or from any member of the
Committee. Nominations do not have to be seconded. However, it is appropriate for a
Committee member to second the nomination if they wish to show their endorsement of
the candidate.
E. The Director, or their designate, shall call for nominations for the position of Chair.
F. Should only one Committee Member be a candidate for the Chair, the Director will
thereupon declare said candidate elected by acclamation.
G. Should there be more than one candidate for the position of Chair, an election by secret
ballot shall be conducted.
H. Each candidate shall be entitled to address the Committee. The address should not exceed
five minutes in length.
I. The Director, or their designate, shall appoint two non-voting scrutineers to count the
ballots and the results shall be reported to the Committee by the Director, or their
designate, with the number of votes for each candidate to remain confidential.
J. When more than two candidates are nominated, the nominee who received the fewest
number of votes during each election shall be disqualified from the ballot on each
subsequent election for that position. This process will continue until one nominee receives
a majority (50% +1) of the votes of the ballots cast.
K. In the event of a tie, the two candidates will be provided with a further opportunity to
address the Committee. The address should not exceed two minutes. Following another
election, if there is still a tie, the Director, or their designate, shall resolve the deadlock by
lot.
L. The Director, or their designate, shall call for a motion to destroy the ballots immediately
following the election.
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4.3.5. Process for Selection of Panel Chairs
A. The selection of Panel Chairs shall be determined by the Committee Chair based on
competency.
B. Committee Members who are interested in chairing a Panel will be asked to forward a
statement of intent for consideration by the Committee Chair, outlining why they are
interested in serving as Panel Chair and why they think they qualify for the position. All
members of the Committee are eligible to be selected as Panel Chair.
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3.3. Confidentiality
General Policy
The College supports and complies with Section 36 of the Regulated Health Professions Act,
1991 and all other Sections related to the handling of confidential information. All Council
Members and non-Council Members acknowledge that they may acquire information as may be
necessary in the proper discharge of their duties about certain matters and things that are
confidential. It is the policy of the College that all information, verbal or written, concerning any
person, including but not limited to registrants, and any other business conducted, unless
otherwise indicated, is strictly confidential and is to be used for specified purposes only. The
Council may determine any discussion, issue, specific information, or decision taken on behalf
of the College, relating to property acquisitions, financial or personnel issues or issues where a
person involved in a proceeding may be prejudiced or where the Council will be receiving a
legal opinion, to be confidential or restricted at any time and will classify it as such in the
meeting minutes. This policy also recognizes the right of individual Council Members and nonCouncil Members to confidentiality of personal information.
Council Members and non-Council Members agree not to disclose to any third party any
information that is confidential, either during their service or following their service to the
College. It is understood that a breach of confidentiality may result in disqualification
proceedings as well as disciplinary action for professional members of Council.

Confidentiality Within Council
Any discussions relating to individual persons acquired in the Discipline, Registration, Inquiries,
Complaints and Reports, Quality Assurance, Client Relations or Fitness to Practise Committees
is confidential to each Panel/Committee and cannot be shared with Council Members not on
the same Panel or Committee, registrants of the College or the public.
Council and Committee Members and the public are free to discuss matters discussed in open
Council meetings. Council and Committee Members are not permitted to discuss items
addressed during an in-camera session held in accordance with RHPA. In-camera sessions are
strictly confidential unless Council agrees to a policy or statement about the release of specific
information.
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3.4. Conflict of Interest
Preamble
Conflict of interest is primarily a matter of personal responsibility and integrity. No Council
Member shall engage in any activity, financial or otherwise, which is incompatible with the
proper discharge of his/her duties and responsibilities as a Council Member.
All Council and Committee Members have a duty to carry out their responsibilities in a manner
that serves and protects the interest of the public. As such, they must not engage in any
activities or in decision-making concerning any matters where they have a direct or indirect
personal or financial interest. All Council and Committee Members have a duty to uphold and
further the intent of the Act to regulate the practice and profession of Massage Therapy in
Ontario, and not to represent the views of advocacy or special interest groups.
Council and Committee Members recognize that a conflict of interest or an appearance of a
conflict of interest by a member of Council or its Committees:
1. Could bring discredit to the College;
2. Could amount to a breach of the fiduciary obligation of the person to the College; and
3. Could create liability for either the College or the person involved or both.
Individual members of the Council are held to a high standard of conduct. As a Director of a
non-profit corporation, a Council Member must conduct themselves to a standard that may
reasonably be expected from a person of their knowledge and experience. The greater the skill
or expertise a Council Member brings to the Council, the greater care they must exercise.
A Council Member must therefore exercise care, diligence, skill, and prudence in carrying out
the business of the College. A Council Member must also act loyally, honestly, in good faith, and
in the best interest of the College. In particular, a Council Member’s interest must not conflict
with their duties as a member of Council.

Individual Responsibilities of Council Members
•
•

Actively participating in the discharge of all Council responsibilities as indicated in the
Council Governance Handbook;
Being as informed as possible about all aspects of the business of the College;
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•
•
•

•
•

Attending all Council and appropriate Committee meetings;
Taking an informed position on College matters;
Recognising the distinction between your corporate and individual authority as a Council
Member and conducting yourself accordingly with the College staff, the public, and
community media, e.g. declining to speak for the College unless designated to do so;
Getting professional advice whenever needed; and
Being aware of your responsibility to act in the best interests of the College and abiding by
all rules respecting conflict of interest.

Principles
Three key principles need to be recognised:
1.
2.
3.

A member of the Council should not use information obtained as a result of their
position for personal benefit;
A conflict of interest situation should be declared at the earliest possible opportunity;
and,
No Council Member should divulge confidential information obtained as a result of their
position unless legally required to do so (RHPA, Sec.36).

Definition
Conflict of interest is commonly defined as a situation in which a person is in a position to
derive a personal benefit, or a benefit for a friend or relative, as a result of actions or decisions
they make in their official capacity. The benefit does not have to be financial in nature.
A conflict of interest is one that affects an individual Council Member disproportionately
compared to other Council Members. That is to say, it is not considered a conflict of interest if a
large segment of the population, including the Council Member, will benefit, or be negatively
affected, from a decision to which the member is a party. However, there is conflict of interest
if the Council Member or their family or friends could benefit personally from a decision while a
larger group of people could not. For example, it is not a conflict of interest for Council
Members to vote on College fee increases because College fees affect all professional Council
Members.
A member of Council or a Committee Member would be perceived to have conflict of interest
in a matter and should refrain from participating in any discussion or voting if they hold a
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responsible position such as Director, Owner, Board Member or Officer in or is an employee of
another organization where their duties may be seen by a reasonable person as influencing
their judgment in the matter under consideration by Council or its Committees.
The direct or indirect financial interest of a parent, spouse, child or sibling of a Council or
Committee member are interpreted to be the interests of Council or Committee Member. In
addition, each Council or Committee Member shall declare any direct or indirect personal
interest of a parent, spouse, child or sibling so that an informed and considered discussion can
be held as to whether the personal interest constitutes a conflict of interest. Here, the term
“spouse” includes a common law spouse and a same sex partner of the person.

Practices
1. Any Council Member who has a conflict of interest in a matter under consideration by the
College should disclose the nature of that conflict to the Council or Executive Committee at
the first opportunity and refrain from any further participation in the matter. Conflicts
related to individual Committee matters should be disclosed to the Chair of the respective
Committee at the first opportunity.
Any declared conflict of interest on the part of the Council Member shall be recorded in the
minutes.
2. No Council Member shall use or permit to be used College property of any kind for activities
not associated with the performance of their duties, unless otherwise permitted by the
Registrar.
3. No Council Member shall disclose confidential information concerning the property,
governance or affairs of the College or use such information to advance their interests or
the interests of a spouse, child, or parent living in the same household.
4. No Council Member shall exercise any discretionary powers, or make any recommendations
on behalf of or to the College with respect to any contract or sale or any other matter to
which the College is a party, in which that Council Member is knowingly directly or indirectly
financially interested.
5. No Council Member shall engage in private employment or render services for any person
or corporation which has or may have business dealings with the College without first
advising the President and/or Registrar in writing of such activity and obtaining written
permission to engage in such activity.
6. Each Council Member shall inform the President and/or Committee Chair in writing, if any
matter comes before them in which personal interest is involved.
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7. Council Members accepting hospitality should attempt to avoid allowing themselves to
reach a position whereby they might be deemed by others to have been influenced in
making decisions as a consequence of accepting such hospitality.
8. Council Members may not hold any other position, contract or appointment with the
College while serving on Council. There is a two year waiting period after the end of a
Council term before the individual may apply for a position with the College. This includes
but is not limited to Peer Assessor, Investigator, Examiner or staff position. Current
contracts may run to their conclusion.
9. Complaints regarding contravention of this policy must be in writing and may be made by
any person, including members of the Council. Complaints must be filed with the Registrar.
[Governance Complaints Process]

Where a Conflict May Exist
Where a Council or Committee Member believes that they may have a conflict of interest in any
matter which is the subject of deliberation or action by Council or its Committees, they shall:
•

Consult, as needed, with the President and/or the Registrar or appropriate staff person, and
where there appears to be a conflict of interest; legal counsel and, if there is any doubt
about whether he or she may have or be perceived to have a conflict, prior to any
consideration of the matter, declare the potential conflict to Council or the Committee and
accept Council’s or the Committee’s direction as to whether there is an appearance of a
conflict;
• Where there appears to be a conflict of interest, not take part in the discussion of,
or vote on, any question in respect of the matter;
• Where there appears to be a conflict of interest, absent themselves from the
portion of any meeting relating to the matter; and
• Where there appears to be a conflict of interest, not attempt in any way to
influence the voting or do anything that might be perceived as attempting to
influence the decision of other members on the matter.
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4.6. Compensation and Expenses Guidelines for Professional
Council/Committee Members
The basis of professional members’ participation in the Council of the College and its Committees
is voluntary public service. As such the remuneration paid is not expected to be competitive with
the marketplace or the professional members’ usual occupational compensation. A per diem is
an amount of money deemed as token compensation for work performed by professional Council
Members and non-Council Members. A T4 will be provided for tax purposes.
CMTO will pay a per diem and cover expenses for the time spent and expenses incurred by
professional Council Members and Committee when conducting authorized College business in
recognition of their contribution to the College.
The Public Appointed Members are reimbursed directly by the Ministry except for attending
conferences on behalf of CMTO, when such expenses are subject to this policy, and pre-approved
by the Ministry of Health.

Per Diems
Rates
The daily rates for fulfilling Professional Council Member roles are as follows:
Professional Council Members and non-Council Members: $275
President or Committee Chair:
$375
NOTE: The additional compensation for Committee Chair is to be claimed only when the
individual has assumed the Chair at a Committee meeting and not when they attend
another meeting as a member of the Committee. The President is reimbursed at the
additional rate for Council and Executive meetings or on any other occasion when
they are acting as an official representative of the College.
Members can claim for meetings with staff or other Council members, if the meeting
exceeds 30 minutes, provided a detailed log is submitted with the expense claim
form.
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Per Diem Conditions
1. Per diems can be claimed for attendance at properly constituted Council, Committee or Panel
meetings and other authorized meetings, including orientation, training, mentoring and
conferences attended on behalf of the College.
2. For in person Committee/Panel meetings, up to three (3) hours in length, a half day per diem
may be claimed. For meetings of more than three (3) hours a full day per diem may be
claimed. If the meeting has been scheduled for the full day and is adjourned early, the full
day per diem may be claimed.
3. For teleconference Committee meetings, the per diem is prorated, based on a seven (7) hour
day. Members can claim the full amount of the scheduled meeting.
4. Remuneration for preparation time and decision writing (e.g. relating to Pre-hearing
conferences, Council, Committee and/or Panel Meetings) is calculated on a pro-rated hourly
basis, based on a seven (7) hour day at the Council Member per diem rate. A maximum of
one day per diem may be claimed for each full day meeting. Hearings are not eligible for
preparation time, unless approved by the Office of the Registrar. Exceptions may include
reviewing hearing materials if there is a long delay between hearings days.
5. If travelling the day before or after a meeting due to distance (greater than 50km one way),
a full day per diem may be claimed if the travel exceeds 3.5 hours; a half day per diem can be
claimed for travel less than 3.5 hours. Travel to and from the Council Member’s residence is
included in the calculation of time.
6. The minutes of all meetings where a per diem may be claimed must show those in attendance
at the time of calling the meeting to order and adjournment and reflect the times when a
Council/Committee member arrives late or leaves prior to the conclusion of the meeting. This
includes staff meetings with the President or Chair of a Committee. These records will be the
official record for the basis of per diems claimed.
7. Should a CMTO scheduled meeting or hearing be cancelled or adjourned three (3) or less
business days prior to the scheduled date, then the time equivalent to the amount of time
scheduled for the meeting may be claimed up to a maximum of three (3) days.one (1) per
diem for each cancelled day (max. three (3) per diems) may be claimed.

Reimbursement of Expenses
1. Except for incidental expenses, expenses for Council business will only be reimbursed on the
submission of expense claims accompanied by detailed i.e. not summary, receipts.
2. Council members are required to submit one consolidated claim for per diems and expenses
on a bi-weekly basis, (15th and end of month) with claims to be submitted no later than five
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3.
4.

5.

6.
7.
8.

(5) business days after the last day of the month in order to be eligible for reimbursement.
Claims will be processed within 15 business days. Exceptions will be considered by the Office
of the Registrar.
All claims for the fiscal year must be received by December 15 each year. Exceptions will be
considered by the Office of the Registrar.
Expenses related to telephone, fax, postage, photocopying, toner, ink cartridges, hotel data
plans, courier, etc. for related College business are eligible for reimbursement with detailed
receipts. Incidental expenses, e.g. tipping, will be reimbursed, without receipts, up to a
maximum of $10.00 per day.
If a Council Member is approved to attend a conference e.g. CLEAR and CNAR, the conference
fee will be paid directly by the College. Travel expenses, that are paid in advance of the
conference, may be reimbursed at the time the expense was incurred.
Expense forms must be completed, which will be updated as needed, for reimbursement.
Travel cancellation insurance will be reimbursed by the College. The College does not cover
personal medical travel insurance.
If a member wishes to extend a trip for personal reasons, not associated with the approved
conference or meeting, the expenses for the extended stay prior to or after the conference
or meeting shall be at the expense of the attendee.

NOTE: Liquor, entertainment and personal services cannot be claimed.

Caregiving
A Council Member will be reimbursed for dependent care to enable attendance at Council
meetings or Committee meetings providing that:
1. No other family member is available to provide care. It is expected that all reasonable efforts
will be made to arrange for another appropriate care giver i.e. family member or friend to
provide care for the required period; and
2. The dependent would not normally be attending a school, school program, a community care
facility or an organized recreational/sport activity or program during the period in question;
and
3. The individual caring for the dependent is not usually employed by the member, or member’s
family, or within the member’s usual caregiving network and/or household as a full time
“nanny” or other caregiver; and
4. The expenses must be for dependent care for wellbeing and protection only and not for items
such as food, lodging, clothing, education, and entertainment.
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5. “Dependent” is defined as any person who “reasonably relies” on a worker for wellbeing and
protection and includes relationships where there is dependency of one person on another,
regardless of whether they are in a conjugal relationship or are related by blood or adoption.
Such dependency may be because of disability, age, infirmity, or economic circumstances.
6. In special circumstances, the Registrar may approve other forms of care, e.g. animal day care.
A Council/Committee member shall submit the request to the Office of the Registrar for preapproval, which can remain applicable for the remainder of the term.

Meals
If dining with other Council/Committee Members, then each person must obtain a separate
receipt. Rates are not an allowance, they are for a single meal. Receipts must include tax and tip.
Unless provided by the College for the meeting, reimbursement is for each single meal in
accordance with Appendix A, which is updated on an annual basis, consistent with the Canada
Revenue Agency’s meal allowance.

Travel
The College carries travel insurance for Council Members travelling on CMTO official business.
The policy provides for loss of life or disability.
Council Members are responsible for booking their travel and accommodations and must
attempt to secure the most economical travel, by the most direct or reasonable route given the
circumstances, at the time of booking, with consideration to time and safety issues, including
ground transportation from home or office to and from the airport. Exceptions will be made,
upon request, if a person requires special accommodation, e.g. extra leg room.
Air
Via coach class by the most cost-effective rate available.
Train
VIA 1 class by the most direct route, including ground transportation from home or office to and
from the airport.
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Car
The College assumes no financial responsibility for privately owned vehicles other than paying
the kilometric rate nor is responsible for reimbursing deductible amounts related to insurance
coverage.
To ensure that travelers are adequately protected, privately owned vehicles used on CMTO
business shall, as a minimum, have Basic Insurance coverage including the minimum Public
Liability and Property Damage required by the province/territory of registration of the vehicle.
Any additional premium costs necessary to increase private vehicle insurance coverage to the
basic level are not reimbursable, including the lowering of deductibles.
Mileage claimed for personal vehicles is reimbursed in accordance with Appendix AA, which is
updated on an annual basis consistent with the Canada Revenue Agency’s allowance. Travel to
and from the airport or train station is based on direct return travel from the Council Member’s
residence. When appropriate, e.g. during rush hour, the use of 407 ETR is an eligible expense.
Parking
As per receipt.
Taxi/Uber
As per receipt.
Public Transportation
Regular fare, no receipt required.
Accommodation
Overnight accommodation is eligible when travel distance exceeds 50km one way (to CMTO
or destination in case of conference, training etc.).
1. Council members are responsible for booking their accommodations and must attempt to
secure the most economical rate. Bookings should be made as early as possible because rates
fluctuate daily. As meeting schedules changes, Council and Committee Members must book
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hotels with a cancellation policy, and not use a non-refundable booking.
2. Private homes are reimbursed directly at $50.00 per night, in recognition of the host’s
hospitality. The name and address of the host (private home) is required at the time of
expense claim submission.
NOTE: Accommodation is not reimbursed if a Council Member chooses to travel by a more
expensive mode that results in an overnight stay; e.g. travel by car rather than by a less expensive
flight where the flight would have enabled the person to return home in one day.
Phone Calls
All long-distance calls to the College must be made on the 800 line. Long-distance calls from home
to fellow Council Members on College business must be documented i.e. copy of detailed phone
bill and may be claimed directly from the College. Personal calls to fellow Council Members are
not reimbursed.
This policy will be reviewed by the Executive Committee annually.
Proposed amendments are to be circulated to all members of Council in a timely manner prior to
any meeting where formal ratification would occur.
NOTE: Should a Council Member feel that, due to extenuating circumstances, they should be
reimbursed for expenses or per diems above what is outlined in the policy, they should submit
their request in writing to the Office of the Registrar for consideration.
Amended - December 2014, September 2019
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Appendix A – Meals and Allowances Rates
Breakfast

$20.50

Lunch

$20.10

Dinner

$50.65

Mileage

$0.597 per kilometre

Travel in USA.
Rates in the USA are the same for Canada but in US funds
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4.7. Council Member Speaking Engagements
Periodically the members of Council and the Registrar are requested to speak at community
colleges, private vocational schools, or at RMTAO or other district meetings. The Executive
Committee will review all such requests and determine which speaking engagements will be
filled.

Guidelines
1.

2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
7.

All requests must be submitted in writing giving details including the date, time and
place, as well as the topic and anticipated length of the presentation. If the organization
is requesting a specific individual for the presentation, then they should be identified in
the letter.
Requests will be reviewed and approved by the Executive Committee for availability of
personnel and content of the presentation.
Where a specific individual is not named, the Executive Committee, in conjunction with
the Registrar, will determine the most appropriate College representative for the topic
and if the topic is within the scope of the role of the College.
Executive Committee will contact the proposed speaker and confirm their willingness
and availability.
Executive Committee will determine if a fee for the speaker should be paid by the school
or other organization.
Where there is a fee for a speaking engagement, it will be paid directly to the College.
A letter will be sent to the organization requesting a speaker either confirming the
speaker and the payment details or declining the request.
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4.8. Remote Participation
Guidelines
Participation in meetings by teleconference or videoconference is available to Council and NonCouncil members (Members). If choosing to participate remotely, the preferred mode of
communication is by videoconference, however the College provides tools to facilitate either
format recognizing that a teleconference may be more readily accessible at times. The
corporate tool for videoconferencing is Microsoft (MS) Teams.

Remote Participation Protocols
•

•
•

Internet Assistants and similar devices including but not limited to Amazon Alexa, Apple Siri,
and Microsoft Cortana devices must be disabled. Guidance on disabling a device can be
provided by Corporate Services. Alternatively, such devices can be hidden/out of sight (in a
cabinet or drawer).
The mute function should be used as needed to help avoid background noise.
Council members must ensure that there are no other individuals in the room or
surrounding area that would compromise the confidentiality of the meeting.

Remote Participation Procedures
1. Members should notify the appropriate staff member of their intent to participate remotely
and indicate the format (i.e. teleconference or videoconference) at the time of accepting
the meeting invitation. If circumstances change whereby an initial in-person meeting is no
longer possible, members should notify the relevant staff member as soon as possible of
the need to participate remotely.
2. Members are encouraged to obtain appropriate training and knowledge on how to use MS
Teams and/or the teleconference tool from their remote location ahead of the meeting.
College staff are available to facilitate the training. Requests for training can be made
through the Sr. Executive Assistant, Office of the Registrar.
3. Members should connect using the meeting format platform prior to the scheduled meeting
start time. Once the meeting starts members should identify themselves before speaking to
support the taking of meeting minutes.
4. If videoconferencing, council members must engage the videoconference platform, MS
Teams, via their College-provided device (MS Surface) and Virtual Private Network (VPN).
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There is no cost associated with videoconferencing. Reliable internet access is important,
and a WiFi network connection is preferred. Please refer to the associated Guidelines for
specific instructions.
5. The College’s toll-free teleconference dial-in number covers locations within Canada and
the United States. The dial-in number and Conference ID number for access are provided by
the relevant staff member. Please refer to the associated Guidelines for specific
instructions.
6. Council members participating remotely will be able to participate in voting, either through
electronic voting capabilities or other means. Proxy voting, whereby a vote is cast by one
council member on behalf of another council member, is not permissible.
7. When electronic voting capabilities are not available, the committee Chair or appropriate
staff person shall petition each member participating remotely when votes are taken.
Approved by Council – February 2020.

4.9. Council Member Attendance at Educational Activities, Not
Sponsored by the College
The College supports and encourages the participation of its Council Members in educational
activities to facilitate their growth and development and to keep Council Members abreast of
best practices or evolving regulations. In most cases, educational activities are financed and
organized by the College and take place in the Toronto area. These activities include specific
Committee training, including Health Professions Regulators of Ontario (HPRO) Federation
initiatives, Council workshops and Council retreats. This policy relates to additional educational
activities, e.g. attendance at conferences outside of Toronto, e.g. Council on Licensure,
Enforcement and Regulation (CLEAR) and Canadian Network of Agencies for Regulation (CNAR).
1. With the exception of the President, who may attend all conferences, Council Members
may attend only one additional educational opportunity in a fiscal year, provided that they
have more than six months remaining in their term of office. Preference will be given to
those that have not attended a conference in the previous year.
2. The maximum number of attendees to attend any one educational activity is five i.e. the
President, two professional and two Public Members. If additional requests for attending
the activity are submitted, then the decision on who attends will be determined by the
Executive Committee.
3. Any extenuating circumstances or special requests will be considered and determined by
the Executive Committee.
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4. Attendees are expected to attend most, if not all, of the educational sessions at such
conferences and will be required to provide the College with a copy of materials provided to
them at the activity and to share the knowledge gained with other Council Members at the
next scheduled Council meeting by submitting a verbal or written report to be included in
the Council package.
5. Professional Members will be reimbursed for per diems and expenses for attendance at the
educational activity as per the Compensation and Expense Guidelines.
6. Public Members will be required to seek prior approval from the Ministry for attending the
additional educational activities. Compensation and expenses will be in accordance with the
Ministry’s guidelines.
7. The College does not support Council Members serving on Boards as a CMTO
representative.
Participation in additional educational opportunities will be subject to fiscal responsibility and
budgetary considerations and will be considered on a case by case basis.
Amended by Council February 2020.
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4.10. Council Member Disqualification
General
Council may disqualify an elected member of Council, or non-Council Member, or recommend
to the Minister of Health that an appointed a Public member of Council be disqualified, for
failure to comply with legislative requirements or failure to maintain acceptable standards of
conduct. A motion regarding disqualification must be passed at a Council meeting. A member
who is disqualified ceases to be a member of Council, and the seat becomes vacant.
Section 30 through 37 of By-law No. 2 sets out the grounds and procedures for disqualifying or
sanctioning Council Members as follows:

Grounds for Disqualifying or Sanctioning an Elected Council Member or
Committee Member
30. Council shall disqualify an elected Council Member or Committee Member from sitting on
Council or a Committee, as the case may be, if s/he:
(A) No longer meets the eligibility criteria established for election;
(B) Is found by a Panel of the Discipline Committee to be incompetent or to have
committed an act of professional misconduct; or
(C) Is found by a Panel of the Fitness to Practise Committee to be an incapacitated
registrant.
31. Council may disqualify an elected Council Member or Committee Member from sitting on
Council or a Committee, as the case may be, if s/he:
(A) Breaches section 36 of the RHPA, 1991 or the by-laws of the College that require
Council Members or Committee Members to preserve the confidentiality of
information disclosed during the course of their duties as a Council Member or
Committee Member;
(B) Has a term, condition or limitation placed on their Certificate of Registration other
than one prescribed by regulation; or
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(C) Subject to the discretion of Council to excuse the conduct:
i. Fails to attend any two of three consecutive regular meetings of the Council;
ii. Fails to attend any two of three consecutive regular meetings of a Committee of
which s/he is a member;
iii. Fails to attend a hearing or proceeding, or part thereof, of a Panel on which s/he
sits;
iv. Fails, in the opinion of Council, to discharge their duties to the College, including,
but not limited to, by being in a conflict of interest or otherwise being in breach of a
College by-law, regulation, the RHPA, 1991 or the College’s Governance Policies
including the Council and Committee Member Code of Conduct; or
v. Acts or behaves in a manner that, in the opinion of Council, could reasonably be
seen to bring disrepute to the reputation of Council or the College.
32. An elected Council Member who is disqualified from sitting on the Council ceases to be a
member of the Council, and their seat becomes vacant upon their disqualification.

Grounds for Disqualifying or Sanctioning an Appointed a Public Council
Member
33. (A) Council shall request the Public Appointments Secretariat to disqualify and remove a
appointed Public Council Member from Council if the appointed Public Council
Member:
i. Becomes a registrant;
ii. Becomes an elected representative, Board Member, Director, Officer or employee
of, or enters into a contractual relationship to provide services to the Registered
Massage Therapists' Association of Ontario or similar professional organization;
iii. Becomes an appointed Committee Chairperson or member of a Committee of the
Registered Massage Therapists' Association of Ontario or similar professional
association, such that it is reasonable to expect that a real or apparent conflict may
arise; or
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(B) Council may request the Public Appointments Secretariat to disqualify and remove a
appointed Council Public Member from Council if the appointed Public Council
Member:
i.Breaches section 36 of the RHPA, 1991 or the by-laws of the College that require
Committee Members to preserve the confidentiality of information obtained in the
course of their duties as a Committee Member;
ii. Subject to the discretion of Council to excuse the conduct:
(a) Fails to attend any two of three consecutive regular meetings of the Council;
(b) Fails to attend any two of three consecutive regular meetings of a Committee
of which s/he is a member;
(c) Fails to attend a hearing or proceeding, or part thereof, of a Panel on which
s/he sits;
(d) Fails, in the opinion of Council, to discharge their duties to the College,
including, but not limited to, by being in a conflict of interest or otherwise being
in breach of a College by-law, regulation, the RHPA, 1991 or the College’s
Governance Policies including the Council and Committee Code of Conduct; or
(e) Acts or behaves in a manner that, in the opinion of Council, could reasonably be
seen to bring disrepute to the reputation of Council or the College.

Process for Disqualifying or Sanctioning a Council Member and
Committee Member
34. The following process shall be used to disqualify or sanction an elected Council Member,
Committee Member or appointed Council Public Member i.e. the "Subject Member".
(A) Where a Council Member or the Registrar believes that the College should consider
the disqualification or sanction of the Subject Member, the Council Member or
Registrar shall advise the Executive Committee in writing;
(B)

The Executive Committee shall provide the Subject Member with:
i. Notice of the concerns in writing; and
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ii. 30 days to respond in writing to the Executive Committee.
(C) The Executive Committee shall, based on a majority vote, make a preliminary
determination on the facts and report those facts and the determination to the Subject
Member and the individual who brought the matter to the Executive Committee's
attention and Council;
(D) If any of the Executive Committee, the individual who brought the matter to the
Executive Committee's attention or the Subject Member is of the view that further
action may be required of Council, then they shall provide, in writing, their concern to
the attention of the President within 15 days after being notified and the issue will be
placed on the agenda for the next Council meeting. The Executive Committee, the
Subject Member and the individual who brought the matter to the Executive
Committee’s attention will then be advised of the date of the Council meeting, and the
opportunity make written and/or oral submissions to Council, should any of them wish
to do so;
(E) Council shall determine the relevant facts and, if appropriate, disqualify, request the
disqualification of or sanction the Subject Member;
(F) Sanctions may include:
i. Censure of the Subject Member;
ii. Removal of the Subject Member from any Committee on which s/he sit; and
iii. Any other sanction that the Executive Committee or Council, as the case may be,
deems appropriate including disqualification or removal from Council.
(G) In determining the appropriate sanction Council should be guided by the principle that
the primary purpose of sanctions is to protect the College and to change behaviour
that could be potentially harmful to the College;
(H) A resolution shall be required to disqualify or sanction the Subject Member;
(I) The Subject Member shall be temporarily suspended as a Council Member or
Committee Member until a final decision by the College has been rendered, or the
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Public Appointments Secretariat has removed the appointed Council Public Member,
as the case may be;
(J) Before any debate is had or vote is taken by Council, Council shall consider whether
the public should be excluded from all or part of the meeting in accordance with the
Code;
(K) If the Subject Member is disqualified or removed as a Council Member or Committee
Member, then the College shall act as if a vacancy had been created as a result of a
resignation; and
(L) A Subject Member who has been disqualified ceases to be a Council Member and a
member of all Committees. In the case of a appointed Council Public Member who has
been disqualified as a Committee Member, Council shall request the Public
Appointments Secretariat to disqualify and remove the appointed Council Public
Member.

Temporary Suspension of a Council Member or Committee Member
35. A Council Member or Committee Member who becomes the subject of a disciplinary or
incapacity proceeding (including, in the case of an elected Council Member, one which
originates at any time after the deadline for receipt of nominations), shall not serve on
Council or on any Committee until a final decision in the disciplinary or incapacity
proceeding, including any appeal, has been rendered.
36. An elected Council Member and/or a Committee Member who, after having been provided
with an opportunity to rectify a failure in their obligations to the College:
(A) Remains in default of any fee, charge or order for costs owing to the College;
(B) Fails to submit to the College all required forms and documents; or
(C) Ceases to otherwise be in good standing with the College,
(D) Shall not serve on Council or any Committee until the failure is remedied or the elected
Council Member and/or Committee Member is disqualified.
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4.11. Council and Committee Member Code of Conduct
General
Council and Committee Members are in a position of trust and, in the performance of their
duties to the College, are held to a high standard of conduct at all times.
Members of Council and Committees shall:
1. Act in an ethical, honest and with integrity at all times when representing the College and
the Council;
2. Be familiar and comply with the provisions of the Registered Health Professions Act, its
regulations and Code, the Massage Therapy Act, and all by-laws and policies of the College;
3. Declare and avoid all perceived and actual conflicts of interest or appearances of bias;
4. Exercise a reasonable duty of care, diligence, skill and prudence in carrying out the work of
the College at all times;
5. Place the interests of the College and the Council above all other interests;
6. Recognize the limits, or lack of individual authority, pertaining to individual Council
Members or groups of members, except as set forth in College policies;
7. Agree to actively serve on College Committees as required by Council and the Executive
Committee;
8. Seek to enhance the public and stakeholder perception of the College, its Council, and the
Massage Therapy profession;
9. Offer opinions and express views on subjects of concern to the College and the Council,
whenever appropriate;
10. Support the majority decisions of the Council, regardless of the level of prior individual
disagreement; and
11. Strive to be respectful in their interactions with fellow Council and Committee Members
and ensure that they do not engage in unwelcome or harassing comments or conduct.
Members of Council and of Committees should always bear in mind how their
communications and actions may reasonably be perceived, and, above all, exercise tact and
sound judgement - refer to Anti-Harassment Policy.
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4.12. Anti-Harassment Policy
Overview
The College is committed to providing an environment in which all participants in its processes,
including members of Council and non-Council Committee Members, are treated with respect
and dignity. Recognizing the diversity of experiences, backgrounds, and perspectives among
those who engage with the College and displaying sensitivity to such differences is an important
aspect of achieving this goal.
Every person has a right to equal treatment with respect to services, goods and facilities,
without discrimination because of, but not limited to, race, ancestry, place of origin, colour,
ethnic origin, citizenship, creed, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression,
age, marital status, family status or disability.
To contribute to this environment of mutual respect and dignity for all participants, members of
Council and non-Council Committee Members must ensure that all their communications and
interactions with their fellow Council and Committee Members are both professional and
appropriate in the circumstances.
Members of Council and of Committees must exercise good judgement and be mindful of how
their communications and actions may be perceived by others. By maintaining professional and
appropriate interactions with fellow Council and Committee Members and remaining attentive
to the context in which such interactions take place, members of Council and of Committees
will help to ensure that no one is caused undue discomfort or experiences harassment.

Interactions and Harassment
No member of Council or of a Committee should experience harassment in carrying out their
duties. Harassment includes comments or conduct that are known or ought reasonably to be
known to be unwelcome. Harassment may include personal harassment, sexual harassment, or
abuse of authority. Harassment can make a person feel uncomfortable, embarrassed, offended,
or intimidated.
These types of discomfort or harassment can occur in many circumstances, including
circumstances where a member of Council or a Committee:
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•
•
•
•

•

makes inappropriate comments of a personal nature about the other person, a third party,
or themselves;
makes inappropriate inquiries of a personal nature, such as questions regarding sexual
orientation or marital or relationship status;
communicates by e-mail or telephone on matters that do not relate to College business,
such as jokes or personal matters;
enters or seeks to enter into financial arrangements with other members of Council or of
Committees, such as through borrowing or lending money, or soliciting charitable or other
donations; or
engages in physical touching that may make the subject of the touching uncomfortable.

Complaints received from Council or non-Council Members regarding alleged harassment shall
be considered under Policy 13 – Disqualification, which mirrors By-law No. 2 of the College.

113

Governance Handbook – December 2020

4.13. Media Communications
The media sometimes contacts the College to request interviews and responses to inquiries
about the regulation of Massage Therapy. To ensure the College communicates with
consistency and accuracy, all media responses are handled by the Director, Policy and
Communications, with the Registrar & CEO/Deputy Registrar acting as the official spokesperson
for the College.
The College aims to cultivate and maintain a supportive relationship with the media and the
public to build awareness of the College and the regulation of Massage Therapy in Ontario.
When it is appropriate, the College may work in partnership with other stakeholders to
strengthen its message and profile.
Normally, all official positions of the College will be approved by the Registrar & CEO and/or the
Deputy Registrar, and if/when appropriate, by CMTO’s Council/Executive Committee i.e., a
statement read by CMTO’s President to the media about governance issues. The Registrar may
request that CMTO’s President or another member of staff or Council assume the role of
College spokesperson as the circumstances warrant.
In dealing with media requests for an official position or action of the College, Council Members
should refer such requests to the Registrar & CEO. Should any member of CMTO Council or staff
become aware of a potential crisis issue or situation, this individual should contact the Deputy
Registrar and Registrar & CEO, and when appropriate, CMTO’s Crisis Team Leader i.e. the
Director of Policy and Communications.
On a day to day basis, CMTO’s Director of Policy and Communications will administer media
relations’ activities with oversight from the Registrar & CEO and Deputy Registrar as required.
In times of crisis, services of external consultants may be used to help facilitate this process.
The Registrar & CEO, Deputy Registrar, some Council Members, and other staff members of the
senior management team will be provided with a course in media relations, which will be
refreshed periodically, on an as needed basis.
Where media activities take place in a crisis situation, CMTO’s Crisis Team Leader will convene a
conference call or in person meeting as appropriate, as soon as possible, to share the facts of
the situation, develop a College response, and assign responsibilities. This call will also be used
to assess the level of crisis and determine who is available and best positioned to respond to
media. The Registrar & CEO will apprise Council of the situation as appropriate. Council
Members will be advised on next steps and provided with relevant information on a timely
basis.
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4.14. Intellectual Property
The intellectual property of the College includes but is not limited to trademarks i.e. official
marks; unique designs such as logos, brochure designs, banners, display materials, slogans;
publication content such as the College Standard, brochures, bulletins, Standards of Practice
and Code of Ethics, Massage Therapy Competency Standards, examinations, seminars and
workshops, TV and radio materials, website and PowerPoint presentations.
This intellectual property is a valuable asset and may only be used in a manner that furthers the
mission, vision and Strategic Plan of the College. The College owns and maintains the rights to
its intellectual property. The College reserves the right to copyright any of its print, electronic
products, databases, audio/visual products and any other subject matter covered by the law.
This is intended to protect the College from unauthorized copying and distribution of its
intellectual property.
It is the College’s policy that copyrights and other intellectual property rights of third parties be
respected and not infringed by the College or any of its Committees, or any employee or other
person acting on behalf of the College.
Registrants participating in volunteer activities or working under contract, such as Peer
Assessors, Examiners, Subject Matter Experts, Curriculum Reviewers, Investigators, may, from
time to time, where appropriate, be required to sign an agreement acknowledging the transfer
of any rights in intellectual property to the College. The rights granted to the College by this
assignment shall belong to the College in perpetuity.
The Registrar will protect these assets, minimize risk and ensure that they are used in
accordance with this policy. Any breaches of this policy shall be reported to the Council on a
timely basis.
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4.15. Elections Campaigning
A fair and democratic election process for selecting Massage Therapists to Council is important
to the College as one element in ensuring a strong governance structure. Elected individuals
provide the profession’s perspective in a self-regulatory, public interest model. Registrants
eligible to vote require adequate, reliable and consistent information about each electoral
candidate to assist them in exercising an informed vote. The College facilitates this process
through the distribution of candidate materials with election ballots.

Procedure
1. Individual Massage Therapists, who are nominated and are eligible for election according to
By-law No. 2 – The election of members to the Council, will provide a candidate statement
and their biographical information for distribution with the election ballots (see Appendix
A).
A candidate’s statement should include a one-page biographical note and, if the
candidate wishes, a short statement as to how the candidate intends to fulfill their role
and responsibilities and include the following statement.
Self-regulation means putting the interest of the public ahead of professional interest.
Massage Therapists are elected to reflect the profession's dedication to excellence in
protecting the public, serving its registrants, and promoting the highest possible quality
of the practice of Massage Therapy.
2. A candidate’s statement will speak to the candidate’s skills and experience in relation to the
College’s mandate and may include their personal interests in running for Council.
Candidates must not comment on College business of which they may have knowledge
related to current Committee work, which is not yet public information. The candidate's
information needs to reflect the College’s role in protecting the public interest and must
not make reference to representing Massage Therapists, as this is not the role of Council
or Committee Members.
3. Candidates may choose to campaign within his/her district beyond the College published
candidate statement. All candidates will be notified of the availability of one set of mailing
labels of the voters list for their respective district. Campaign materials are not reviewed,
verified or endorsed by the College, and candidates will make every effort to ensure that
the views portrayed are verifiable and true.
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4. In publishing the candidate’s statement for circulation with the election ballots, the College
will include a disclaimer indicating that the opinions and comments contained in any
statement are that of the candidate and are neither verified nor endorsed by the College.
5. Current Council Members are considered to hold positions of trust and influence and will
not endorse any candidate in an election.
6. Information contained in this policy will be disclosed to all candidates at the time of
nomination confirmation.
Adapted from:
College of Nurses of Ontario
College of Physiotherapists of Ontario
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4.16. Succession Planning
The function of succession planning is to bring in or transition to a new Registrar. Succession
planning should look at consistently attracting, identifying, retaining and training talent to
eventually take on senior and critical management positions wherever possible. Talent should
be developed within the organization over the long term.
In a small organization such as this College, it is not however presumed that a suitable internal
candidate will always be available for the Registrar’s position.
The College will establish both short and long term planning processes, whether absences of
the Registrar are planned or not.
Emergency Succession Plan will focus on a maximum of three months following the departure
of the Registrar and are designed to ensure the ongoing coverage of duties previously
undertaken by the Registrar, to oversee the appointment of an interim Registrar, where
appropriate, and to communicate with registrants about the staffing change and the steps that
are being taken to ensure delivery of services.
Planning steps include:

1. The identification of the key duties of the Registrar and who might be responsible for these
on an interim basis;
2. The process by which the Council, staff and the profession is informed;
3. The hiring of an interim Registrar, when necessary, their responsibilities, authority and
compensation, and the process necessary to begin a search for a new Registrar where the
absence is permanent; and
4. The identification of existing staff members who might be appointed Interim Registrar, or
staff members who would assume responsibility for certain of the Registrar’s
responsibilities.
Planned Succession Process will provide an orderly sequence from the departure of the
Registrar to the employment of the replacement.
On receipt of the Registrar’s resignation (Employment Standards Act requires a minimum of
two (2) weeks’ notice) or if the Council terminates the employment of the Registrar, then the
Council of the College will determine whether an overlap of Registrars is permitted or required
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and if the search for a replacement will be done internally by a Selection Committee or through
a search firm.
If a search firm is to be engaged, then the steps specified below will be followed.
1.

2.

3.

4.

Staff investigates potential search firms and their costs and provides this information to
the Executive Committee. A budget and timeline are established which is approved by
Council and the firm is contracted to complete the task. A Selection Committee will be
created, including senior staff, to review the short list of candidates screened by the
search firm.
With the assistance of the search firm the Selection Committee conducts interviews
with the three (3) to four (4) short listed candidates.
• Ask the predetermined questions and additional questions building on the
candidate’s responses;
• Be prepared to respond to questions on salary range, benefits and other terms of
employment;
• Select one (1) or two (2) candidates who will be presented to the Council for their
consideration and to make the final decision; and
• Develop a summary report for the Council with a snapshot and strengths of each
finalist candidate.
The Chair of the Selection Committee contacts the finalist candidates to inform them of
their status.
• Checks the references of the finalist candidates if appropriate; offers finalist
candidates a tour of the College if they have not already seen it; and
• Meets with the Executive Committee and assists them in formulating the questions
they and the rest of Council will ask of the finalist candidates.
Provide Council Members with resumes, questionnaire responses, Selection Committee
notes and reference feedback. Each finalist candidate is interviewed separately and the
President or other designated member is the lead questioner. This interview should be
very interactive and the candidate should be given the opportunity to ask questions and
discuss his/her philosophy and vision for the College. After the interviews and
discussion, the Council selects its choice for the next Registrar. The President notifies
both candidates of the decision and makes a formal job offer to the successful
candidate.

If the search is to be conducted by a Selection Committee, then the steps identified below be
followed.
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1. Staff investigate the cost of advertising in newspapers, non-profit publications and nonprofit oriented online sites and make a list of all reasonable places to advertise and the cost.
A succession planning budget and timeline is established which the Council approves. This
includes a final determination as to which advertising locations will be used.
2. Council reviews the job description to determine if any changes or updates need to be
made using the key attributes developed by the Council. A letter announcing the position is
sent to local Executive Directors, other regulatory colleges, foundations, political leaders,
etc. The position is posted on the website. All Council Members use their networks to
identify potential candidates. People who may know good candidates should be contacted
and asked to recommend potential applicants.
3. Council determines who the members of the Selection Committee will be. It may include
Council Members, non-Council Members and outside individuals connected to the College,
for example, Legal Counsel.
4. Staff prepares the advertisement detailing the key attributes of the position for the
Selection Committee’s approval and determines the closing date for applications.
5. On receipt of the resumes and after the cut-off date for applications to the position, the
Selection Committee reviews all and selects the candidates who will receive consideration.
Depending on the number of candidates this could be in the range of 10 to 15 applicants. A
set of interview questions must be developed for these candidates to respond to in writing.
The questionnaires allow comparison of the candidates using a standard basis for
comparison.
6. Staff sends the selected candidates the list of questions and ensures they are given a
response length not to exceed four (4) to five (5) pages total and a due date for response.
The Annual Report and other background information about the College should be included
in the package. Designated Selection Committee Members must be available to answer
questions via phone or e-mail.
7. Staff prepares a package on each candidate, which has their resume, questionnaire
responses, cover letter and references.
8. The Selection Committee Members receive all responses and the candidate’s complete
package of information in order to review each candidate prior to the Committee meeting.
The objective of this meeting is to identify the three (3) or four (4) candidates to be
interviewed and to develop interview questions. Discuss the merits and concerns for each
candidate and select the candidates for interview. Develop interview questions for the live
interviews through referencing the key attributes desired.
9. Staff schedules the interviews in one and a half hour blocks permitting 30 minutes between
interviews for discussion and reflection by the Selection Committee. Draft response letters
to unsuccessful candidates thanking them for their interest and have staff distribute them.
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10. Conduct the interviews with the candidates. Ask the predetermined questions and
additional questions building on the candidate’s responses. Be prepared to respond to
questions on salary range, benefits and other terms of employment. Select one (1) or two
(2) candidates that will be presented to the Council for their consideration and to make the
final decision. Develop a summary report for the Council with a snapshot and strengths of
each finalist candidate.
11. The Chair of the Selection Committee contacts the finalist candidates to inform them of
their status. Check the references of the finalist candidates if appropriate, offer finalist
candidates a tour of the College if they have not already seen it. Meet with the Executive
Committee and assist them in formulating the questions they and the rest of Council will
ask of the finalist candidates.
12. Provide Council Members with resumes, questionnaire responses, Selection Committee
notes and reference feedback. Each finalist candidate is interviewed separately and the
President or other designated member is the lead questioner. This interview should be very
interactive and the candidate should be given the opportunity to ask questions and discuss
his/her philosophy and vision for the College. After the interviews and discussion, the
Council selects its choice for the next Registrar. The President notifies both candidates of
the decision and makes a formal job offer to the successful candidate.
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4.17. IT Device Policy: Council and Non-Council Members
General Use Policy
The College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (“College”) owns the device and is provided to
Council/non-Council (“Members”) for the exclusive use of College-related purposes. The device
must remain unmodified and only store College related material. All licensed software will be
installed by CMTO. Personal licensed software should not be installed on the device. While the
College respects individual privacy, please be advised this is not extended to the use of College
equipment and software. Members are granted the privilege of exclusive use of the local user
account. All computer files on a College owned device belong to the College and are subject to
disclosure to law enforcement or government officials, or to other third parties in accordance
with the law, without prior notification or your permission.
A member must serve at least one year (twelve (12) consecutive months) to be permitted to
keep the College owned device at the end of their term i.e. does not return device to the
College. Any exceptions must be approved by the Executive Committee.
At the end of the respective member’s term, the device is wiped of College information.

IT Support Help Desk
Training will be provided when you receive your device and additional training can requested at
any time. The Help Desk is available 8:30 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., Monday to Friday. There is no cost
for assistance provided during these hours. BIT Technical Support Number: 416-646-1690 or
helpdesk@bit-incorp.com

Viruses
Viruses are a major threat to any organization, including CMTO. Avoid opening any unexplained
e-mail attachments from individuals known and unknown to you. Be conscious of the subject
line and the name of the attachments prior to opening it. Respond immediately to any virus
warning message on your computer, or, if you suspect a virus, e.g. by unusual file activity,
please contact the Help Desk.
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Security
You are accountable for any information accessed under your user ID. Please protect your
password. Do not loan your device or allow it to be used by others. Avoid leaving your device
unattended. Always shut down, log off or activate the screen lock before walking away. The
screen is easily observed by someone sitting in proximity. Please ensure that no sensitive or
critical information can be viewed by an unauthorized person. Each device includes a mouse,
internal battery and carrying case.

Loss, Damage and Theft
Please contact the Help Desk immediately to report the incident. In case of lost/stolen device,
IT access will be disabled, and the device remotely wiped. An interim device may be provided if
a replacement is not readily available.
Each member is granted one incident forgiveness claim and may be asked to compensate the
College for any subsequent occurrence.

Backup of User Device
To protect against data loss and enable business continuity in the event of a disaster, the
College regularly makes backup copies of its electronic files, e-mail, documents, and other
systems. For the backup to be effective, all company data must be stored on Network Shares
and Network Drives, e.g. L:\ drive. Therefore, no College data should be permanently stored on
the User’s C drive.

Password Guidelines to Remote Access and E-mail
The initial, temporary password is set by the IT Department. To protect your privacy, please
change your temporary password as soon as possible.

Password Guidelines
• Passwords must be six (6) character or longer, must contain a number and upper and lower
cases.

• Passwords should not contain dictionary words such as “kitchen” or “automotive.”
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• Passwords must be complex, containing at least eight characters and a mixture of lower
case, upper case, numbers and punctuation characters. For instance, “B3llt0Wer!” should
be used in place of “Belltower” as it is considerably more secure.

• Passwords should never contain security sensitive information such as an employee’s Social
Security Number or date of birth.

• Passwords should not include public information related to an employee’s personal life,
such as the names of their children, hobbies, favourite sports team, etc.

• Users must not write passwords down or send passwords through e-mail/instant messaging
services.

• Users must not share their account passwords with others.
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4.18. Deputations at Council Meetings by External Groups
A deputation is a submission made to the Council by a person who is not a Council Member at
the person’s request. Normally only Council Members and Council resource people, e.g. staff,
College consultants are permitted to speak at Council meetings. Deputations often involve a
request by the person for the Council to do something, e.g. make a regulation or by-law, change
a policy.

1. The President may allocate specific time during the meeting to receive and hear

2.

3.

4.

5.

deputations on specific topics relevant to the affairs of the College requested by nonmembers of the Council.
No such deputation shall be permitted unless a written request has been provided to the
Executive Committee not less than 10 business days before the Council meeting and the
Executive Committee gives permission.
Unless the Chair otherwise determines, each deputation shall be allowed a maximum of
two speakers and a maximum of 10 minutes to make a presentation. The Chair may grant
additional time if they consider it appropriate.
The Chair may accept questions from members of the Council to seek clarification from the
speaker. Neither the member nor the speaker shall engage in debate or in direct or indirect
discussion with each other or other persons present.
Unless determined to be of such a nature as to warrant or require action to be taken on the
matter in respect of which the deputation is made on an immediate basis, no action shall be
taken at the Council meeting at which the deputation is made.
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4.19. CMTO Strategic Planning Policy
Policy Statement
Strategic planning is an integral component of Council’s governance and leadership functions.
Under the direction of Council, CMTO will implement an ongoing strategic planning process by
which it establishes and translates its mission and values into actionable and measurable goals,
strategies, initiatives, and programs. Three-year strategic plans will provide direction for both
long and short term decision-making by Council and to the Registrar/CEO in the development
and execution of the College’s Annual Workplan.

Principles
The strategic planning process will be guided by the following principles:
•

Council sets the strategic direction of the College and monitors implementation.

•

The Registrar supports and participates in the strategic planning process and is accountable
to Council for implementing the plan and reporting on progress.

•

A three-year planning process allows CMTO to be strategic in its focus and priority setting.

•

Public and stakeholder engagement is a critical part of the planning process.

•

The Strategic Plan will be flexible and will respond to emerging needs and information and
may take longer to achieve than one or more three-year strategic planning cycles.

•

Goals and outcomes defined in the Strategic Plan will be measurable and attainable.

Components of the Strategic Plan
The Strategic Plan will incorporate the following components, expressed in plain language:
•

Environmental scan information and critical assumptions about the future, including the
identification of emerging issues, current and anticipated future internal and external
environmental changes, and stakeholder input;

•

A mission statement that reflects the College’s legislated mandate and the scope of its
powers;

•

An aspirational vision statement that describes the College in the future and/or the impact
that the College will have;
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•

Long term goals and outcomes that will be achieved through the Strategic Plan; and

•

Key strategies that will be implemented by the College to achieve the long term goals and
outcomes.

The Development Process
The following are the key elements of the Strategic Plan development process:
•

The Strategic Plan will be renewed every three years.

•

Early in the year that the renewal process is undertaken, the Registrar will develop and
propose to Council a specific project plan and timetable.

•

The project plan will describe the specific activities to be undertaken and anticipated timing
of each, as well as a stakeholder engagement component that identifies key stakeholders
and when/how they will be engaged.

•

The project plan will identify the points in the process where Council consideration and
decisions will be required, including final approval of the Strategic Plan, and the strategy to
communicate the plan publicly.

Implementation and Reporting
The Registrar is accountable for operational implementation of the Strategic Plan, including:
•

Developing and seeking Council approval for annual workplans to implement the College’s
Strategic Plan;

•

Proposing and seeking Council approval for adequate resources to support effective
implementation, and for deploying those resources accordingly; and

•

Continuously monitoring changes in the critical assumptions underpinning the Strategic Plan
as well as the organization’s actual performance in achieving its strategic goals. A material
change in critical assumptions or actual performance may prompt a recommendation to
Council to recalibrate or revise the Strategic Plan at any time.

The Registrar will report to Council as follows:
•

Quarterly on strategic initiatives in the Annual Workplan;

•

Annually on overall progress on implementation;
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•

Annually on whether there have been any material changes in critical assumptions that may
warrant recalibration or revisions to the Strategic Plan; and

•

At the end of the three-year cycle on:
a) progress on the implementation of strategies; and
b) whether those strategies are having the intended impact. At this time, the
Registrar will recommend whether to adjust strategies, while continuing to work
toward the same goals or whether a completely new strategic planning process
must be undertaken.
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4.20. Management & Organizational Risk Management
Policy Statement
CMTO is dedicated to and focused on the achievement of important strategic goals and
objectives. In pursuing these goals and objectives, CMTO recognizes that management and
organizational risk exists in all aspects of its activities and cannot be avoided. Therefore, it is
critical for CMTO to maintain a common and consistent approach to identifying and managing
any risks of this nature which could prevent the organization from achieving those strategic
objectives and effectively executing its responsibilities.
Accordingly, CMTO Management in consultation with and under the direction of Council will
ensure that:
•

Management and organizational risks are identified and assessed/re-assessed on an ongoing basis.

•

The risks taken and accepted by CMTO are tolerable and clearly understood by Council and
Management.

•

An effective management & organizational risk management plan is in place to prevent or
reduce the impact of those risks should they occur.

•

Ongoing senior level decision-making and planning are informed by accurate risk
assessment.

Management will monitor the Plan through an annual monitoring process. On an annual basis,
Management will identify any necessary changes to the Risks, Risk Assessments, and mitigation
strategies based on internal and external events and developments during the previous twelve
months. The Registrar will report the results of the annual monitoring and any actions taken by
Management to Council.
Council and Management will conduct a thorough review and reassessment of the Risk
Management Plan every five years.
Approved by Council: December 2014
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1867 Yonge Street, Suite 810, Toronto, ON M4S 1Y5
Phone: (416) 489-2626
Toll Free: (800) 465-1933
Fax: (416) 489-2625
E-mail: cmto@cmto.com
Website: www.cmto.com
Twitter: @CollegeofMT
YouTube: CMTOVideos
LinkedIn: College of Massage
Therapists of Ontario
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Agenda Item 7.3
For Decision

BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date:

November 24, 2020

From: Lloyd White, Chair, Quality Assurance Committee
Re:

Rescind Complementary Modalities and Modalities Considered Outside Scope Policies

Background:
As work continues towards the release of the new Standards of Practice, there are policies that
will need to be updated or rescinded to ensure alignment with the Standards, reflect the
current approach to practice guidance and to achieve CMTO’s goal of regulatory modernization.
The Complementary Modalities (Item 7.3.1) and Modalities Considered Outside of Scope
Policies (Item 7.3.2), last updated in 2005 & 2007 respectively, uses lists to indicate modalities
that fall outside of the Scope of Practice with a subset of those able to be provided as Massage
Therapy when provided within a Massage Therapy treatment plan. In addition, the separation
of modalities into these types of categories is no longer used for continuing education purposes
under STRiVE – the Quality Assurance Program. Even with this list-based approach, there are
regular inquiries regarding modalities not included in these lists or being used under an
alternative name.
For Consideration:
Discontinued List Style Approach
With the introduction of STRiVE, the development of the new Standards of Practice, and other
recent policy and guidance resources, CMTO has been moving away from prescriptive list-based
approaches for practice requirements and guidance. Lists are quickly out of date, provide a
sense of exclusion or inclusion that may not be accurate, do not allow for context or situation,
and can act as a form of perceived approval or disapproval. Instead, in line with regulatory
modernization, CMTO is recommending an outcome-based, evidence- informed approach
which can be used to decide if a modality can be provided within the context of Massage
Therapy and with consideration of context, treatment goals, and treatment plan. The continued
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provision of modality categorization lists is contrary to this policy direction and would require
CMTO to continually review and categorize current and future modalities.
Questions of Scope of Practice
According to CMTO’s current policy, complementary modalities can be interpreted as
modalities that are outside the Scope of Practice for Massage Therapy but complimentary to a
Massage Therapy treatment, but it is not completely clear if this is in fact true. For example,
therapeutic ultrasound at low frequencies could be considered tissue manipulation or certain
yoga positions could be considered passive stretching exercises. The Scope of Practice for
Massage Therapy is very broad and many important concepts, such as “manipulation”, are not
defined within legislation. As such, there is broad leeway to interpret the Scope of Practice and
the possibility, that depending on context or treatment goals, some modalities might be either
inside or outside of Scope in different situations.
In addition, the Regulated Health Professions Act (RHPA), 1991, does not limit modalities to a
particular profession or Scope of Practice. Instead, modalities, when used within the context of
a profession’s approach, are treated as that form of therapy. For example, therapeutic
ultrasound provided by a Massage Therapist is Massage Therapy and when provided by a
Physiotherapist is Physiotherapy. Only those acts considered highest risk are restricted as
Controlled Acts and limited to certain professions (with specific exemptions in some cases).
Acupuncture provides another interesting example of a modality that, depending on treatment
goals, can be considered either inside or outside of Scope of Practice and requires an
exemption for Registered Massage Therapists (RMTs) to use it as it is a Controlled Act usually
limited to other professions.
Discontinued Categories for Continuing Education
In the previous Continuing Education (CE) program, learning activities related to modalities
were categorized using a list system that indicated if a modality was either inside or outside of
the Scope of Practice. This allowed for separating learning activities into the two categories of
CE units used at the time. This concept is no longer used in STRiVE; instead, the current learning
framework categorizes learning goals by Career-Span Competencies (CSCs).
Insurance and Billing
As part of the new Standards of Practice draft development process, the Canadian Life and
Health Insurance Association (CLHIA) was contacted to discuss current receipt and billing
practices. During this discussion, CLHIA representatives indicated that, for many of their
members’ plans, Massage Therapy is a separate service and receipts for these plans were
intended to have only services that are considered Massage Therapy to be billed as such. This
suggests, that for many extended health insurance plans, the expectation is that only those
services provided within the Scope of Practice for Massage Therapy would be reimbursed as
Massage Therapy. A definition of complementary modalities that includes services provided
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outside the Scope of Practice for Massage Therapy does not align with what many insurers will
cover.
Current Tools for Modality Interpretation
There are already many documents provided by CMTO that can be used by RMTs, insurers, and
the public to explore if a modality is within the Scope of Practice for Massage Therapy.
Primarily, these include the definition of Scope of Practice in the Massage Therapy Act, 1991,
the Standards of Practice, and the Code of Ethics with other policies and guidelines providing
addition information in specific areas.
In addition, there are plans to develop over the next year an “expansion pack” documents, of
additional resources including practice-related tools that will provide a framework and
guidance for informed decision-making about whether a modality is within scope or practice, to
accompany the new Standards of Practice.
Used collectively, along with inquiry support from the Practice Specialist, these resources
should provide all the information needed by RMTs, insurers, and the public to make informed
decisions about modality use.
Consideration using the Regulatory Modernization Principles
• Identify the problem before the solution: Is it in the public’s best interest for CMTO to
continue to provide the Complementary Modalities and Modalities Considered Outside
Scope Policies? Should the solution be to rescind the Complementary Modalities and
Modalities Considered Outside of Scope Policies given that it is no longer aligned with
current CMTO Standards and an outcomes-based approach to regulatory policies and
guidance?
•

Quantify and qualify the risks: These two policies are regularly accessed on the website
and are currently used by RMTs and insurers to evaluate if modalities are within Scope
of Practice or can be included on a Massage Therapy receipt. Removing this information
may lead to increased questions on the topic for the Practice Specialist. However, the
policies are not needed to evaluate if a modality is within the Scope of Practice and may
be providing inaccurate information regarding the subject and related receipt
requirements depending on the practice situation, which creates risk for the College. In
addition, it does not align with the current outcomes-based approach to policies and
guidance nor the new Standards of Practice.

•

Develop and implement solutions that are as close to the problem as possible: The
most direct solution is to rescind these policies and provide additional documents to
guide decision-making that are in alignment with an outcomes-based approach and the
new Standards of Practice.
3
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•

Use regulation only when necessary: Rescinding these policies does not require
additional regulation and eliminates direct oversight of what would be considered a
Massage Therapy modality. Instead, it allows for the Standards of Practice, the Scope of
Practice, the Code of Ethics, and other guidance to be applied to modalities in a more
adaptable and context-based way.

•

Be transparent and accountable: As the change does require additional guidance,
transparency and accountability can primarily be achieved through notification. Related
changes, such as the new Standards of Practice and other additional resources to
support decision-making for the profession and the public, will involve extensive
consultation, committee review, and other feedback while developing them, to ensure
transparency and accountability.
Information on these policies being rescinded along with resources to address questions
of Scope of Practice will be shared in the winter edition of TouchPoint.

•

Monitor for unintended consequences: The change will be monitored through inquires
received by the Practice Specialist. Themes and statistics will be tracked to identify
issues related to modalities and the Scope of Practice and communicated, as required,
to RMTs, insurers, and the public.

•

Review and respond to change: The change will be reviewed regularly as part of the
Practice Specialist inquiry themes and monthly statistics review process.

Additional Policies Mentioning Complementary Modalities
Two other policies mention complementary modalities and will require minor revision if the
Complementary Modalities Policy is rescinded. First, the Receipts Policy (Item 7.3.3) mentions
them as follows (highlighted section):
“For products and services that are outside of the Massage Therapy scope of practice,
the receipt must not include the member’s registration number or MT designation, the
description cannot read “Massage Therapy treatment” and it must indicate the product
or service provided. When a complementary modality is provided apart from a Massage
Therapy treatment plan, the receipt cannot read, “Massage Therapy treatment” but
must indicate the name of the modality provided.”
The above highlighted sentence can be removed without otherwise effecting the policy.
Without this sentence, the policy in effect indicates that only services provided within Scope of
Practice can have a receipt indicating “Massage Therapy treatment” which is in alignment with
the intent of the change.
Second, the Ancillary and Related Activities policy (Item 7.3.4), which is used to provide
guidance on activities CMTO considers ancillary to Massage Therapy for the purposes of a
4

Agenda Item 7.3
For Decision

Massage Therapy corporation. Here is the portion of policy that mentions complementary
modalities:
“The College has published a policy on complementary modalities. The College considers
that these complementary modalities will be considered the practice of the profession
for the purpose of the Professional Incorporation requirements if they are integrated
into a treatment plan as required by the policy and are not considered ancillary
activities.”
In this case, the entire section can be removed as the rest of the policy provides guidance for
handling activities within and outside of Scope of Practice.
Draft Motion:
THAT Council rescind the Complementary Modalities and Modalities Considered Outside of
Scope Policies, effective immediately; and further
THAT the Receipt and Ancillary and Related Activities Polices be amended to remove mention
of complementary modalities, effective immediately.
Attachments:
7.3.1 Complementary Modalities
7.3.2 Modalities Considered Outside Scope
7.3.3 Receipts
7.3.4 Ancillary and Related Devices
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Complementary Modalities
The College has determined that there are some modalities which, while not fitting the
definition of the scope of practice, may be complementary to Massage Therapy treatments.
Scope Statement
Section 3. of the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 states:
“The practice of Massage Therapy is the assessment of the soft tissue and joints of the body
and the treatment and prevention of physical dysfunction and pain of the soft tissues and joints
by manipulation to develop, maintain, rehabilitate or augment physical function, or relieve
pain.”
Policy
There are a number of modalities that can be integrated into a treatment plan by a Massage
Therapist, and may even be accepted and taught in recognized massage educational
institutions, that, if used exclusively in and of themselves, would not fall within the generally
accepted practice of the profession.
Therapists ought to be given a reasonable and responsible latitude with respect to the use of
complementary modalities, recognizing that they are accountable to ensure that the modality is
integrated into a treatment plan that largely consists of modalities in scope.
Massage therapists who provide complementary modalities must understand their professional
accountability and that they are responsible for:
1. following the Code of Ethics, the Standards of Practice, and the Regulations;
2. determining the appropriateness of the complementary modality;
3. ensuring that they have the knowledge, skill, and judgment to perform the modality
competently;
4. performing an assessment of clients before providing the treatment;
5. explaining to the client the anticipated effects, the potential benefits, and the potential
risks of the proposed modality so the client can make an informed choice;
6. obtaining valid consent before beginning treatment; and
7. evaluating the ongoing status of the client and the effects of the modality on the client’s
condition and overall health.
Members teaching a complementary modality should note that teaching a course on a
complementary modality is not considered practising Massage Therapy.
Members are reminded that the complementary modalities therapists engage in under this
policy are not considered Massage Therapy and that they may not be billed as Massage

Therapy as such if performed on their own. However, they may be billed as Massage Therapy if
they are integrated into a treatment plan. Activities carried out by a therapist or a health
profession corporation beyond the strict practice of Massage Therapy may not be covered
under the member’s professional liability insurance and it may be necessary to make
arrangements for separate insurance coverage for these activities.
The attached list is a schedule of modalities that the College considers to be outside the scope
of practice for the profession but which may be used as complementary modalities.
Adopted: September 22, 2003
Schedule A
1. Alexander Technique
2. Aromatherapy
3. Feldenkrais
4. Electrical therapy techniques including:
a. IFC
b. TENS
c. Therapeutic Ultrasound
d. Pulsed High Frequency
e. Low Intensity Laser Therapy
5. Guided Imagery
6. Inhalation Therapy
7. Kinesiology
8. Meditation
9. Pilates
10. Reiki – first degree reiki only (involves touching the client; second degree reiki is
delivered at a distance and is outside the scope of practice for Massage Therapists)
11. Therapeutic Touch
12. Touch for Health
13. Trager
14. Yoga
Adopted: September 22, 2003 Revised: February 18, 2005
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Modalities Considered Outside Scope
This policy statement has been created for Massage Therapists and for Massage Therapy
corporations to clarify what may not be considered Massage Therapy.
Scope Statement
Section 3. of the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 states:
“The practice of Massage Therapy is the assessment of the soft tissue and joints of the body
and the treatment and prevention of physical dysfunction and pain of the soft tissues and joints
by manipulation to develop, maintain, rehabilitate or augment physical function, or relieve
pain.”
Policy
If the primary intent, focus, and practical use of a modality is outside the definition of Massage
Therapy’s scope of practice, the modality is considered not in the scope of practice.
The attached list is a schedule of modalities that the College considers to be outside the scope
of practice for the profession. This list should not be interpreted as a complete list of activities
outside the scope of the profession. It is a list of those activities about which the College feels
the membership requires specific clarification at this time.
Adopted: September 22, 2003.
Schedule A – A Schedule of Modalities Considered Outside Scope
1. Aboriginal Healing
2. Allergy Testing
3. Ayurvedic Medicine
4. Bach Flower Therapy
5. Biodynamics
6. Biofeedback
7. Chakra Balancing
8. Colour Therapy
9. Crystal/Gem therapy
10. Endermology
11. Hellerwork

12. Herbology
13. Homeopathy
14. Iridology
15. Lypossage
16. Metaphysical Healing
17. Muscle Activation Technique (M.A.T.)
18. Nutrition Counselling
19. Orthotics
20. Osteopathy
21. Personal Training
22. Polarity
23. Psychotherapy
24. Quantum Zrroid Biofeedback
25. Raindrop therapy
26. Reiki – second degree (reiki treatment delivered without touching the client)
27. Religious/Spiritual Healing
28. Sound Therapy
29. Success Through Alignment Restoration (S.T.A.R.)
30. Traditional Chinese Herbal Medicine
31. Trigenics
32. Watsu
33. Zero Balancing
Adopted: September 22, 2003 Revised: February 18, 2005 Revised: December 1, 2006 Revised:
November 26, 2007
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Background
Ontario Regulation 544/94 as amended to 474/99 s. 10, requires that a financial record be kept
for each client. The financial record must include a copy or record of the receipt issued for
payment of the services provided. This policy provides guidance to members regarding what
information must be placed on the receipt when they are issued. The information on the
receipt may be used by insurance carriers and/or Canada Revenue Agency for taxation
purposes and must be an accurate reflection of the service or product provided, the payee, the
provider and the fee received.
Policy
Receipts are a record of a financial transaction and are to be provided at the time the service or
product is purchased. Receipts provided for Massage Therapy services may only be issued for
those services that fall within the scope of practice and must be signed by the Massage
Therapist who performed the service. The date of the financial transaction, the description of
the service, duration of treatment and the name of the payer must appear on the receipt.
Receipts issued for Massage Therapy treatment also require that the name of the therapist is
printed or stamped on the receipt along with the Massage Therapist’s registration number and
signature.
When issuing a receipt for a Massage Therapy appointment the receipt must have the date of
the appointment, the name of the client, the amount of the transaction and the name,
signature and registration number of the Massage Therapist. If the Massage Therapist collects
HST, their HST number must also appear on the receipt. The description of service must read
“Massage Therapy Treatment.”
For products and services that are outside of the Massage Therapy scope of practice, the
receipt must not include the member’s registration number or MT designation, the description
cannot read “Massage Therapy treatment” and it must indicate the product or service
provided. When a complementary modality is provided apart from a Massage Therapy
treatment plan, the receipt cannot read, “Massage Therapy treatment” but must indicate the
name of the modality provided.
For modalities that are complementary to the Massage Therapy scope of practice, when
provided within the context of a Massage Therapy treatment plan, the description must read
for, “Massage Therapy treatment.”
In the case of a third party paying for the Massage Therapy treatment on behalf of the client,
the description of service must read “Massage Therapy Treatment for _______” and the name
of the recipient of the Massage Therapy treatment is inserted. The receipt is still issued in the
name of the payer.

When a gift certificate is purchased, the description of the service is “Gift Certificate” and the
dollar amount paid is listed on the receipt. When the gift certificate is redeemed, a receipt for
the dollar amount of the gift certificate is not issued. If the recipient of the massage wishes to
receive a receipt, the dollar amount listed must be “gift certificate redeemed” with no dollar
amount given.
Receipts issued for missed or cancelled appointments must be clearly marked “for missed
appointment.”
Duplicate receipts must reflect the date that the duplicate receipt was issued. The description
of services must indicate for “Massage Therapy treatment” on the date that the original
treatment was rendered and clearly marked, “duplicate receipt.”
References: s.10, Ontario Regulation544/94 as amended to Ontario Regulation 474/99. Policy
on Complementary Modalities, College of Massage Therapists of Ontario, 2004.
Approved: June 19, 1995 Amended: May 16, 2005
Sample receipt for Massage Therapy treatment or complementary therapy as part of treatment
plan

Agenda Item 7.3.4

Ancillary and Related Activities
Background
In order to be allowed to register as, and carry on, a health professions corporation, the
applicable legislation requires “that the corporation does not carry on, and does not plan to
carry on, any business that is not the practice of the profession governed by the College or
activities related to or ancillary to the practice of that profession” (ss. 2. (1) 6. ii.).
This policy statement has been created for Massage Therapy corporations to clarify what the
College of Massage Therapists of Ontario regards as business that is related to or ancillary to
the practice of Massage Therapy. The Ministry of Health and Long-Term Care has given us no
information on the meaning of the terms “ancillary” and “activities related to” the practice of
Massage Therapy. The Ministry and/or case law may eventually give some guidance on the
interpretation of these terms.
Scope Statement
Section 3. of the Massage Therapy Act, 1991 states:
“The practice of Massage Therapy is the assessment of the soft tissue and joints of the body
and the treatment and prevention of physical dysfunction and pain of the soft tissues and joints
by manipulation to develop, maintain, rehabilitate or augment physical function, or relieve
pain.”
Policy
In the College’s view, activities carried out by Massage Therapists and by Massage Therapy
corporations which do not strictly fit the definition of the scope of practice in the Massage
Therapy Act, 1991 must be closely related to the practice of Massage Therapy and must be
carried out within the context of an active Massage Therapy practice. The College considers
that ancillary and related activities Massage Therapists may engage in would include, but not
be limited to, the following:
•

Selling massage-related supplies for home use;

•

Teaching massage-related courses;

•

Publication or selling of books or videos related to massage;

•

The temporary investment of surplus funds earned by the corporation.

Massage-related is to be interpreted as meaning not within the scope of practice of Massage
Therapists but having a direct relationship to the practice of Massage Therapy.
members should also be aware that the College will only consider activities, including the ones
listed above, to be ancillary or related to the practice of the profession if they are carried on in
the context of an active Massage Therapy practice and do not themselves constitute the

primary function of the business. The College will assess this factor with reference to, among
other things, the amount of income generated by, and hours spent on, the actual practice of
Massage Therapy versus the number of hours spent on related activities.
Members are reminded that the ancillary and related activities therapists engage in under this
policy are not considered Massage Therapy and that they may not be billed as Massage
Therapy.
The College has published a policy on complementary modalities. The College considers that
these complementary modalities will be considered the practice of the profession for the
purpose of the Professional Incorporation requirements if they are integrated into a treatment
plan as required by the policy and are not considered ancillary activities.
If a corporation or its shareholders apply for a certificate of authorization claiming to be
practicing exclusively the profession or related and ancillary activities, when, in fact, they are
carrying on practices that are not either part of the profession or related and ancillary to the
profession, they can be subject to professional misconduct proceedings or prosecution under
the Health Professions Procedural Code in the Regulated Health Professions Act, 1991 for
providing false or misleading information for the purpose of obtaining a certificate of
authorization.
Activities carried out by a therapist or a health profession corporation beyond the strict practice
of Massage Therapy may not be covered under the member’s professional liability insurance
and it may be necessary to make arrangements for separate insurance coverage for these
activities.
Adopted: September 22, 2003
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Message from the Board Chair and the Executive Director
Welcome to CMTCA’s 2019 annual report. We saw many successes in the past
year. We granted Preliminary Accreditation to five education programs and
accredited four others. And we expanded our staff team to enable us to provide
more support to education programs and surveyors, and continue to spread the
word about the value of accreditation and quality improvement in massage
therapy education.

Iain Robertson
Board Chair

However, there was one overriding issue that needed a great deal of time and
effort. The board made the difficult decision, in the interest of fairness, to
suspend accreditation services in provinces where the regulator, or, in nonregulated provinces, the massage therapy association(s), were not fulfilling their
commitment to support CMTCA financially. The result was that services were
suspended in all of the non-regulated provinces and also in the regulated
province of British Columbia. This meant that many massage therapy education Kathrina Loeffler
programs in Canada no longer had access to CMTCA’s rigorous standards or
Executive Director
accreditation process, and lost the benefit of having our experienced survey teams guide their
quality improvement efforts.
The board did not take this decision lightly, particularly given CMTCA’s ongoing commitment
to a pan-Canadian accreditation process. Despite extensive consultation and discussion over a
number of months, in the end this decision was unavoidable if CMTCA was to address the
issue of some provinces—and their members—carrying a disproportionate share of the financial
burden.
We are pleased to report, however, that continued dialogue with British Columbia led to a
fruitful conclusion, with accreditation services being reinstated in that province as of January
2020. In addition, our supporting regulators signed three-year agreements to provide
financial support to CMTCA, leading to more stability and sustainability and helping to solidify
the gains that have been made to entrench accreditation for massage therapy education
programs in Canada.
Through it all, our commitment to the intrinsic value of inspiring excellence through
accreditation has never wavered. We continue to accredit education programs and develop
supporting resources and services. And we firmly believe that our accreditation services are
raising the profile of the massage therapy profession as a whole, benefitting students as well
as the public who want to have confidence in the massage therapy health care they receive.
Sincerely,

Iain Robertson, Board Chair
Inspiring excellence

Kathrina Loeffler, Executive Director

Board update
Highlights of the CMTCA Board of Director’s activities in 2019 include:

▪

Overseeing the process to achieve fair and equitable financial sustainability, which
included suspending accreditation services in some provinces

▪

Reviewing Preliminary Accreditation and site visit recommendation reports and
issuing accreditation decisions

▪

Granting Preliminary Accreditation to five education programs

▪

Accrediting four education programs

▪

Directing and supporting stakeholder engagement, resulting in meetings with and
presentations to the Canadian Council of Massage Therapy Schools; Career Colleges
Ontario; College of Massage Therapists of Ontario; education programs in Manitoba
and the Manitoba associations responsible for massage therapists (Remedial Massage
Therapists Society of Manitoba, Massage Therapists Association of Manitoba, Natural
Health Practitioners of Canada, and the Canadian Massage and Manual Osteopathic
Association)
Meet our board

Photo Credit: Olivia Hutcherson, unsplash.com
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From Concept to Reality: Vision 2020
This is our final update on our three-year strategic plan, From
Concept to Reality: Vision 2020, which runs to the end of 2020.
We are beginning to think about our next plan already; If you
have ideas on what CMTCA’s focus and priorities should be for
the next few years, please let us know at info@cmtca.ca. The
Board would welcome your input!

Strategic focus 2017–2020
By 2020, our focus is on becoming an independent and
effective accrediting body that is recognized by our many
stakeholders as offering a sought-after accreditation process
that strengthens and improves the quality of massage therapy
education across the country.
To achieve this, our three areas of strategic focus are:
A. Independence: Update and strengthen CMTCA’s role
as an independent accrediting body.
B. Sustainability: Operate under a sustainable funding
model.
C. Accreditation: Strengthen education and support
services to facilitate successful accreditation.

Our vision:
Inspiring excellence in
massage therapy
education

Our mission:
The Canadian Massage Therapy
Council for Accreditation
(CMTCA) is the independent
body that accredits massage
therapy education programs
across Canada. CMTCA sets
standards for massage therapy
education and supports
organizations to achieve and
maintain program accreditation.

We will …

▪

Promote continuous quality improvement and best practices in massage therapy
education through accreditation.

▪

Ensure every massage therapy student in Canada has access to a CMTCA-accredited
program.

▪

Improve the profession of massage therapy through accreditation.

▪

Be a recognized accreditor—the public stamp of approval—that sets the gold standard
for massage therapy education in Canada.

As a result …

▪

High-quality and consistent massage therapy education is available across Canada.

▪

Graduates of CMTCA-accredited programs are trained to be caring, committed, and
competent, and they enter the profession ready to provide professional, quality health
services.

▪

The public understands the contribution of massage therapy to health care.
Inspiring excellence

Goals and status
Independence: Update and strengthen CMTCA’s role as an independent accrediting body
Objective

Status

Short-term (2017)

Revise bylaws and governance
model so as to function as an
independent accrediting body

Complete

Medium-term (2018–2019)

Implement a policy governance
model

Complete

Long-term (2020)

CMTCA functions as an
independent accrediting body

Complete

Sustainability: Operate under a sustainable funding model
Objective

Status

Short-term (2017)

Annual funding from CMTA
member associations in nonregulated provinces and
Complete
regulators in regulated provinces,
based on 2015 fee of
$22/member

Medium-term (2018–2019)

Hybrid funding based on
education programs paying full
cost of accreditation with
sponsorship support from
massage therapy associations
and regulators at $22/member

Long-term (2020)

Sustainable funding based on
education programs paying full
cost of accreditation with
contributions from other
stakeholders including massage
therapy associations and
regulators, at a rate to be
determined

CMTCA Annual Report 2019

Modified to continue
with the shared model to
ensure ongoing
sustainability.
Modified to have
regulators and
associations share the
cost for the next three
years and perhaps
longer, to share the
financial costs equitably.
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Accreditation: Strengthen education and support services to facilitate successful
accreditation
Objective

Status

Short-term (2017)

Provide education so education
programs and surveyors
understand the accreditation
process and programs are able
to develop in-house expertise on
accreditation requirements

Complete and ongoing

Medium-term (2018–2019)

Strengthen education and
support services to facilitate
successful accreditation

Complete and ongoing

Long-term (2020)

Education programs understand
accreditation requirements and
have embedded the principles of
quality improvement

Ongoing

Photo Credit: Omar Sonido, unsplash.com
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Sustainable funding
2019 began with some difficult decisions that were necessary to secure regular long-term
funding to support the sustainability of CMTCA. Accreditation services were suspended in
provinces where the representative provincial association(s) or regulator was unable to
provide financial support to CMTCA. This meant that, as of the end of 2019, CMTCA was
providing accreditation services to massage therapy education programs in New Brunswick,
Ontario, and Newfoundland and Labrador.
But there is some good news. Applications for accreditation that were opened before the
suspension date have been honoured and CMTCA is pleased to still be providing
accreditation services to some education programs in non-contributing provinces. This helps
us live up to our commitment to those individual education programs that are committed to
becoming accredited with us.
The suspension of our accreditation services posed a particular challenge to programs in
British Columbia, where accreditation of massage therapy education programs is mandated.
Some BC programs were particularly affected as they had already been accredited by
CMTCA. Fortunately, discussions with the College of Massage Therapists of British Columbia
continued and were able to reach a mutually satisfactory agreement to once again provide
accreditation services in that province as of January 2020.
While the entire process was challenging, it ultimately led to regulators in four provinces
signing a multi-year funding agreement where they have committed to financially support
CMTCA for the next three years.

Photo Credit: Jelleke VanOoteg, unsplash.com
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The accreditation process by the numbers
In 2019, CMTCA received 36 new applications and conducted four site visits and six
Preliminary Accreditation reviews.
We also granted Preliminary Accreditation to five programs and accredited four programs.

Applications by province (as of December 2019)
ACCREDITATION APPLICATIONS
Province

Existing programs

New programs

TOTAL

British Columbia

5

3

8

Alberta

7

7

14

Saskatchewan

—

1

1

Ontario

33

7

40

Nova Scotia

1

—

1

Manitoba

1

—

1

New Brunswick

3

—

3

Quebec

1

—

1

51

18

69

TOTAL

Surveyors and certified advisors by province (as of December 2019)
Province

Surveyors

Certified Advisors

British Columbia

7

2

Alberta

8

3

Manitoba

1

—

Ontario

23

7

New Brunswick

1

—

Newfoundland &
Labrador

1

—

41

12

TOTAL

Inspiring excellence

Preliminary Accreditation results
Of the six Preliminary Accreditation submissions, five
were granted Preliminary Accreditation.

Accredited programs
We extend our sincere congratulations to the staff and
students of the following accredited programs on their
stellar achievement.

▪

Humber College

▪

Georgian College

▪

Canadian College of Massage and
Hydrotherapy – Toronto Campus

▪

Canadian College of Massage and
Hydrotherapy – Cambridge Campus

Photo credit: Atul Vinayak, unsplash.com
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Analysis of accreditation results
Monitoring and analyzing accreditation results helps CMTCA identify trends and issues and
look for ways to continue to improve our support to education programs.

Site visit results
As seen in Figure 1, our analysis of results from the seven site visits conducted from 2017 to
2019 shows that the percentage of criteria rated as met ranged from 81% to 99%, with an
average of 89.6%. This encouraging result highlights education programs’ strong compliance
with the standards as a whole.
Figure 1: Criteria rated as met by site visit (2017 to 2019)
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The following three criteria were most often rated as partially met for the seven site visits.

▪

Criterion 2.5: Minimum student/faculty ratios for different education settings (i.e.,
academic, simulated, clinical) are in place and adhered to, and there is a written
rationale for the ratios.

▪

Criterion 4.18: A faculty or staff member with current Standard First Aid and CPR Level
HCP certification is in the facility when students or patients/clients are present.

▪

Criterion 5.7: An ethics framework to help faculty and staff resolve ethical dilemmas is
in place and used.

Inspiring excellence

Comparison of Preliminary Accreditation and site visit results
The data in Figure 2 are drawn from four education programs that underwent Preliminary
Accreditation and subsequently had a site visit.
Figure 2: Comparison of Preliminary Accreditation and site visit results for four selected
education programs (2017 to 2019)
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Accreditation standard section
Preliminary Accreditation

Site Visit

The following observations can be made based on the findings in Figure 2:

▪

Across the seven standards, the met compliance for Preliminary Accreditation ranged
from 76% to 95%, whereas for site visits it ranged from 84% to 100%.

▪

On average, the met ratings improved from 88% for Preliminary Accreditation to
92% for site visits

▪

Standard 1, 6, and 7 showed an 8 to 12% improvement in met compliance from the
Preliminary Accreditation to the site visits. In particular, Standards 1 and 7 achieved
100% compliance during the site visits.

▪

Standards 2 and 5 showed 2 to 3% improvement in met compliance from the
Preliminary Accreditation to the site visits.

▪

Standards 3 and 4 showed a decrease of 3 and 4%. However, they both remain above
the 85% met compliance level. This slight decrease may suggest that these standards
are dependent on in-person (i.e., site visit) verification of compliance.
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Preliminary Accreditation results (2019)
Six programs underwent Preliminary Accreditation in 2019. As shown in Figure 3, 70% of
criteria were rated as met, 25% were rated as partially met, and 5% were rated as unmet.
Figure 3: Overall compliance results for Preliminary Accreditation
100%
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70%

Compliance

60%
40%
25%
20%
5%
0%

2019 Preliminary Accreditation Criteria
Compliance
1
Unmet

Partially Met

Met

Figure 4 shows another perspective on these Preliminary Accreditation data.
Standard 3: Student Support and Standard 5: Human Resources, had the highest percentage
of criteria rated as met.
Standard 1: Curriculum Content, had the lowest percentage of criteria rated as met, at 46%.

Percentage of criteria rated as MET

Figure 4: Compliance by standard section for Preliminary Accreditation
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A closer look at Standard 1 and criterion 1.1
Standard 1: Curriculum Content, and particularly criterion 1.1, are first for a reason, as they are
a crucial part of the accreditation process. Meeting the requirements of this section is critical
to accreditation success, and so we thought we’d give it some special attention.

Standard 1
Standard 1 is specifically addressed in the CMTCA decision guidelines, which lay out how an
accreditation decision is reached. As stipulated in the CMTCA decision-making framework, all
of the criteria in Standard 1 must be rated as met or partially met for an education program to
be accredited.
To achieve three- or five-year accreditation, an education program must meet all of the criteria
in Standard 1. To achieve one-year accreditation, it must meet or partially meet all of the
criteria in Standard 1. If it does not meet even one criterion in Standard 1, it will not be
accredited. This rule stands regardless of how well the program does on the rest of the criteria
in the standards.

Criterion 1.1
The practice competencies and performance indicators in the most recent version of the
Inter-Jurisdictional Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators for Massage Therapists
at Entry-to-Practice are embedded throughout the curriculum and are evident in student
learning outcomes.
Criterion 1.1 was rated as unmet for 50% of the education programs undergoing Preliminary
Accreditation in 2019.
This criterion addresses the need for the program to embed into its curriculum the practice
competencies and performance indicators in the most recent version of the Inter-Jurisdictional
Practice Competencies and Performance Indicators for Massage Therapists at Entry-to-Practice,
and ensure the PCs/PIs are evident in student learning outcomes. We provide a helpful
worksheet that allows the education program to map how it has embedded the PCs/PIs and
identify where it needs to do more work in that regard.
To determine if the education program has met criterion 1.1, CMTCA surveyors review in
great detail all evidence—electronically for Preliminary Accreditation and in person during the
site visit—to ensure the PCs/PIs are adequately embedded, taught, and assessed in a way that
ensures that students graduate ready to practice their profession in the real world. To help
education programs meet this criterion, CMTCA has developed an online presentation that
helps them showcase the quality of their program.
Achieving the requirements of criterion 1.1 is not easy, and we make sure all of our education
programs are aware of this right up front. Particularly for the first accreditation cycle, it can take
up to a year or more to put the requirements in place and gather the supporting evidence.

CMTCA Annual Report 2019

13

Financial statements
CMTCA Audited Financial Statements 2019

Photo Credit: Jeremy Thomas, unsplash.com

Inspiring excellence

Looking ahead
Now that CMTCA is in a more stable financial position, in 2020 we will be turning our attention
to developing a new strategic plan that will come into effect for 2021. We would welcome
your input—please email info@cmtca.ca to provide your comments and ideas about what we
should keep doing, stop doing, or start doing.
We will also be expanding our e-learning modules to provide more virtual support to
education programs and surveyors. And, of course, we will continue to train surveyors, grant
Preliminary Accreditation, and accredit education programs.
The CMTCA Board and staff extend our sincere thanks and appreciation to everyone who was
involved in helping us grow in 2019, and we look forward to greater success in 2020.

We’re here to help
CMTCA encourages anyone who is interested in
accreditation, quality improvement, or raising the
profile of massage therapy education and massage
therapy in general to call us at any time.
We support our education programs and surveyors
in many ways, including interpreting the standards
and helping them navigate CMCTAu and work
through technical issues. We take these roles very
seriously and they are a key part of what we do every
day.

Let’s talk quality improvement!

CMTCA Annual Report 2019
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

Independent Auditor's Report
To the Directors of Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (the "Council"), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2019, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets
and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Council as at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Council in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the ability of the Council to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Council or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Council.
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the internal
control of the Council.

1

Independent Auditor's Report (continued)
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued)
•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the ability of the Council to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Council to cease to continue as a
going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to
bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Toronto, Ontario
April 21, 2020

Chartered Professional Accountants
Licensed Public Accountants
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Statement of Financial Position
December 31

2019
$

2018
$

100,576
36,850
2,146
6,708

69,274
13,317
2,146
15,132

146,280

99,869

23,178
8,500

23,613
1,000

31,678

24,613

114,602

75,256

146,280

99,869

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
HST recoverable

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5)
Deferred revenue

NET ASSETS

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Approved on behalf of the Board:
Director
Director

Iain Robertson
Gordon Griffith
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Statement of Operations
Year ended December 31

2019
$

2018
$

339,152
83,446
21,500
24,440
-

357,544
55,066
28,000
16,784
12,352

468,538

469,746

316,250
28,857
11,813
18,306
15,961
13,600
17,555
4,633
2,217

325,250
70,171
20,726
16,480
24,174
19,677
19,350
10,435
4,619
1,584

429,192

512,466

39,346

(42,720)

2019
$

2018
$

Balance, beginning of year

75,256

117,976

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) for year

39,346

(42,720)

114,602

75,256

Revenues
Annual fees from provincial regulators and associations (note 4)
Annual fees from schools and programs
Preliminary accreditation fees
Site visit fees
Advisor training fees

Expenses
Management and administrative fees (note 5)
Surveyor training
Board and Committee meetings
Rent (note 5)
Professional fees
Office and general
Preliminary accreditation
Site visit
Insurance
Representation

Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) for year

Statement of Changes in Net Assets
Year ended December 31

Balance, end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended December 31

2019
$

2018
$

39,346

(42,720)

(23,533)
8,424
(435)
7,500

(532)
(13)
(15,132)
821
(1,407)
(7,900)

Net change in cash

31,302

(66,883)

Cash, beginning of year

69,274

136,157

100,576

69,274

Cash flows from operating activities
Excess of revenues over expenses (expenses over revenues) for
year
Change in non-cash working capital items
Increase in accounts receivable
Increase in prepaid expenses
Decrease (increase) in HST recoverable
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Decrease in HST payable
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue

Cash, end of year
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements
December 31, 2019
Nature and description of the organization
Canadian Massage Therapy Council for Accreditation (the "Council") was incorporated under the Canada
Not-for-profit Corporations Act on July 22, 2014. The Council is the professional accreditation agency of
the massage therapy profession in Canada whose purpose is to provide a mechanism for quality
assurance and continuing quality improvement of entry-level massage therapy education programs
across Canada.
The Council is a not-for-profit organization, as described in Section 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act, and
therefore is not subject to income taxes.
1.

Significant accounting policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting
standards for not-for-profit organizations and include the following significant accounting policies:
(a) Revenue recognition
Annual fees
Annual fees are recognized as revenue in the fiscal year to which they relate. The annual
year of the Council coincides with that of the fiscal year of the Council, being January 1 to
December 31. Annual fees received in advance of the fiscal year to which they relate are
recorded as deferred revenue.
Preliminary accreditation fees
Preliminary accreditation fees are recognized as revenue as significant components of the
preliminary accreditation process are completed. Preliminary accreditation fees received in
advance of significant components of the preliminary accreditation process having been
completed are recorded as deferred revenue.
Site visit fees
Site visit fees are recognized as revenue upon completion of site visit assessments. Site visit
fees received in advance of the completion of a particular site visit assessment are recorded
as deferred revenue.
Advisor training fees
Advisor training fees are recognized as revenue upon completion of advisor training
courses. Advisor training fees received in advance of the completion of courses are
recorded as deferred revenue.
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(b) Related party transactions
A party is considered related to the Council if such party or the Council has the ability to,
directly or indirectly, control or exercise significant influence over the other's financial and
operating decisions, or if the Council and such party are subject to common control or
common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other entities.
Transactions with related parties in the normal course of business are initially recorded at
their exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to by
the related parties.
(c) Financial instruments
Measurement of financial assets and liabilities
The Council initially measures its financial assets and financial liabilities, with the
exception of related party transactions, at fair value adjusted by the amount of
transaction costs directly attributable to the instrument.
The Council subsequently measures all of its financial assets and financial liabilities at
amortized cost.
Amortized cost is the amount at which a financial asset or financial liability is measured
at initial recognition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative
amortization of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, and
minus any reduction for impairment.
Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash and accounts receivable.
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include accounts payable and accrued
liabilities.
Impairment
At the end of each year, the Council assesses whether there are any indications that a
financial asset measured at amortized cost may be impaired. Objective evidence of
impairment includes observable data that comes to the attention of the Council,
including but not limited to the following events: significant financial difficulty of the
issuer; a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments; and bankruptcy or other financial reorganization proceedings.
When there is an indication of impairment, the Council determines whether a significant
adverse change has occurred during the year in the expected timing or amount of
future cash flows from the financial asset.
When the Council identifies a significant adverse change in the expected timing or
amount of future cash flows from a financial asset, it reduces the carrying amount of the
financial asset to the greater of the following:
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
1.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(c) Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment (continued)
-

the present value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the
financial asset discounted using a current market rate of interest appropriate to the
financial asset; and

-

the amount that could be realized by selling the financial asset at the statement of
financial position date.

Any impairment of the financial asset is recognized in income in the year in which the
impairment occurs.
When the extent of impairment of a previously written-down financial asset decreases
and the decrease can be related to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed to the extent of the
improvement, but not in excess of the impairment loss. The amount of the reversal is
recognized in income in the year the reversal occurs.
(d) Contributed services
The work of the Council is dependent on the voluntary service of many individuals. Since
these services are not normally purchased by the Council and because of the difficulty of
determining their fair value, contributed services are not recognized in the financial
statements.
(e) Management estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the current
year. Actual results may differ from these estimates, the impact of which would be
recognized in future years.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and in
any future years affected.
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
2.

Financial instrument risk management
The Council is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides a measure of the Council's risk exposure and concentrations.
The financial instruments of the Council and the nature of the risks to which those instruments
may be subject, are as follows:
Risks
Market risk
Financial instrument
Credit
Liquidity
Currency Interest rate Other price
Cash
Accounts receivable
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities

X
X

X
X

Credit risk
The Council is exposed to credit risk resulting from the possibility that parties may default on their
financial obligations, or if there is a concentration of transactions carried out with the same party,
or if there is a concentration of financial obligations which have similar economic characteristics
that could be similarly affected by changes in economic conditions, such that the Council could
incur a financial loss. The Council does not hold directly any collateral as security for financial
obligations of counterparties.
The maximum exposure of the Council to credit risk is as follows:

Cash
Accounts receivable

2019
$
100,576
36,850

2018
$
69,274
13,317

137,426

82,591

The Council reduces its exposure to the credit risk of cash by maintaining balances with a
Canadian financial institution.
Accounts receivable is presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts in the amount of
$6,613 (2018 - $3,955).
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Council will not be able to meet a demand for cash or fund its
obligations as they come due.
The Council's liquidity is monitored by management to ensure sufficient cash is available to meet
liabilities as they become due.
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
2.

Financial instrument risk management (continued)
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market risk is comprised of currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
The Council is not exposed to currency risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.
Other price risk
Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value of financial instruments or future cash flows
associated with the instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices (other than
those arising from currency risk or interest rate risk), whether those changes are caused by
factors specific to the individual instrument or its issuer or factors affecting all similar instruments
traded in the market.
The Council is not exposed to other price risk.
Changes in risk
There have been no significant changes in the risk profile of the financial instruments of the
Council from that of the prior year.

3.

Credit facility
The Council has available a revolving demand facility up to a maximum of $25,000. The facility
bears interest at prime rate plus 1.70% and is secured by a first priority general security
agreement.
There are no financial covenants attached to the facility.
The facility was not drawn upon as at December 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018.
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CANADIAN MASSAGE THERAPY COUNCIL FOR ACCREDITATION
Notes to Financial Statements (continued)
December 31, 2019
4.

Annual fees from provincial regulators and associations

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario ("CMTO")
Massage Therapist Association of Alberta ("MTAA")
College of Massage Therapists of New Brunswick ("CMTNB")
College of Massage Therapists of Newfoundland and Labrador
("CMTNL")

2019
$
313,764
16,280

2018
$
307,516
26,994
15,378

9,108

7,656

339,152

357,544

The ability of the Council to carry out its mandate is dependent on the financial support of
provincial regulators, in particular that of CMTO. Annual fees from CMTO account for 66% (2018
- 65%) of the total revenues of the Council.
During the year, CMTO, CMTNB and CMTNL entered into funding agreements with the Council
to provide annual fees until December 31, 2021.
The College of Massage Therapists of British Columbia entered into a funding agreement with
the Council to provide annual fees, effective January 1, 2020 to December 31, 2022.
5.

Related party transactions
During the year, the Council was charged management and administrative fees in the amount of
$316,250 (2018 - $325,250) and rent in the amount of $11,813 (2018 - $16,480) by a company
controlled by the Executive Director of the Council.
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities at December 31, 2019 is an amount of
$6,182 (2018 - $4,360) in respect of management and administrative fees.
These related party transactions were carried out in the normal course of operations.

6.

Commitment
Pursuant to a services agreement, effective July 14, 2018, the Council is committed to purchase
management and administrative services, from a company controlled by the Executive Director of
the Council, until December 31, 2021. The annual commitment under such agreement is subject
to the approval of the Board of Directors each year. The annual commitment for 2020 is
$346,250.

7.

Subsequent events
Subsequent to the year end, the global pandemic of the virus known as COVID-19 led the
Canadian Federal government, as well as provincial and local governments, to impose
measures, such as restricting foreign travel, mandating self-isolations and physical distancing
and closing non-essential businesses. Because of the high level of uncertainty related to the
outcome of this pandemic, it is difficult to estimate the financial effect on the Council. No
adjustments have been made in the financial statements as a result of these events.
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BRIEFING NOTE TO COUNCIL
Date: November 24, 2020
From: Bryn Sumpton, Manager, Research
Re:

Massage Therapy Research Fund – Administrative Update

Background:
The Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) was established in 2004 by contributions from the
Registered Massage Therapists’ Association of Ontario (RMTAO), the Registered Massage
Therapists Association of British Columbia (RMTBC), individual Massage Therapists and the
public.
CMTO has been the primary contributor to the MTRF since 2006.
The primary purpose of the MTRF is to fund high-quality and rigorous research in Massage
Therapy that is useful to both the public in making health care decisions and Massage
Therapists in the delivery of care. Its research priorities are:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Massage Therapy effectiveness, efficacy and safety;
Access to and delivery of Massage Therapy services;
Professionalization of Massage Therapy;
Massage Therapy competencies and competency assessment;
Evaluation of Massage Therapy practices; and
Special calls for specific topics, as approved by CMTO.

The Applied Research, Innovation and Entrepreneurship Services (ARIES) at Centennial College
administers the MTRF. This includes managing fund allocation, ensuring high academic quality
and adherence to ethical standards.
Twice a year, ARIES provides an update regarding activities related to the MTRF. The attached
report shares activities from March 1, 2020 through June 30, 2020.
1

Update
The two projects funded in the 2016/2017 competition have been completed, including receipt
of their final reports and financial activities. Both projects finished within budget. Their final
reports, along with other additional MTRF reports and related publications, have been shared
with the profession via TouchPoint and the MTRF webpages updated in July 2020.
Dr. Lucie Pelland’s project on cerebral palsy, the recipient of the single grant from the
2017/2018 competition, continues with the receipt of their second progress report. Due to a
delay in research activities related to COVID-19, this project requested and was granted an
extension to June 2021.
For the 2018/2019 recipients, both have provided their second report and continue to work on
data collection. Dr. Maryam Faiz is exploring the effects of massage for stroke related gut
dysbiosis in an animal model (mice). Data collection has started with addition lab work ongoing.
Dr. Trish Scribbans is continuing to recruit participants for her exploration of myofascial release
on pectoral fascia. The study has had three participants, out of thirty, at the time of their most
recent report in May.
Finally, Dr. Nathaly Gaudreault’s study on imaging of thoracolumbar fascia, funded in the
2019/2020 competition, had the start of their project suspended until October 2020 due to
COVID-19. Future reports will update this project as it becomes active again.

2
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Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF)
Submitted to:
Corinne Flitton
CMTO Registrar and CEO
College of Massage Therapists of Ontario
1867 Yonge Street, Suite
Toronto, ON M4S 1Y5

Progress Report - November 2020

November 1, 2020

Prepared by:
Pouria Tavakkoli Avval, PhD, PEng
MTRF Program Manager
WIMTACH
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941 Progress Avenue, Toronto, ON, M1G 3T8
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SECTION 1. PROJECT INFORMATION
Project Title:

Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF)

Funder:

College of Massage Therapists of Ontario (CMTO)

Start Date:

July 1, 2017

Contractual End Date:

December 31, 2021

Progress Report (period: March 1, 2020 to June 30, 2020) submitted by:
Name:

Pouria Tavakkoli Avval, PhD, on behalf of Centennial College

Organization:

WIMTACH/ARIES of Centennial College

SECTION 2. BACKGROUND
The Massage Therapy Research Fund (MTRF) was established in 2004 with the primary purpose of supporting high quality
and rigorous research in Massage Therapy in order to generate knowledge on the effectiveness and safety of Massage
Therapy, understanding of its integration within the health care system, and information on the profession’s positioning
within the healthcare system. The MTRF research priorities guiding the annual funding competition are:
▪
▪
▪
▪
▪

Massage Therapy effectiveness, efficacy, and safety
Access to and delivery of Massage Therapy services
Professionalization of Massage Therapy
Massage Therapy competencies and competency assessment
Evaluation of Massage Therapy practices

In July 2017, the MTRF program was transferred to Centennial College from University of Toronto, and since then Centennial
College administers this funding program. Also, the progress and financial reports of projects funded by MTRF are submitted
to Pouria Tavakkoli Avval to monitor the progress and expenditures of projects.
Amanda Baskwill’s projects funded by 2016/2017 MTRF competition were completed, and Centennial College has received
the final progress and financial reports of the projects. Up to the present, $24,166.00 has been released to Dr. Lucie Pelland
(Queen’s University), the grant recipient of 2017/2018 MTRF competition. And, as the result of 2018/2019 competition, so
far, $30,273.71 has been released to Dr. Maryam Faiz (University of Toronto); and, Dr. Trisha Scribbans (University of
Manitoba) has received $11,263.11. The winner of 2019/2020 competition, Nathaly Gaudreault (University of Sherbrooke)
and Nathalie J Bureau (Université de Montréal) submitted the ethics approval letter and started the project; no fund has been
released to the applicant yet.
This progress report outlines the activities completed from March 1, 2020 to June 30, 2020 (inclusive).
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SECTION 3. SUMMARY OF ACTIVITIES
3.1 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2016/2017 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Amanda Baskwill (Humber College) received MTRF fund for two projects titled “Patients’ Experiences of Ending Massage
Therapy Care” and “Flunking or Flying Colours: A Canadian MT Education Environmental Scan”.
According to the policy of MTRF, the installments of approved fund will be released to grant recipient institutes upon the
submission of satisfactory operational (progress) and financial reports.
The reports’ submission deadline and the amount of installments paid to the aforementioned projects are provided in Table
1.

APPLICANT

Table 1. Details of projects funded by 2016/2017 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE

Amanda
Baskwill
(Humber
College)

Patients’
Experiences of
Ending Massage
Therapy Care

Amanda
Baskwill
(Humber
College)

Flunking or
Flying Colours: A
Canadian MT
Education
Environmental
Scan

February 1,
2018
June 15, 2018
October 15,
2018
December 15,
2018 (final
reports)
March 1, 2018
May 15, 2018
July 15, 2018
September 15,
2018
December 10,
2018 (final
reports)

Final Reports
ReceivedProject Closed

Final Reports
ReceivedProject Closed

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

$13,209.00

$3,851.31
(Covering the
entire of project
expenditures)

$27,558.49

$20,545.84
(Covering the
entire of project
expenditures)

Amanda Baskwill’s both projects have been accomplished successfully. According to the final report of “Patients’ Experiences
of Ending Massage Therapy Care”, a descriptive phenomenology was used to describe the experience of ending care for
patients of massage therapy. Data were collected through semi-structured interviews and analyzed using Colaizzi’s methods.
Seven participants described their experience of ending massage therapy care as awkward and uncomfortable. They felt
responsible for managing potential conflict. The discomfort was so intense that participants rarely communicated to their
massage therapist. From this study, it is clear that communicating concerns during massage therapy treatment was difficult
for these participants. It was easier to leave when they felt uncomfortable, rather than exacerbate the discomfort with
confrontation. The researcher believes future research should continue to explore the phenomenon of ending care.
According to the final progress report of “Flunking or Flying Colours: A Canadian MT Education Environmental Scan”, an
approach described by Hodges et al. was used to frame this study. This approach included interviewing stakeholders regarding
the current state of MT education and analyzing their comments for common themes. Sixty-four individuals, from nine
provinces and one territory, were invited to participate. Twenty-one individuals participated. According to the study,
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participants described three challenges they faced in Massage Therapy: variation, isolation and stagnation, which they hope
would be remedied by recently implemented program accreditation.
The final progress and financial reports for both projects have been submitted to CMTO already.
3.2 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2017/2018 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Dr. Lucie Pelland from Queen's University was identified as the grant recipient of 2017/2018 MTRF funding competition for
$40,000.00. According to the 2nd progress report received, the selection and data extraction steps of the Covidence process
are being completed and drafting of the first manuscript has been started. The research team is working on including sensors
on walking devices used by participants to quantify the proportion of weight-bearing through the upper limbs. Participants
were recruited for the intervention. This was discontinued when research activities and access to private healthcare clinics
were closed due to the COVID-19 situation. A request for an extended timeline for the project was submitted for
consideration by the CMTO and the extension until June 2021 was approved.
The reports’ submission deadline and the amount of installments paid to the aforementioned project are provided in Table
2.

APPLICANT

Lucie Pelland
(Queen's
University)

Table 2. Details of projects funded by 2017/2018 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE
(Revised)
Myofascial
Massage in
Cerebral Palsy:
Objective
Measurement of
Outcomes to
Advance
Knowledge and
Practice

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

30 November
2019
30 March 2020
30 November
2020
30 June 2021

2nd Reports
Received

$40,000.00

$24,166.00

3.3 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2018/2019 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
Dr. Maryam Faiz from the University of Toronto and Dr. Trisha Scribbans from the University of Manitoba are the winners of
2018/2019 competition. Dr. Faiz’s application has requested $39,710 and Dr. Trisha Scribbans’ application has asked for
$32,093.90.
According to the 2nd report received from Dr. Faiz, the research team came to the conclusion that there is no difference
between “handled” control mice and massaged mice, they would like to analyze the effects of “touch” on the microbiome.
they propose to examine the effect of touch versus non-touch on gut dysbiosis. Due to the lack of anxiety, they did not
perform stress-anxiety experiments as outlined in Aim 2. However, the research team found that massage improves motor
performance after stroke. This is a novel finding that is clinically relevant. They hypothesize that massage could be a new type
of environmental enrichment (EE); EE causes functional recovery by triggering neuroplasticity. This would form the basis of
including massage in stroke rehabilitation modalities, currently the gold standard of care in the clinic. Therefore, the research
team propose to use any remaining resources to finish these experiments. Finally, they believe that sex is an important factor,
and would like to see if there is a differential effect of “touch” on male and female mice.
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We also received the 2nd progress and financial reports of Dr. Scribbans’ project. According to the report, by the time of
submission, three females participated in the pilot study of the proposed investigation. And, as the result of the pilot data
were based on three participants, no definitive conclusions could be drawn. However, the research team believes that once
they are appropriately powered with a larger sample size, significant differences will be observed in the outcome variables.
The reports’ submission deadline and the amount of installments paid to the aforementioned projects are provided in Table
3.

APPLICANT

Maryam Faiz
(University of
Toronto)

Trisha Scribbans
(University of
Manitoba)

Table 3. Details of projects funded by 2018/2019 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE
Manipulating
the gut
microbiota with
massage
therapy as a
treatment
strategy for
stroke
Myofascial
Release (MFR)
of the Pectoral
Fascia: Effects
on Shoulder
Posture, Upper
Limb Reaching
Strategies and
Performance

September 1,
2019
March 1, 2020
September 1,
2020

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

2nd Reports
Received

$39,710.00

$30,273.71

2nd Reports
Received

$32,093.90

$11,263.11

March 15, 2021
(final reports)
November 1,
2019
May 1, 2020
November 1,
2020
May 1, 2021
(final reports)

3.4 STATUS OF PROJECTS FUNDED BY 2019/2020 MTRF FUNDING COMPETITION
2019/2020 funding competition was opened and announced to the public in July 2019, and the submission deadline was
September 16, 2019. The Executive Committee of CMTO approved to fund the project of Nathaly Gaudreault (University of
Sherbrooke) with Nathalie J Bureau (Université de Montréal) for the amount of $23,500.00. The applicant submitted the ethic
approval letter and started the project on Oct 6th, 2020. The project start date was postponed to Oct 6th, 2020 due to COVID19 pandemic restrictions on the laboratories.
The reports’ submission deadline and the amount of installments paid to the aforementioned project are provided in Table
4.

MTRF PROGRESS REPORT – NOV 2020

5

APPLICANT

Nathaly
Gaudreault
(University of
Sherbrooke)
and
Nathalie J
Bureau
(Université de
Montréal)

Table 4. Details of projects funded by 2019/2020 MTRF competition.
PROJECT TITLE
REPORTS
REPORTS
FUNDS
SUBMISSION
RECEIVED
REQUESTED
DEADLINE
(Revised)
Ultrasound
Imaging
Measurements
of the
Thoracolumbar
Fascia Following
Massage
Therapy: A
Proof of
Concept Study

INSTALLMENTS
PAID

December 1,
2020
May 1, 2021
September 1,
2021
March 1, 2022

---

$23,500.00

---

SECTION 4. NEXT STEPS
1. MTRF Program Manager will continue monitoring the progress of the projects.
2. Grant recipients are expected to submit their progress and financial reports by the specified deadlines.
On behalf of Centennial College, we hope this progress report provides clear overview of the activities that have taken place
between March 1, 2020 to June 30, 2020 (inclusive). Any additional information that you may need or required will be
provided upon request.
Kind regards – Pouria Tavakkoli Avval
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